

Helaly, Ahmed (2011) Expression of the Caenorhabditis elegans aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligand binding domain. PhD thesis, University of Nottingham.

## Access from the University of Nottingham repository:

http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/11929/1/viva\_final.pdf

## Copyright and reuse:

The Nottingham ePrints service makes this work by researchers of the University of Nottingham available open access under the following conditions.

- Copyright and all moral rights to the version of the paper presented here belong to the individual author(s) and/or other copyright owners.
- To the extent reasonable and practicable the material made available in Nottingham ePrints has been checked for eligibility before being made available.
- Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or notfor-profit purposes without prior permission or charge provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.
- · Quotations or similar reproductions must be sufficiently acknowledged.

Please see our full end user licence at: <u>http://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/end\_user\_agreement.pdf</u>

## A note on versions:

The version presented here may differ from the published version or from the version of record. If you wish to cite this item you are advised to consult the publisher's version. Please see the repository url above for details on accessing the published version and note that access may require a subscription.

For more information, please contact <a href="mailto:eprints@nottingham.ac.uk">eprints@nottingham.ac.uk</a>

# EXPRESSION OF THE CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS ARYL HYDROCARBON RECEPTOR LIGAND BINDING DOMAIN

By

Ahmed Helaly, MBBcH, MSc

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Science



March 2011

To my Parents, Wife, Doaa, and daughters, Mariam and Razan...

## Declaration

The work presented in this thesis is my own unless otherwise stated. Information from other sources has been fully acknowledged. No part of this thesis has been previously submitted for examination leading to the award of a degree.

## Table of Contents

A	bstract			•••••	9
A	cknow	ledg	gements		11
1	Intr	odu	ction	•••••	12
	1.1	2,3	,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin and its toxic effects		12
	1.2	Ah	R identification		15
	1.3	Ah	R structural domains		17
	1.4	PAS	S domain proteins		19
	1.5	Enc	dogenous AhR agonists		23
	1.5	.1	Equilinin (3-hydroxy-1,3,5(10),6,8-estrapentaen-17-one)		24
	1.5	.2	(1'H-indole-3'-carbonyl)-thiazole-4-carboxylic acid m	ethyl o	ester
	(IT	E)	25		
	1.5	.3	Arachidonic acid metabolites		25
	1.5	.4	Heme metabolites		26
	1.5	.5	Tryptophan metabolites		26
	1.5	.6	Dietary compounds		27
	1.6	Pol	ycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)	•••••	27
	1.7	Ah	R signalling pathway		28
	1.8	Coi	mposition of AhR complex and chaperones		30
	1.9	Ahl	R and carcinogenesis		33
	1.10	E	Evolution to toxic AhR		35

1.10.1 Birds, reptiles and amphibians	
1.10.2 Fish	
1.11 Invertebrates	40
1.11.1 Drosophila melanogaster	41
1.11.2 Molluscs	42
1.12 Recombinant expression of AhR and AhR	-1 for structural studies43
1.13 Previous AhR and AhR LBD models	44
1.14 C. elegans AhR	48
1.15 Aim of the study	51
2 Materials and Methods	
2.1.1 Chemical reagents	
2.1.2 AhR agonists	
2.1.3 Antibodies	53
2.1.4 Enzymes	54
2.1.5 Kits for molecular biology	54
2.1.6 Microorganism Strains	54
2.1.7 Plasmids and Constructs	54
2.1.8 Construct design by Vector NTI Suite 7	
2.1.9 Primers	59
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 <i>E. coli</i> DNA Techniques	59
2.2.2 QIAquick Gel Extraction Micro centrifu	ige Protocol64

/	2.2.3	Preparation of electro competent cells
/	2.2.4	Electroporation of DNA into competent JM 109 cells66
-	2.2.5	Plasmid Maxiprep using QIAGEN Kit68
2.3	Pro	tein Techniques in E. coli69
/	2.3.1	SDS-PAGE Gel Electrophoresis
4	2.3.2	Protein expression in E. coli71
/	2.3.3	Protein extraction and analysis72
/	2.3.4	SYPRO Ruby dye for protein gel staining73
4	2.3.5	SDS-PAGE Gel Drying73
4	2.3.6	Protein purification by histidine-binding Nickel Column74
	2.3.7	Protein sequencing of CeAhR LBD band74
4	2.3.8	Detection of the CeAhR LBD protein amount74
4	2.3.9	Bradford assay75
	2.3.10	Dot Blot Protocol75
4	2.3.11	Western blot76
2.4	Yea	st techniques77
4	2.4.1	Sub-cloning of GST tagged CeAhR LBD into pPD30.3877
1	2.4.2	Cloning into pPICZ alpha B and pPICZ B78
	2.4.3	PCR of CeAhR LBD with new restriction digestion sites carrying
1	both Ec	or1 and Xba178
	2.4.4	Sub cloning of CeAhR LBD into pGEMT plasmid79

2.4.5 Sub cloning of CeAhR LBD from pGEMT into pPICZ alpha			
pPICZ	pPICZ B		
2.5 El	ectroporation of Pichia80		
2.5.1	Yeast Genomic DNA Extraction81		
2.5.2	Analysis of Pichia colonies by PCR83		
2.5.3	Hot Phenol Yeast total RNA Extraction83		
2.5.4	RNA Electrophoresis Gel84		
2.5.5	RNA to cDNA transcription85		
2.6 C.	elegans Techniques		
2.6.1	Sub-cloning of CeAhR LBD into pPD30.3885		
2.6.2	Maintenance of the C. elegans worms		
2.6.3	Preparation of <i>C. elegans</i> Liquid Culture		
2.6.4	Egg bleach to produce synchronized animal stages for lethality test		
	88		
2.6.5	Lethality test for AhR different agonists		
2.6.6	Making Protein Gel Samples from Worms		
2.6.7	Measuring the fluorescence of GFP-CYP fused C. elegans90		
3 Result	s92		
3.1 Ex	xpression of CeAhR LBD protein in E. coli		
3.2 Expression of CeAhR LBD soluble protein component9			
3.3 Ex	3.3 Expression of CeAhR LBD protein in Arctic Express cells at lowe		
temperature95			

	3.4	Comparison between expressed BL21(DE3) and Arctic Express				
	transf	formed cells with histidine-tagged CeAhR LBD97				
	3.5	Expression of CeAhR LBD in <i>C. elegans</i>				
	3.6	Expression of histidine tagged CeAhR LBD in transgenic C. elegans99				
	3.7	Expression of GST tagged CeAhR LBD in transgenic C. elegans101				
	3.8	Western blot of expression of CeAhR LBD103				
	3.9	Expression of CeAhR in yeast system				
	3.10	Cloning of CeAhR LBD110				
	3.11	Effects of AhR agonists on the viability of <i>C. elegans</i>				
	3.12	Induction of CYP-GFP fused transgenic C. elegans				
4	Dis	scussion				
	4.1	Solubility of the protein				
	4.2	GST and poly histidine tag fusion proteins				
	4.3	AhR Expression in Pichia pastoris				
	4.4	AhR Expression in transgenic C. elegans				
	4.5	Comparison of expression systems				
	4.6	C. elegans AhR endogenous function				
	4.7	Induction of cytochrome P450 analogues in <i>C. elegans</i> 145				
	4.8	Future work				
	4.9	Conclusion				
	Refer	ences				

#### ABSTRACT

The Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) is a ligand-activated transcription factor, which mediates the potent toxic effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) and related compounds. AhR is regulated by the ligand-binding domain (LBD) of the AhR, and so determining how the binding of ligand activates AhR is of considerable interest. However, there are no structural data on mammalian AhR LBDs, and expression of the mouse AhR LBD in *E. coli* yields insoluble protein. Expression in more complex systems, such as insect cells (*Spodoptera frugiperda*), yields soluble AhR LBD, but only ~10% of the total protein is in a ligand-binding competent form.

In order to address the structure of the AhR LBD, we have used a model system. There is good amino acid sequence similarity between human AhR and *C. elegans* AhR (CeAhR). We have investigated whether the three dimensional structure of CeAhR LBD will help in understanding this structure in mammals.

CeAhR LBD was cloned into the vector pRSET to give histidine-tagged protein. The clones were then transformed into *E. coli* BL21(DE3) or Arctic Express strains, followed by induction with IPTG. Bacteria were lysed and 100000g supernatants were prepared. Proteins were purified by Ni<sup>2+</sup> affinity chromatography.

Expression of recombinant proteins in the bacterial system revealed that the induced protein from the pRSET.CeAhR LBD construct was ~29 kDa, as predicted. Large amounts of these proteins were produced (~5-10% of total

bacterial protein) and the vast majority was insoluble. However, on preparation of a 100000g supernatant, the samples yielded small amounts of soluble CeAhR LBD fusion protein. This is in contrast to results obtained with mouse AhR LBD, which yielded no detectable protein in a 100000g supernatant. The CeAhR LBD proteins were successfully purified by affinity chromatography and were obtained in good yield from the original cytosols. However, the yield of soluble AhR fusion protein was ~100 microgrammes of protein per litre of BL21(DE3) bacterial culture. The experiment was repeated using Arctic Express bacteria, which have a constitutively expressed chaperonin, and express at 12°C. However, the yield of protein was similar, at ~100 microgrammes of protein per litre.

Thus the CeAhR LBD yields soluble protein in a bacterial expression system, but the levels of expression are too low to enable this protein to be purified for use in structural studies. Trials to express CeAhR LBD in transgenic *C. elegans* and *Pichia pastoris* yielded no soluble protein.

The research moved to look for ligands for CeAhR by using a lethality test with *C*. *elegans* in vivo studies. The results showed that TCDD and AZ1c (from AstraZeneca) affect the wild type *C. elegans*, but without killing them. Repeating this test on AhR null animals showed that the effects were abolished. Thus the CeAhR is a receptor that appears to bind TCDD and AZ1c, albeit weakly, contrary to previous reports in the literature.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr David Bell and Dr Ian Mellor, for their support, guidance and encouragement throughout this work. My special thanks go to our technician, Declan Brady, who was always available and ready to help me as much as he could. I also wish to thank all our research group members for their nice company over 3 years. I would like to thank Professor Dr David Archer and his group for kind help with Pichia work. I always found people ready to listen and give advice during the periods of stress in this project. Special thanks to Wail Al Hawarii and Fikry Abu Shofa for encouraging me. I wish to thank Richard Wall for his kind gift of dioxins and related compounds for my project. I wish not to forget Abeer, Hamad, Hao and Haemansho for their good support. I also thank Abdulla Alkholyfi, who welcomed me at the start of my PhD. It is important to thank my parents in Egypt, and my wife, Doaa, who shared the whole stress of the work with me. Finally, I would like to thank my country, Egypt, which funded my PhD research.

## **1 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin and its toxic effects

2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (Collier et al., 2008) (Figure 1) is a known toxin that induces a wide range of toxic effects including hepatic toxicity, teratogenic disorders, and reproductive and carcinogenic effects (Pocar et al., 2005; Schwarz and Appel 2005) TCDD is also responsible for neurological and immunological manifestations (Dzeletovic et al., 1997). TCDD is often referred to as simply "dioxin", although, strictly speaking dioxin is only a part of this molecule (Figure 1). It is considered one of the most toxic planar halogenated hydrocarbons, and is a waste product of industrial processing of organic compounds containing halogens. Another major source is chlorine bleaching of paper pulp. Burning wood produces TCDD and related dioxins that are stable in the ecosystem (Lohmann et al., 2006; Pandelova et al., 2009). These compounds accumulate in the food chain in the fatty compartments of fish, birds and mammals and dioxin particles can stick to the top of plants (Clarkson 1995; Pohl et al., 1995; Loonen et al., 1996; Meulenbelt and de Vries 2005; Kamphues and Schulz 2006). They are lipophilic compounds that stay in the body for many years. The half life of TCDD in humans is at least 7 years (Birnbaum 1994). There are 75 different compounds, which are considered to be polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxin family members. These compounds differ in the number and location of the chlorine atoms (Figure 1). The most dangerous structures are the tetra-chlorinated ones, because they are very difficult to metabolise, and this is why it has a very long half life in the body (Leung et al., 2006).



Figure 1. The chemical structures of *p*-dioxin, dibenzo-*p*-dioxin with the ring numbering system and TCDD.

The toxicity of TCDD became the focus of attention since the early 1970s, when 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5-T) derivatives were used as herbicides in the USA and Vietnam. During the war in Vietnam, Agent Orange, a 1:1 mixture of the n-butyl esters of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyaceticacid (2,4-D) and 2,4,5-T, was sprayed over a wide area as a chemical weapon (Kramarova et al., 1998; Schecter et al., 1998; LaKind and Filser 1999). The toxic effects were detected in pregnant mothers and the biological manifestations were confirmed in rodents. The teratogenic effect of 2,4,5-T was due to the presence of TCDD as part of the

mixture. For 40 years, research has been ongoing on dioxin and its molecular mechanisms. The toxic effects of dioxin depend on many factors, including the dose, the route, the species, and the age and sex of the animal. For example, guinea pigs are very sensitive while the hamster is relatively resistant. The half-life of dioxin in rodents is just weeks, in comparison to years in humans due to the fatty component inside the body. The toxic effects range from nausea, vomiting, headache, chloracne, psychological problems and various cancers. TCDD is a well-known non-genotoxic carcinogen (Dencker 1985; Cole et al., 2003; Abalos et al., 2010). It is also said that dioxin promotes cancer progression in humans and animals. Experimental chronic exposure to TCDD induces chronic wasting syndrome and is responsible for the atrophy of the lymphoid tissue, including the thymus. TCDD also has immunotoxic effects, as it affects the maturation of T cells, reduces cell proliferation and reduces cytokine secretions, and this is claimed to reduce the anti-tumour immunity. TCDD contamination is responsible for hepatoxicity, thyroid dysfunctions and the development of Diabetes Mellitus (Pearce and Braverman 2009; Chang et al., 2010). It affects gonadal maturation in males and induces placental dysfunction (Dencker 1985; Cole et al., 2003; Abalos et al., 2010) and miscarriage in females (Sharara et al., 1998). TCDD induces skin lesions and carcinogenic effects (Lin et al., 2003). Acute TCDD toxicity induces wasting and weight loss in experimental animals. TCDD suppressed the expression of genes that affect lipid and glucose metabolism, like *Hmgcr*, *Fasn*, Srebf1 which are involved in diabetes (Sato et al., 2008).

#### **1.2 AhR identification**

TCDD promotes its toxic effects through activation of a protein receptor known as the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Hankinson 1995; Ko *et al.*, 1996; Sato *et al.*, 2008). It has been shown that intracellular calcium control interacts with the regulation of target genes affected by AhR stimulation (Monteiro et al., 2008).

AhR is responsible for regulation of multiple genes, which leads to immunologic, hepatic and skin toxicity. It is noteworthy that transgenic mice over-expressing AhR develop spontaneous cancer (Tauchi et al., 2005). Related research showed that down-regulation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor (AhRR) was responsible for increased incidence of cancer in colon, breast, lung, stomach and cervix. AhR and AhRR work in a feedback loop to regulate each other. AhR activation stimulates the expression of AhRR, and at the same time AhRR down regulates the expression of AhR (Zudaire et al., 2008). Thus, the implication is that a decrease in AhRR leads to carcinogenesis through greater constitutive activity of AhR.

AhR may contribute to physiological functions, for example, cell proliferation, differentiation, motility and migration (Kleman et al., 1994; Seidel et al., 2000).

The creation of AhR-knockout mice enabled a focus on the role of AhR in normal growth. The results showed that AhR null mice exhibit reduced liver weight and portal fibrosis (Schmidt et al., 1996). Recent research work showed that AhR null mice express high levels of TGF-β1 and TGF-β3 factors (Transforming Growth

Factor Beta) that are expected to induce liver fibrosis and liver cell apoptosis (Chang et al., 2007). So it is proposed that AhR has triple functional activity. The first function is the adaptive metabolic response to PAH (Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons), the second effect is the toxic response to TCDD and the third is the developmental role in liver and vascular growth. The former two effects are mediated by known ligands, but the last one is not clear. In order to understand how AhR regulates liver growth and vascular development, experiments have been performed to create a hypomorphic allele of the AhR locus and dioxin was given to the growing embryo. The results showed that dioxin protected the growing mice from the liver and the vascular malformations seen in AhR hypomorphic mice. This experiment suggests that an endogenous ligand may be required for normal AhR function (Walisser et al., 2005).

Differences in the susceptibility to dioxins in the same species and even the same strain raised the question of the genetic polymorphism before the AhR was discovered. PAH induced CYP1A1 (final target of AhR stimulation) in mice liver. Crossing and back crossing of multiple inbred mice strains resulted in the identification of the AhR genetic locus that is responsible for induction of CYP1A1 before the discovery of AhR receptor protein. Adverse mutation of that locus blocks the response of CYP1A1 to PAH related compounds. A soluble cytosolic receptor model for AhR was suggested to promote aryl hydrocarbon responses. Studies discovered 2 complexes, one about 6S and the other was about 9S in the rat liver extract. They bind radioactive TCDD but no signal was detected

from the extracts taken from mutated AhR locus (DBA/N2) mice. Furthermore, these complexes are protein in nature as they were affected by proteases but not affected by DNAse or RNAse. Competitive displacement of TCDD was achieved by other CYP1A1 inducers. Neither Phenobarbital (CYP inducer) nor steroid hormones managed to displace radioactive TCDD. A new step towards identification of AhR was the discovery of 2-azido-3-iodo-7,8-dibromodibenzo-pdioxin. This is a photo activatable ligand that binds covalently with the proposed AhR on exposure to ultraviolet light. This ligand helped in discovering 2 protein masses in Hepa-1 cells of 70 kDa and 95 kDa, although the first protein was just an artefact proteolytic fragment (Beischlag et al., 2008). In 1988, Perdew and Poland successfully purified AhR partially and later on antibodies against AhR were developed (Bradfield and Poland 1988). Co immune-precipitation of AhR resulted in discovery of Hsp90 as a chaperone protein. Primers of the human AhR locus were constructed and the AhR was cloned from human genomic DNA for further extensive characterisation in the 1990s by Oliver Hankinson (Hankinson 1995). This revealed proteins in the molecular weight range from 95 to 105 kDa and containing approximately 805 amino acids.

#### 1.3 AhR structural domains

The AhR has four main structural domains (Figure 2): 1- basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) domain; 2- PAS-A domain; 3- PAS-B domain; 4- glutamine-rich domain.

Hsp90 binding domain 27 79 182- Dimerization domain 40 79 122-	274	Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor functional domains		
DNA binding domain	Ligand binding domain	Transcriptional activation binding domain		
basic helix- loop-helix PAS-A	PAS-B	Glutamine rich		

Figure 2. Diagram of the various domains of the mouse AhR adapted from (Fukunaga et al., 1995).

Studies were carried out to analyse the two PAS (PER: circadian clock protein, ARNT: aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator protein, SIM: single minded protein) domains of AhR. The PAS-A domain is involved in the interaction between AhR and other proteins. Removal of PAS A causes weak dimerisation with ARNT (Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Nuclear Translocator) and stops transcription. Removal of PAS-B produces an AhR that is capable of binding ARNT, but not activating ligands. AhR PAS B is supposed to bind ligands and chaperones, including Hsp90 (Heat Shock Protein), p23 (co-chaperone of the AhR complex) and AIP (Aryl hydrocarbon receptor Interacting Protein) (Denison et al., 2002). The pocket that acquires ligands, i.e. the Ligand Binding Domain (LBD), is included partially in the PAS B domain (Figure 2) (McIntosh et al., 2010). Therefore, in AhR the PAS B domain has wider interactions than PAS A. The bHLH is mainly related to binding DNA and Hsp90. The transactivation domain is dedicated to binding the dioxin response element (DRE), the binding site on DNA that promotes gene expression. The DRE has conservative DNA structure in various species (Sun et al., 2004).

#### **1.4 PAS domain proteins**

PAS domain proteins are a group of conservative 3-dimensional structure proteins, despite their heterogeneous primary structure. They are widespread in the animal kingdom from bacteria to humans. All these proteins contain alpha helices and beta sheets. The protein structure contains a HLH (helix-loop-helix) motif at the N terminal site followed by the PAS domain (Card et al., 2005; Pandini and Bonati 2005; Imamoto and Kataoka 2007). Experimental studies cut the HLH domain, and the PAS domain is still able to fold properly in the case of the PAS domain of PYP (photo active yellow) protein. This result is very important, as it is claimed that the AhR LBD could fold properly without expressing the full length AhR. Computer simulation studies propose that the PAS domain proteins have a common 3-dimensional structure. Furthermore, the simulations are optimistic in that they indicate that these proteins bind ligands in the same way (Chapman-Smith et al., 2004). The discovery of the crystal structure of any member of these proteins would be a major step forward, allowing us to know more about the structure of the whole group, that is to say one PAS domain protein is a good template for other members of the group. The first member of these protein domains was discovered in the Drosophila clock protein, PER (Period Protein). The second was the ARNT protein. The majority of PAS domain proteins work as environmental sensors (Figure 4), for example, PYP, FixL (The Oxygen Sensor Protein), HERG (potassium channel protein), LOV (Light Oxygen Voltage protein), ARNT and AhR (Vreede et al., 2003).



Figure 3. Diagram representing the functions of PAS domain proteins as environmental sensors (McIntosh et al., 2010). PAS domain proteins can act as light sensors like PYP, oxygen and energy sensors, voltage sensors of a potassium channel , neuronal regulators like C. elegans AhR, toxin metabolism like mammalian AhR and as part of a steroid receptor.

Currently, 34 mammalian proteins are considered to be PAS proteins. Furthermore, thousands of PAS proteins were discovered in many other species ranging from bacteria and plants to humans. The discovery of this huge number of proteins was attributed to the use of expanding data in the Genebank.

Mammalian PAS domain proteins play an important role in the hypoxia response pathway. During periods of low oxygen, the hypoxia inducing factor (HIF alpha) is released to help anaerobic respiration, angiogenesis and an increase in red blood cell production. At normal levels, oxygen helps proteolysis of the normally produced HIF. With increase in hypoxia, the degradation of HIF decreases with net result of increased PAS domain containing HIF. The protein moves to the nucleus and binds ARNT, similar to AhR, and finally stimulates DNA to produce different enzymes needed for the target function (Kamae et al., 2010; Pasanen et al., 2010; Wenger and Hoogewijs 2010).

The second important PAS domain function is the dioxin response pathway. The ligand binds to the PAS domain protein, AhR, where it translocates to the nucleus and binds to ARNT, and then the complex binds the DNA response element (see section 1.7 for more detail). It is a similar transduction pathway to that of HIF alpha.

The third function of mammalian PAS domain proteins is maintenance of the circadian rhythm of the animal. Most organisms have the ability to adapt with the diurnal changes of light and darkness. These changes are called the circadian rhythm. In humans, the sleep wake cycle is regulated by endogenous biological clocks that exist in every organ. However, the master biological clock rests on the optic chiasm as part of the supra-chiasmatic nucleus. These biological clocks control the different biological changes between day and night. For example, the diurnal changes in blood pressure, the immune function and pituitary secretion are changed according to the function of the biological clock (Qu et al., 2010). Many genes are regulated by the circadian rhythm, including the PAS domain repressor proteins. These proteins are translated and phosphorylated, then they translocate to

the nucleus and bind to ARNT. The complex interacts with the DNA response element expressing a battery of genes that promote sleep, metabolism and other physiological changes (Hennig et al., 2009; McIntosh et al., 2010).



Figure 4. Different PAS domain structural models: HIF-2 $\alpha$ , ARNT, dPER, HERG, hPASK, Phy3, NCoA, FixL and PYP. Secondary structure has been predicted by the Kabsch and Sander method. Both FixL and PYP models were created according to their X-ray structures (Pandini et al., 2007).

#### 1.5 Endogenous AhR agonists

Some researchers have hypothesised that AhR is a receptor without a specific ligand, but there are several endogenous AhR agonists including bilirubin, biliverdin, metabolites of tryptophan, indirubin, indigo and other compounds. Typically, these compounds can activate AhR, but with less potency than TCDD. The functions of these, and other endogenous AhR ligands is unclear (Petersen et al., 2006). There are two theories; the first is that AhR has a physiological ligand that, as yet, is unidentified. It is supposed that the ligand, factor or hormone modulates the physiological AhR function, especially during embryonal development. AhR mutated mice change their phenotype without any xenobiotic exposure, supporting the theory that AhR has a physiological function. The battery of genes stimulated by the AhR-ARNT complex also indicates that AhR has a physiological function. The other theory claims that AhR is an orphan receptor that has an adaptive environmental function. It is thought that AhR detoxifies endogenous products during development. AhR can bind multiple endogenous compounds with different structure. This makes understanding the mechanism of ligand receptor binding interesting. These different endogenous chemicals are claimed to be waste products that are harmful to both embryo and adults. A third theory exists that is a mix of both mentioned models suggesting that AhR has dual function; one function is xenobiotic metabolism and the other function is supporting embryonic maturation and normal physiology.

The big classes of AhR agonists include the halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons, the family of polychlorinated biphenyls and the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. On the other hand, there are various endogenous groups of chemicals, for example, indigoids, arachidonic acid metabolites and heme metabolites.

Indigoids are weak endogenous AhR ligands. Indirubin is supposed to be the most potent indigoid in binding AhR but is 100 times less potent than TCDD (Prochazkova et al., 2010). Some studies consider indigoids as AhR agonists, others consider them as partial agonists. These chemicals can be found in human urine below nanomolar level. The antagonistic effects of indigoids on transformation have been studied. In mouse hepatoma, expression of CYP1A1 is reduced in Hepa-1c1c7 cells loaded with indigoids, and indirubin in particular. The translocation of AhR into the nucleus was inhibited. On administering 10mg/kg body weight/day orally to mice for three consecutive days, the CYP1A1 expression in liver did not increase for indigoids (Nishiumi et al., 2008). Quinone reductase induction was recorded on supplementation with indirubin and indigo. These experiments concluded that indigoids are considered as antagonists of the AhR receptor, especially for low amounts in mice (Nishiumi et al., 2008).

#### 1.5.1 Equilinin (3-hydroxy-1,3,5(10),6,8-estrapentaen-17-one)

This weak endogenous ligand works as an AhR agonist. It is known to induce CYP1A1 and is considered an oestrogen derivative. It is used in hormonal replacement therapy for post-menopausal women (Bhavnani and Woolever 1981;

Orstan et al., 1986). In common with other AhR ligands, it has a planar structure that differs from other oestrogens (Jinno et al., 2006).

#### **1.5.2** (1'H-indole-3'-carbonyl)-thiazole-4-carboxylic acid methyl ester (ITE)

ITE is an AhR agonist capable of stimulating the DNA response element. Gestational exposure of ITE did not show teratogenic manifestation. Some studies claim that ITE is a physiological ligand of AhR, however, there is no evidence that ITE is present in humans. ITE is known to be a potent murine AhR agonist. Experimental studies carried out on lung fibroblasts showed that ITE induces a wide variety of genes, similar to TCDD, but without manifest cytotoxicity. The difference between TCDD and ITE is attributed to the short half life of ITE in comparison to the persistent TCDD (Henry et al., 2010).

#### **1.5.3** Arachidonic acid metabolites

Studies showed that there is a link between AhR transduction and prostaglandin synthesis. Lipoxin A<sub>4</sub>, an arachidonic acid metabolite, is suggested to selectively bind AhR. Lipoxin A<sub>4</sub> both stimulates AhR (Schaldach et al., 1999; Sanchez et al., 2010) and inhibits (SOCS)-2 (suppressor of cytokine signalling 2) transduction, which is considered an anti-inflammatory action (Machado et al., 2006). This compound is an interesting focus of research, because its structure is unique. It was found to differ widely from TCDD in chemical structure and ligand binding, in structure studies performed to measure the mRNA of CYP1A1 on adding lipoxin A<sub>4</sub> to Hepa-1 cells. The results concluded that Lipoxin A<sub>4</sub> stimulated the AhR complex and induced CYP1A1 (Schaldach et al., 1999).

#### **1.5.4** Heme metabolites

Heme metabolites are considered AhR agonists. Experimental studies on diseased rats with jaundice manifestation showed induction of CYP1A1. Heme, biliverdin and bilirubin, the most potent, are supposed to bind AhR (Sinal and Bend 1997; Phelan et al., 1998) and induce translocation to the nucleus, where the DNA response element is activated, inducing a battery of genes, including the mRNA of CYP1A1. In vitro experiments were carried out on the effect of hemin, biliverdin, and bilirubin on expression of CYP1A1 in Hepa-1c1c7 cells (Sinal and Bend 1997). A dose-response curve showed an increase in CYP1A1 induction by all three chemicals. The positive results appeared after 1 hour with biliverdin or bilirubin, however, the increase in CYP1A1 mRNA took more than 2 hours with hemin. Hepa-1c1c7 cells supplemented with these compounds induced a dose-response curve of CYP1A1-dependent 7-ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) activity with the best response generated by bilirubin (Sinal and Bend 1997).

#### **1.5.5** Tryptophan metabolites

Tryptophan metabolites can bind AhR and promote transformation of the AhR complex. Furthermore, tryptophan and its metabolites induce CYP1A1 in rat liver cells. AhR is considered part of the protective metabolising system that protects from toxic metabolites, like tryptophan, that could be produced in excess by the normal microflora or due to contamination from the external enivironment (Schrenk et al., 1999).

#### **1.5.6** Dietary compounds

Some dietary compounds can act as AhR agonists. Candidates include Indole-3carbinol derivatives and natural flavinoids. The first group of compound can be found in vegetables like broccoli, and the second, especially plant polyphenols, can be found in fruits and vegetables (de Waard et al., 2008; Nguyen and Bradfield 2008).

#### **1.6** Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)

Animal studies showed that exposure to some polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) induced breast cancer, which is partly due to stimulation of AhR-mediated transcription, thereby inducing CYP family members that oxidise PAHs into carcinogenic intermediates (Trombino et al., 2000). Adding coal tar to rabbit's ear induces pre-cancerous papillomas that transform to cancer; this was recorded in the 1930s. PAHs were the active carcinogenic substances that exist in the coal tar (Filatova et al., 1973; Bickers and Kappas 1978; Lycheva et al., 1990; Liu et al., 2009). The PAHs are metabolised by CYP1A1 into more toxic intermediates that induce DNA damage (Mahadevan et al., 2007). On the other hand, PAHs are, like TCDD, AhR agonists that transform AhR into the nucleus and stimulate the DNA response element to produce a battery of proteins and enzymes, but less potently. At the same time, PAHs induce active metabolites that induce the CYP1A family and metabolise PAHs themselves in a cycle that takes from 12-24 hours. Studies carried out on human lymphocytes showed that cells treated with PAHs in vitro

were transformed into malignant lymphoplasts (Saurabh et al., 2010). Other studies looked at the relationship between PAHs and bronchogenic carcinoma. These effects were demonstrated in cigarette smoking, which is related to cancer of the lung, larynx and oral cavity. Cigarette smoke contains hundreds of chemicals, including PAHs (Nebert et al., 1993; Nebert et al., 2000; Nebert et al., 2004). In addition, burning organic material is an important source of PAHs; yet, the major source is oil spills. Unfortunately, these compounds are lipophilic and stay in the ecosystem for a long time. PAHs are also produced during cooking; for example, vegetables cooked multiple times at high temperature develop a group of carcinogenic compounds, including PAHs (Srivastava et al., 2010; Srivastava et al., 2010).

#### **1.7** AhR signalling pathway

The AhR-receptor contains a basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) DNA binding domain (Abel and Haarmann-Stemmann 2010) and two PAS domains, which are a sequence motif related to that in the Drosophila circadian rhythm regulatory protein, *period* (Dzeletovic et al., 1997). Once TCDD combines with AhR, it undergoes conformational changes and the AhR/chaperone complex translocates to the nucleus (Figure 6). The AhR then dissociates from its chaperone proteins (Hsp90, AIP, and p23) and following the association with another protein, ARNT, it binds to DNA and induces transcription (Figure 6). ARNT also belongs to the bHLH-PAS family (Mary et al., 2005). One of the chaperone proteins is Hsp90,

which dissociates from the TCDD/AhR complex after translocation to the nucleus. Inside the nucleus, the AhR-ligand-ARNT complex binds to a specific DNA motif called the dioxin response element (DRE) (Dzeletovic et al., 1997; Stevens et al., 2009).

AhR stimulates transcription of many genes encoding different metabolising enzymes, like the cytochrome P450 family, e.g. CYP1A1, glutathione transferase, UDP-glucuronyl transferase, NADPH and quinone oxidoreductase (Tang et al., 2008).



Figure 5. Diagram of the AhR pathway following binding with ligands like dioxin (Stevens et al., 2009). DRE is Dioxin Response Element. ARA9 is another name for the chaperone AIP. Hsp90 is heat shock protein. ARNT is the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator protein.

#### **1.8** Composition of AhR complex and chaperones

Non-liganded AhR is found in the cytosol complexed with chaperone proteins including two Hsp90 molecules (a heat shock protein of 90 kDa weight), AIP (also known as ARA9 and XAP2) and p23.

Hsp90 keeps the receptor stable in the cytoplasm and prevents it from going to the nucleus. The function of p23 is not fully understood, but it is thought to support the interaction between AhR and Hsp90 (Stevens et al., 2009). AIP is supposed to help proper folding and signalling of AhR. On binding of the ligand, the AhR complex moves to enter the nucleus and Hsp90 and the other chaperones dissociate from the complex leaving ARNT to bind AhR prior to signalling (Stevens et al., 2009). Hsp90 is a tetrameric chaperone protein that maintains AhR in its proper configuration. Hsp90 is known to stabilise other receptors like the glucocorticoid receptor. Cancer cells produce Hsp90 in huge amounts to induce metastasis and thus are a target of anti-cancer research to arrest metastasis. Hsp90 is formed of 3 domains, where the N domain is the amino terminal domain, and the M domain is the middle domain that binds the AhR or other interacting protein, while the C domain is the carboxyl terminal domain that is a target for drugs or cochaperones (Dao-Phan et al., 1997; Trepel et al., 2010). On the other hand, C. elegans' Hsp90 has a different function and does not stabilise or bind AhR (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). Mammalian Hsp90 binds to AhR at two different sites, and by binding to the AhR complex it keeps its configuration in a state that is stable in the cytoplasm. Studies have been carried out to analyse the function of Hsp90 in relation to AhR. Experimental loading with geliandamycin that inhibits Hsp90 binding resulted in decreased AhR in the cytoplasm, because of the increased degradation. This experiment indicates the essential role of Hsp90 in maintaining the AhR complex in the cytoplasm (Bell and Poland 2000). Once ligand binds to AhR, it is subjected to subsequent change in topology and translocates to the nucleus where it dissociates from the binding chaperones. A process called transformation ends in the expression of a battery of genes producing different AhR effects (Kazlauskas et al., 2001; Petrulis and Perdew 2002).

A study by was carried out where a conditional mouse model was created (Nukaya et al., 2010). The AIP locus of the model mouse hepatocytes was deleted to study the mechanisms of AIP in AhR signalling. The study discovered two functions of the 330 amino acid AIP protein in AhR transduction. (i) The normal AIP induction in hepatocytes is important to keep cytosolic AhR protein in a stable state in the mammalian liver. (ii) Expression of the AIP chaperone is important for ligand receptor complex transformation, and promoting the hepatic toxicity of dioxins. The genes expressed by AhR are affected by AIP expression in heterogenous response. The genes of CYP1B1 and AhRR are AIP-dependent for dioxin-induced toxicity, while both CYP1A1 and CYP1A2 are not AIP dependent. These results indicate that the mammalian AhR-responsive elements are more than one group that would need more extensive research to understand the genes responsible for the toxic effects of dioxin on the liver (Nukaya et al., 2010). AIP has multiple

interactions, and AhR is one factor that binds AIP. On the other hand, AIP interacts with phosphodiesterase-4a5, a protein, which is essential for the function of cAMP. Deregulation of phosphodiestrerase inhibitor and down-regulation of cAMP is responsible for isolated familial pituitary adenoma, which is inherited in an autosomal dominant pattern due to germline mutation of the area encoding for AIP. The AIP protein inhibits degradation of AhR, prolonging its half life in the cytoplasm. The AhR-AIP interaction keeps the configuration of the AhR complex away from interacting with other transcription factors in the absence of the AhR ligands (Leontiou et al., 2008; Pesatori et al., 2008).

P23 is a co-chaperone protein, which is a member of the receptor complex group. It is part of the AhR chaperone complex that binds the N-terminal of Hsp90 chaperone. Before ligand binding to AhR, the complex chaperones protect the receptor from transformation. Without p23, it is thought that it is difficult for Hsp90 to dissociate from the AhR receptor before it binds ARNT. Also, the ligand affinity of AhR decreases without the help of p23. P23 has functions other than as part of the AhR receptor complex. It binds Hsp90 as a co-chaperone for steroid receptors, which is important in ligand affinity to the glucocorticoid receptor. Other functions include prevention of protein aggregation and playing a role in telomerase activity. Knock-down p23 is lethal to animals because of the defective lung function due to dysfunction of the steroid receptor that is essential for lung maturation in utero (Kazlauskas et al., 1999; Flaveny et al., 2009).

#### **1.9** AhR and carcinogenesis

AhR was discovered by Poland and his group more than 30 years ago (Poland et al., 1976). It mediates most or all effects of dioxin and related compounds (Poland et al., 1976; Brauze et al., 2006). These chemicals are considered carcinogenic, where AhR creates a model for cancer mechanisms, and has intrinsic effects on the cell cycle without binding exogenous ligands. It inhibits the cell cycle progression and induces cell cycle arrest, which contradicts its role in cancer precipitation (Gramatzki et al., 2009; Ma et al., 2009; Barhoover et al., 2010). On exposure to TCDD, a full agonist of human AhR, the ligand receptor complex transforms and translocates into the nucleus resulting in expression of a battery of genes that play a role in phase I and phase II metabolism. Many transcriptional factors are induced either directly or secondarily and these modulate the cell cycle. TCDD results in an increase in tyrosine kinase (Blankenship and Matsumura 1997; Backlund and Ingelman-Sundberg 2005) and stimulates the MAP kinase pathway. These protooncogenes are involved in human hepatoma (Yim et al., 2004; Borlak and Jenke 2008). AhR induces the c-myc gene that is related to breast cancer (Yang et al., 2005; Jensen et al., 2006). The outcome of studies was that AhR induces FOS and JUN families that are considered oncogenes, which may participate in cancer development. The constitutively active CA-AhR-transgenic in, for example, B6C3F1-mice, showed development of stomach cancer and liver tumours, despite a decrease in body weight and increased apoptosis. This model may explain how AhR induces cancer and inhibits the cell cycle at the same time (Moennikes et al.,

2004; Marlowe and Puga 2005). AhR is involved in cancer through two mechanisms depending on the class of AhR agonists. The first group is HAHs (Halogenated Aromatic Hydrocarbons), which include TCCD. These are considered non-genotoxic carcinogens, producing cancer without genotoxicity. In inducing cancer, the mechanism involves 3 stages; the first is intiation, the second is promotion, and the third is progression. AhR stimulated by TCDD helped promotion of cancer and expanded the already initiated clone to produce cancer (Ellinger-Ziegelbauer et al., 2009). On the other hand, PAHs are AhR ligands metabolised by CYP1A1 into more toxic intermediates that induce damage to the DNA, that is to say genotoxic carcinogens. In addition, this is a second mechanism to induce cancer by activation of AhR. Regarding the crosstalk between AhR and TGFB, AhR null animals showed an increase in the level of TGFB. This factor regulates development, cell migration and apoptosis (Gomez-Duran et al., 2009). In rat models, continuous ingestion of TCDD for 2 years resulted in cancer of the lung, liver, plate and nasal turbinates. It is calculated that 1 ng per kg body weight per day for 2 years is sufficient to cause risk of developing cancer (Kociba and Schwetz 1982). To explain species difference in sensitivity to cancer, the ligand binding domain polymorphism and the C terminal region of AhR are responsible for different responses to the same ligand. Induction of CYP1A1 and CYP1A2 is linked to cancer production (Qian et al., 2010). These enzymes are related to increased metabolism of oestrogens and increase free radical production, which is indeed genotoxic. These data may explain why female rats are more susceptible to hepato-carcinoma than males or humans, where CYP1A1 induction is less than in female rats (Schwarz and Appel 2005). In humans, the risk of cancer is less than rodents, but is related to lung, gastro intestinal tract cancers, soft tissue sarcoma, breast carcinoma and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (Safe 2001).

#### 1.10 Evolution of toxic AhR

PAS-domain containing proteins are found in various organisms like animals, plants, fungi, bacteria and archea (Crews 1998; Pellequer et al., 1998; Somers et al., 2000). However, AhR domains exist in metazoans, and are diverse in multiple phyla, and in different species from which extensive genetic and developmental research has been performed. AhRs are present in many animal species, which provides the potential to study AhR function and evolution in a broad scope of organisms from metazoa to humans. These AhR candidates have common structural and functional properties considering some distinct criteria. Moreover, these features are considered as an evolutionary maturation of the function of AhR from metazoa to the complex adaptive functions in higher animals or humans, and explain how these chemicals interact with their receptors mediating ligand function and inducing toxicity (Hahn 2002).

The cDNAs of AhR have been successfully cloned from the genomic DNA of many mammalian strains and extensive molecular and biochemical studies on AhR proteins have been carried out in these different species with special interest in
mouse and human AhR (Hankinson 1995; Schmidt and Bradfield 1996; Hahn 1998). In mouse strains, minor polymorphism in amino acid sequences induces major differences in receptor binding affinity and subsequent functional effects, which could explain why each species member differs in response to dioxin toxicity (Ema et al., 1994; Poland et al., 1994; Wong et al., 2001). AhRs from other mammalian species have not been as well characterised or biochemically studied, and may have similar physiological properties (Gasiewicz et al., 2008; Vuori et al., 2008). AhR cDNA sequences of the very sensitive guinea pig and the very resistant hamster have been studied (Dencker 1985; Olson 1986; Gassmann et al., 2010). However, it is difficult to understand how polymorphisms in the ligand binding domain and the C terminal can explain the observed thousand-fold difference in sensitivity to dioxin. The AhR size varies from 95 to 125 kDa in various vertebrates. Furthermore the amino acid sequence is different from one animal to another. On the other hand, the N terminus structure is more conservative. The TAD (the Trans Activation Domain) shows both inter and intra species variation that reflects variable response to dioxin toxicity. The  $LD_{50}$  of TCDD in guinea pig is  $1\mu g/kg$ , yet the LD<sub>50</sub> in hamster is 1mg/kg. The DBA2 strain of mouse is 14 times more resistant than the C57BL6 strain; this is explained by an amino acid polymorphism in the AhR ligand binding domain. In addition, Han-wistar rats are 1000 times more resistant than Long-Evans rats. This is explained by a point mutation in the TAD. The resistant hamster TAD is long with more glutamine amino acids than sensitive species. Both TADs of guinea pigs and humans look similar. The C-terminus ends of human and mouse AhR share identity of 58% in contrast to the highly conservative N-terminus (Ramadoss and Perdew 2005). Another area of research on AhR diversity is the presence of AhR polymorphisms in humans that affect the expression of CYP1A1 and contribute to the susceptibility to lung cancer. Four single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and the subsequent changes in amino acid sequence of the human AhR protein in the C-terminal TAD (exon 10) have been identified (Kawajiri et al., 1995; Watanabe et al., 2001; Harper et al., 2002; Rowlands et al., 2010). It is not clear how these polymorphisms play a role in dioxin susceptibility, CYP1A1 expression, chloracne or cancer production (Kawajiri et al., 1995; Anttila et al., 2000; Smart and Daly 2000). Yet, a study carried out on proteins translated by human AhR alleles having more than one SNP in a combination of two or three SNPs resulted in decreased induction of CYP1A1 gene transcription (Wong et al., 2001). However, the clinical application of these results is yet to be established.

Some marine species, like mouse strains, are extremely sensitive to dioxins. Their AhR binds to ligands with higher affinities than other species, and unfortunately they are exposed to a high amount of dioxins and other AhR agonists. This raises the question about the high risk of environmental toxicity of dioxins in the seas.

#### 1.10.1 Birds, reptiles and amphibians

Studies have been applied to avian AhRs, where chickens were subjected to dioxin intoxication, and extensive research undertaken and updated every day (Head and Kennedy 2010). Some birds living near water are in danger of intoxication from

environmentally-stable dioxin and its related compounds (Gilbertson et al., 1991). As mentioned previously, there is a wide range of levels of affinity to dioxins in different types of birds, indicating the importance of molecular research on AhR in these animals (Karchner et al., 2006; Pirard and De Pauw 2006; Head and Kennedy 2010). Biochemical research on chicken AhR showed that they are sensitive to dioxin toxicity due to high TCDD binding affinity (Sawyer et al., 1986; Karchner et al., 2006). Biochemical characterisation of AhR in birds is still primitive. The full length sequences of AhR are available only in 2 species, chicken and common tern (Karchner et al., 2000; Head and Kennedy 2010). Even less research data is available about AhRs in amphibians and reptiles. AhRs have been identified in newt (Marty et al., 1989) and a turtle (Hahn et al., 1994). The cDNA of AhR has been cloned from mudpuppy (Karchner et al., 2000) and a frog (Collier et al., 2008). The frog AhR still has the similar regions to fish AhR, however, it weakly binds TCDD. The sequence of frog AhR has similar domains like vertebrate AhR except the TAD. More research work is needed to characterise these proteins and perform functional and molecular studies on them (Lustig and Kirsten 1974; Jonsson et al., 2011).

#### 1.10.2 Fish

Fish have high binding affinity of TCDD to their AhRs, mediating extensive environmental toxic effects. The highest effects of dioxin on fish occur during embryonic development (Hahn et al., 1997; Abalos et al., 2010; Kawakami et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2010). This is why fishes, especially zebra fish, are considered good candidates to study dioxin effects, mechanisms and functions (Andreasen et al., 2007; Jonsson et al., 2007). On the other hand, it is demonstrated that fish are biologically different to mammals. Fish possess at least two AhR genes, expressing AhR1 and AhR2 proteins. These findings were first discovered in the estuarine killifish, *Fundulus heteroclitus* (Hahn et al., 1997; Powell et al., 2000; Patel et al., 2006), and it is now known that Zebra fish has AhR1 and AhR2 subtypes unlike a single AhR gene in mammals. AhR1 is more similar to mammalian AhR than AhR2, but both AhRs have bHLH, PAS-A and PAS-B domains (Jonsson et al., 2007).

Phylogenetic analysis (Powell and Hahn 2000; Yamauchi et al., 2005; Yasui et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2010) and gene mapping (Karchner et al., 2002; Evans et al., 2005) showed that fish AhRs are homologues of mammalian AhR. Furthermore, AhR2 seems to be the main AhR protein in fish for binding exogenous ligands (like mammalian AhRs), according to cloning and expression experiments (Karchner et al., 1999; Goldstone et al., 2009; Merson et al., 2009). In general, fish AhR1 and AhR2 have biochemical criteria that are similar to those of mammalian AhR. These molecular properties include dioxin-binding with high affinity, dimerisation with ARNT and AIP interaction with xenobiotic response elements and transcription of a battery of genes mediating the action of dioxins (Law 2001; Finn 2007; Jonsson et al., 2007). However, both transactivation domains of AhR1 and AhR2 are different in structural motifs (Tanguay et al., 2000; Necela and Pollenz 2001; Andreasen et al., 2002) suggesting that the two fish AhRs may have

different functions (Karchner et al., 1999). From the evolutionary point of view, it is supposed that complex gene functions in mammals are split in separate genes in fishes (Evans et al., 2005; Yasui et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2010). Table 1 summarizes the differences between different AhRs in various species.

Table 1. Comparison of different properties of AhRs in different species.

AhR	C. elegans	Mollusc	Arthropod	Vertebrate1	Vertebrate2	Vetrebrate AhRR
bHLH	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
PAS domain	PAS-A,B	PAS-A,B	PAS-A,B	PAS-A,B	PAS-A,B	PAS-A,B
Q rich domain	No	yes	yes	yes	No	No
Specific Binding to [H <sup>3</sup> ]TCDD	No	Nd	nd	yes	yes	nd
Binding to hsp90	yes	Nd	nd	yes	nd	No
Binding mouse ARA9	No	Nd	nd	yes	yes	nd
Dimerizes with ARNT	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Binds AhRE	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Transcriptional activity	Activator	Nd	Activator	Activator	Activator	Repressor

#### 1.11 Invertebrates

The *Caenorhabditis elegans* (nematode) genome project comparative study showed that *C. elegans* has an AhR ortholog to mammals (CeAhR). Following that, an AhR candidate was detected in the arthropod, *Drosophila melanogaster* (Duncan et al., 1998; Emmons et al., 1999). Recently, several molluscs have been found to express AhR genes (Butler et al., 2001). Invertebrate animals exhibit substantially major differences to vertebrate and mammalian AhRs in that invertebrate AhR is not known to bind dioxins (Hahn 1998). Therefore, the existence of an AhR candidate in invertebrates is a point of interest that explains the evolution of the function of AhR from one species to another.

#### 1.11.1 Drosophila melanogaster

D. melanogaster expresses AhR protein, DmAhR, which is an 884-amino acid sequence. It has, like other AhR homologs, a bHLH domain, which has similar structure to mammalian AhRs. The bHLH is a common structure identity among different types of AhRs and that in DmAhR shares a 71% structural identity with mammalian bHLH. The PAS-B domain of DmAhR shares a sequence identity of 45% with mammalian AhRs (Duncan et al., 1998). DmAhR has a Q-rich domain in its C-terminal half that corresponds to the mammalian transactivation domain, while this feature does not exist in CeAhR. DmAhR interacts with the tango protein (DmARNT) in a yeast two-hybrid assay, and the DmAhR-DmARNT complex can activate a DNA-dependent reporter gene in insect cells that does not require ligands (Emmons et al., 1999). Furthermore, DmAhR protein is not found resting in the cytoplasm, like mammalian or even C. elegans AhRs. It is assumed that DmAhR is active without ligands and spontaneously translocates to the nucleus, which may explain the existence of this originally cytoplasmic protein in the nucleus (Butler et al., 2001).

Experimental studies to characterise the function of DmAhR were carried out. A mutated AhR model was created and the animal phenotype showed transformation of the distal antenna into leg structures; the legs were lacking the distal segment, while the bristles were small in size. These structural changes were corrected by restoration of AhR function. Experimental work claimed that DmAhR controls distal-less(dll) (Duncan et al., 1998), the gene that controls flies appendage

maturation (Panganiban 2000), and *bric-a brac* (*bab*) is then regulated by the AhR; *bab* is the transcription factor that controls the maturation of appendages and ovaries. The sexually dimorphic maturation in *D. melanogaster* is indirectly regulated by AhR through the control of *bab* transcription (Kopp et al., 2000; Bunger et al., 2003). The corresponding *DLX* genes in the mammal that have similar function to dll are not known to interact with mammalian AhR. On the other hand, *DLX* genes are responsible for shaping the craniofacial structure and affect teeth maturation. These places are targets for dioxin toxicity in humans (Qiu et al., 1997; Thomas et al., 1997; Hornung et al., 1999; Kattainen et al., 2001; Bunger et al., 2003).

DmAhR and CeAhR play a role in the maturation of chemoreceptive neurons. This invertebrate role of AhR corresponds to the xenobiotic metabolic function of AhR in mammalians. This may be considered an evolutionary advance in the function of AhR from invertebrates to mammals (Duncan et al., 1998; Emmons et al., 1999).

#### 1.11.2 Molluscs

Recently, AhR corresponding genes have been discovered in molluscs; for example, the soft shell clam, *Mya arenaria* (Butler et al., 2001), the zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha* (Hahn 2002), and the blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis* (Hahn 2002). The mollusc AhR homologue contains bHLH and PAS domains like invertebrate AhRs, and is capable of binding the mammalian DNA response

element. Like CeAhR, binding studies failed to demonstrate AhR ligands (Butler et al., 2001).

#### 1.12 Recombinant expression of AhR and AhR-1 for structural studies

Human and mouse AhR has been subjected to recombinant expression. However, the outcome of expression in bacterial systems was completely insoluble AhR (Fan et al., 2009). Full length human and mouse AhR have been expressed in SF9 insect cells. The insect cell system expressed recombinant mammalian AhR in abundant amounts. The expression of AhR LBD was also successful, yet the amount of protein expressed was less than the full length. Studies carried out on rats showed that recombinant AhR could bind ligands including TCDD, however, the major obstacle facing crystallization was the fact that most of the expressed protein was insoluble (Jiang et al., 2009). Co-expression of p23 co-chaperone did not increase the production of the protein or improve its solubility. The major problem was not related to the quantity of expressed AhR protein but the expression of soluble folded mammalian AhR; most of the AhR expressed was insoluble. This makes it extremely difficult to purify enough soluble protein for crystal structure study. The 3-dimensional structure of mammalian AhR has been a major obstacle for many years (Fan et al., 2009).

#### 1.13 Previous AhR and AhR LBD models

Studies of expression of mammalian AhR resulted in non-soluble AhR. It was difficult to obtain a soluble functional AhR for crystal structure analysis, despite the many studies on different expression systems. In order to overcome this problem, computer-based models have been generated to make it possible to understand how AhR binds its ligands. The first trial started 15 years ago by creating a model of AhR utilizing the structure of TCDD as a template for AhR ligands (Waller and McKinney 1995). The weak point of that ligand-based model was because of the ability of the AhR LBD to bind a very wide range of ligands of different structure making this first computer-based model perhaps too speculative. The new theory of AhR modelling depends on the available PAS domain structures. It is known that PAS domain proteins are conservative in structure, despite the diversity of the primary protein structure. This advantage makes any success in discovering a new PAS domain protein structure a breakthrough in the computer modelling of AhR. Any addition of crystal structure will produce a more realistic model. It is thought that the template proteins with 40% similarity and similar biochemical properties have similar structure (Chang et al., 2010; Kikani et al., 2010; Kumauchi et al., 2010; Partch and Gardner 2010).



Figure 6. The modeled mouse AhR LBD based on mod\_HIF/ARNT as a template. Residues with side chains pointing outside the modelled LBD are blue in colour; residues at the boundaries of the cavity with pink side chains were subjected to mutagensis study; Ile332, is yellow. The green cavity represents the ligand binding domain. The computer-generated model based on these templates was applied using MODELLAR version 8 v1 program. The secondary structure of the AhR LBD was predicted by PSIPRED. The PROCHECK program was used to validate the model. The CASTp server was used to evaluate the AhR LBD pocket (Pandini et al., 2007).

The model shown in Figure 6 is based on template PAS domain structures of HIF alpha2, ARNT, human PAS kinase, human erg potassium channel (HERG), Drosophila clock protein PERIOD, *Adiantum capillus-veneris* chimeric phytochrome/phototropin photoreceptor, mouse receptor coactivator 1A (NCoA), *Bradyhizobium japonicum* sensor protein FixL (FixL) and the *Ectothiorhodospira* 

#### Ahmed Helaly

*halophila* photoactive yellow protein (PYP). These data were obtained from the protein data bank. (Pandini et al., 2007).



Figure 7. The computer-based mouse AhR LBD modelling performed by Bisson et al. (2009). The green area represents the beta sheets that accomodate the ligands. The ICM function was applied for homology modelling. ICM pocket finder was used to outline the AhR LBD. The modified ECRPP/3 energy function was applied to outline the side chains and the different chemical bonds (Cardozo et al., 1995; Bisson et al., 2009).

The model shown in Figure 7 was constructed based on the available HIF alpha2 PAS domain protein structure existing in the Protein Data Bank (PDB) as a template. The sequence similarity with mouse AhR LBD was about 30%.



GAMDSKTELSRHSMOMKFTYCODRITELIGYHPEELLGR~SAYEFYHALDSE

# YCAESHTRMTKTGESGMTVERLETKNNRWTWVOSNARLLEW~~KNGRPDVETVTORPETDEEGTE NMTKSHQNLCTKGQVVSGQYRMLAKHGGYVWLETQGTVIYNPRNLQPQCIMCVNYVESEIEKN

Figure 8. The AhR computer-based model created by Jolalekar et al. (2010) with alignment (below) of mouse AhR (top) and HIF alpha2 (bottom). The highted amino acids are identical between AhR and HIF alpha2. To create this model, Astrex ASP scoring function and the post docking MM-GBSA were applied.

The model shown in Figure 8 was based on HIF alpha2. TCDD and 17 other ligands were investigated by computer-based docking (MM-GBSA). This approach uses a combination of computer-based receptor and ligand templates for

the creation of an AhR LBD model. It is hoped that such models would be more compatible with the real AhR LBD (Jogalekar et al., 2010).

#### 1.14 C. elegans AhR

AhR plays a role in the development of invertebrates. Studies showed an essential function in neural development (Vuori et al., 2008). Other studies showed that *C. elegans* AhR-knockout animals have clear neuronal defects in the form of aberrant cell migration and axonal branching. These changes affect neuron differentiation, especially the touch receptor neurone, AVM (Qin and Powell-Coffman 2004).

The *C. elegans* AhR-1 (CeAhR) consists of a 602-amino acid protein that has an overall 38% amino acid identity with human AhR (HsAhR) with the best similarity over the first 395 amino acids (Figure 9) (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). It is also known to mediate DNA binding, dimerisation with ARNT, and interaction with Hsp90, but is not thought to bind to known mammalian AhR ligands (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). It is supposed to work as a transcription factor that regulates the development of the nervous system of *C. elegans*. Studies to mutate CeAhR showed that the animals were suppressed in aggregation behaviour. The function was restored when the gene function was expressed back (Qin et al., 2006). The CeAhR protein shares the structural and biochemical properties with mammalian AhR (Figure 9). CeAhR possesses a bHLH domain contained within the specific amino acid sequences that are conserved in mammalian AhR. PAS domains exist

in CeAhR, i.e. PAS-A and PAS-B domains. CeAhR could thus be considered a model for the mammalian AhR.



Figure 9. Comparison between mouse AhR as a representation of a mammalian AhR and the *C. elegans* AhR. The green box represents the AhR ligand binding domain, which shows about 46% similarity with the corresponding domain in the mouse.

Recombinant expression of CeAhR revealed that it is capable of binding ARNT (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). Interestingly, it is assumed that CeAhR can bind the DNA response element without interaction with xenobiotic ligands. However, these findings could also be seen in mammalian AhR (Dolwick et al., 1993; Jensen and Hahn 2001), fish AhR (Karchner et al., 1999) and other invertebrate AhRs (Butler et al., 2001). On the other hand, CeAhR does not bind AIP in contrast to human AhR (Bell and Poland 2000). The C-terminal half of the CeAhR works as a transcriptional activator; however, its structure is quite different from the corresponding mammalian domain, and it is thought that the PAS domain inhibits the transactivation domain in a consistent manner. Post-translational modification is required for that domain to properly function (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998).

Experimental studies carried out to evaluate the ability of CeAhR to bind ligands showed that recombinant expressed C. elegans AhR could not bind either TCDD nor  $\beta$ -naphthoflavone using ligand binding assay (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). The CeAhR-ligand interaction has been examined by multiple methods. Specific labelling of CeAhR by the photoaffinity ligand, [<sup>125</sup>I]N<sub>3</sub>Br<sub>2</sub>DD, could not be detected despite its ability to bind mammalian (Poland et al., 1986; Powell-Coffman et al., 1998) and fish AhRs (Hahn et al., 1994). Other experimental studies using the reversible radioligands  $[^{3}H]$  TCDD in velocity sedimentation have evaluated CeAhR ability to bind ligands, but the results were negative. The CeAhR is not known to bind any other mammalian AhR ligands (Butler et al., 2001). The PAS repeat of CeAhR that contains the LBD is very similar to the corresponding human AhR. Most current models of AhR used PAS templates that are less similar to AhR. The success in obtaining the crystal structure of the PAS domain of CeAhR will provide a breakthrough in obtaining a better template to generate a more realistic AhR model, which is more accurate than the published ones. Furthermore, the biochemical properties of CeAhR are closer to those of human AhR than other PAS domain proteins. CeAhR binds human ARNT, and CeAhR can activate the human xenobiotic DNA response element (Huang et al., 2004; Qin and Powell-Coffman 2004). It is logical to say that the best AhR model will be based on a CeAhR template.

#### **1.15** Aim of the study

It is important to say that TCDD toxicity is not only dependent on AhR binding, but may also be related to the ligand position within the ligand binding domain. It is thought that changes in ligand position determine whether agonist or antagonist effects are caused by a specific ligand. So 3-dimensional structure analysis will be very important in understanding the mechanism of action of the AhR receptor and its response to different ligands (Henry and Gasiewicz 2008).

It is vital to understand the binding of ligand to AhR, as it is not well understood even now (Dzeletovic et al., 1997; Vuori et al., 2008). Crystallography and structural analysis of AhR is an important step to visualise how AhR protein works. Unfortunately, trials to express mammalian AhR have failed to express AhR protein in a soluble form that is suitable for crystallography. CeAhR has structural and biochemical properties similar to mammalian AhR (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). As a result, it is considered a good model for mammalian AhR, and hopefully crystallography will be easier to achieve, allowing 3-dimensional AhR analyses. Therefore, the aim of this study is to express the LBD of CeAhR (the most important part in ligand binding) initially in bacteria or in other systems if this is unsuccessful. The next step will be to purify soluble CeAhR LBD after large scale expression. Finally, attempts will be made to crystallize the protein and submit it for X-ray diffraction studies to determine its structure.

# 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1.1 Chemical reagents

All common chemical reagents were of analytical grade and were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Germany), Melford Laboratories (UK) or Fisher Scientific (UK). Yeast extract was from Difco Laboratories (USA), Lysozymes and glycerol were obtained from Courtin & Warner (UK), buffers for DNA digestion were purchased from New England Bio labs (USA), His Binding resin was from Novagen (Germany) and PCR Master Mix and PCR Ready Mix were from GE Health Care (UK).

#### 2.1.2 AhR agonists

AstraZeneca compound **1c** (AZ1c; 3-hydroxy-2-[4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]-[1,2,3]-triazolo[1,5-a]quinolinium hydroxide; Fig. 10) was from AstraZeneca (UK). TCDD (2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin), 3MC (3-methylcholanthrene) and PCB126 (3,3`,4,4`,5-pentachlorobiphenyl) (Fig. 10) were from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories. 2-(4-amino-3-methylphenyl)benzothiazole (AMB) (Aylward et al., 2005) and  $\beta$ -naphthoflavone (Fig. 10) were from Sigma.



Figure 10. 2-D structures of the AhR ligands used in lethality tests with C. elegans.

# 2.1.3 Antibodies

Monoclonal anti His tag HRP mouse antibodies were from Sigma (Germany) and anti-GST HRP conjugate was from GE Healthcare (UK).

#### 2.1.4 Enzymes

The enzymes used in this work; zymolase, lysozymes, DNAse1, restriction digestion enzymes (BamH1, Sac1, Nhe1, Xba1, EcoR1, Pvu2, etc.), DNA Ligase, Taq polymerase and RNA reverse transcriptase were obtained from New England Biolabs (USA).

# 2.1.5 Kits for molecular biology

Miniprep kit, Maxiprep kit, Gel purification kit and DNAse kit were from Qiagen. RNA/cDNA Kit was from Stratagene.

### 2.1.6 Microorganism Strains

- *E. coli* (PL21DE3, Arctic Express, JM109, SCS111, PO4 50)
- Pichia pastoris Strain JM115 Mut+
- *C. elegans* N2
- *C. elegans* GFP 34 A9, 35 A2, 29 A2 strains
- AhR-1 null *C. elegans* (CZ 24 85)

#### 2.1.7 Plasmids and Constructs

- pRSET A containing C. elegans AhR LBD
- pPICZ B containing GST C. elegans AhR LBD
- pPICZ B containing His Tagged C. elegans AhR LBD
- pPICZ alpha B containing His Taged C. elegans AhR LBD

- pPICZ alpha B containing GST C. elegans AhR LBD
- pPD30.38 containing His Tagged C. elegans AhR LBD
- pPD30.38 containing GST Tagged C. elegans AhR LBD
- pET-41b containing C. elegans AhR LBD
- pGEMT, pGEMT easy Kits
- pPICZ B from Invitrogen
- pPICZ alpha B from Invitrogen
- pET-41b from Novagen



Figure 11. Illustration of the sub-cloning of CeAhR (AhR-1) LBD into pPD30.38 plasmid to create a construct ready for microinjection into *C. elegans* for creating His tagged AhR.



Figure 12. Illustration representing the sub-cloning strategy for creating the GST-AhR construct in pPD30.38 to be microinjected in *C. elegans*.



Figure 13. Sketch representing sub-cloning of GST tag into pPD30.38. The figure explains how GST was lifted from pET-41b by both XbaI and SacI restriction digestion enzymes to be inserted into pPD30.38 creating a control construct.



Figure 14. Illustration showing the multiple cloning of CeAhR (AhR-1) LBD with EcoR1 and Xba1 sites in pPICZ B and pPICZ alpha B.



Figure 15. Sub-cloning of AhR-GST. AhR was lifted from pET-41b plasmid to be cloned into both pPICZB and pPICZ alpha B.

# 2.1.8 Construct design by Vector NTI Suite 7

The DNA constructs were designed by the Vector NTI 7 program for expression of

CeAhR LBD protein in the Pichia pastoris expression system.

### 2.1.9 Primers

#### Table 2. Primers used in this study.

1 - Forward (385)	TGC CAA CAT CCT GCG GA
primer for pPD30.38	
2 - Reverse (385)	ATA ACA AAA ATA GCG GGT GGG AG
primer for pPD30.38	
3 - Forward AhR PCR	GA ATT CAC ATG GGA TTT TTG AGA ATT GAC ATG CGC
4 - Reverse AhR PCR	TCT AGA AA TAA TGG AAG TGC AGC TGT TGA TTG GAG
5 - AOX1 forward	GAC TGG TTC CAA TTG ACA AGC
6 - AOX1 reverse	GCA AAT GGC ATT CTG ACA TCC
7 - AhR cDNA forward	CAT GGA TTA CCA TCA TCG TA
8 - AhR cDNA reverse	TGG TAG ATC AGT TTC ATC AA

# 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 E. coli DNA Techniques

#### 2.2.1.1 Preparation of Agar plates with Ampicillin

LB agar (tryptone 10g, NaCl 10g, yeast extract 5g, agar 12g) was added to one litre distilled water (D.W.) and was autoclaved for 20 minutes. The agar was melted in the microwave (15 minutes, 50% power), and then left in a 60°C water bath for 20 minutes. At the same time, ampicillin was put in the same water bath making the temperature of both the agar and the antibiotic the same. After 20

minutes, the ampicillin was added to the agar liquid to a concentration of between 50 to  $100 \mu g/ml$ .

#### 2.2.1.2 Preparation of chemically competent cells

A fresh plate was streaked to purity with *E. coli* (cell type: JM109) then a single colony was picked up and grown in 5 ml LB broth (10g tryptone, 10g NaCl, 5g yeast extract in 1L distilled water) containing no antibiotic. The cells were left to grow overnight in the incubator at  $37^{\circ}$ C, with shaking at 220 rpm on the orbital shaker. The following day, the 5 ml culture was added to larger volumes of LB broth, according to the stock needed. An example was adding 5 ml of the cells grown overnight to new fresh 50 ml LB broth that was left in the incubator at  $37^{\circ}$ C with shaking at a rate of 220 rpm for 3 hours. The OD was measured at 600 nm and the optimum result was 0.6. The cultures were centrifuged at 4000×g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the pellet re-suspended and washed in smaller volumes of ice-cold sterile CaCl<sub>2</sub>; the final volume was a 2 ml suspension. 10% glycerol was added and the volume was divided into sub-aliquots of 200 µl bacteria and kept at -80°C for transformation.

# **2.2.1.3 Transformation of** *E. coli* with PrsetA plasmid containing CeAhR LBD 1µl of CeAhR LBD DNA dissolved in water was added to the thawed, chemically-

competent cell aliquot, which was about 200 µl of suspended cells. The DNA was

mixed with the cells and kept on ice for 2 minutes. The following step was to heat shock the mixture at 42°C for 90 seconds, the samples were then transferred to a hot water bath at 42°C then rapidly returned to ice for another 2 minutes. This rapid change in temperature is intended to allow the DNA to pass through the cell membrane of the CaCl<sub>2</sub>-treated cells. 1 ml of SOC media (20g peptone, 5g yeast extract, 2ml 5M NaCl, 2.5 ml 1M KCl, 10ml 1M MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 ml 1M MgSO<sub>4</sub> and 20ml 1M glucose in 1L distilled water) was rapidly added to the cells and the whole mixture incubated at 37°C for about 45 minutes. 200 µl of cells were plated on an agar plate containing ampicillin, and then incubated overnight at 37°C to allow the bacterial colonies to grow.

#### 2.2.1.4 Qiagen miniprep of the plasmid DNA

DNA was re-purified from the colonies plated in the previous step to make sure that CeAhR LBD-containing plasmid has been successfully transformed into *E. coli*. In order to extract the plasmid DNA a Qiagen Miniprep Kit was employed. The experiment followed the kit manual; first, one colony was picked up and inoculated into 5 ml ampicillin-containing (100  $\mu$ g/ml) LB broth. It was left overnight in the incubator at 37°C with shaking at 240 rpm. The next step was transferring the culture to Eppendorf tubes, and centrifuging at maximum speed (20,000×g) at room temperature for 10 minutes. The pellet was then suspended in 250  $\mu$ l of P1 buffer and mixed well, then 250  $\mu$ l P2 buffer was added, and gently mixed by inversion of the tube 4-6 times. 350  $\mu$ l N3 buffer was then added and the mixture centrifuged at maximum speed  $(20,000\times g)$  for one minute. The supernatant was taken and pipetted into the QIAprep spin column. This column was centrifuged again at maximum speed  $(20,000\times g)$ . The column was then washed by adding 750 µl Buffer PE to the column and centrifuging at maximum speed  $(20,000\times g)$  for one minute. After that, the column was removed and put in a new Eppendorf tube where 50 µl of elution buffer was added and left for 1 minute, then centrifuged at maximum speed  $(20,000\times g)$  for 1 minute to get a final volume of 50 µl containing the desired DNA.

#### 2.2.1.5 Restriction digestion

The pRSET plasmid DNA was digested by BamH1 restriction digestion enzyme. This enzyme works at 100% activity in Buffer 4. The volume of the reaction was 20  $\mu$ l of the cocktail including 10% enzyme by volume. 4  $\mu$ l of DNA was added to the reaction and the mixture volume completed with buffer, BSA 100 mg/ml and water. The reaction was incubated at 37°C in a water bath for one hour.

#### 2.2.1.6 DNA Gel Electrophoresis

50 ml of 1% agarose was prepared by adding 0.5 mg agarose powder to 50 ml TAE buffer (40mM tris acetate, 1 mM EDTA); then the mixture was heated in the microwave oven at 50% power for 1-5 minutes. The solution was checked and found to be clear. The following step was to transfer the solution to a 60°C water bath, then load it onto the gel cassette with suitable combs, and leaving it at room

temperature for 20 minutes until the gel settled. The digested DNA was loaded to the gel with a suitable DNA Marker (1kb plus). The next step was to load the DNA to the combs and run electrophoresis at 80 volts for 45 minutes, with the negative electrode near the comb (DNA) site.

## 2.2.1.7 pRSET Plasmid amplification

200 µl of chemically-competent *E. coli* cells (JM109) were prepared and transformed with 1µl pure Prset Plasmid containing the CeAhR LBD. The cells were incubated on ampicillin-containing agar plates at 37°C for 24 hours. The following day, one or more colonies were picked up and grown in LB broth containing 50 to 100 µg/ml ampicillin for another day, where the culture was incubated at 37°C with shaking at 220 rpm overnight. The growing cells were mini-prepped according to the Qiagen Kit protocol. The presense of the CeAhR LBD fragment was confirmed by digestion and electrophoresis. The amount of DNA was estimated by the Nano Drop 1000 Spectrophotometer (V 37). At 260 nm wavelength each 50 µg/ml DNA gives 1 absorbance unit. From this, linear comparison with the sample absorbance reflects the amount of DNA in the sample.

#### 2.2.1.8 Ethanol precipitation of DNA

For each volume of DNA, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> volume of 7.5 M ammonium acetate was added, then double the resultant volume of 100% ethanol was added and the mixture frozen at

-20 °C for at least 1 hour. The sample was thawed then centrifuged at the maximum speed (20,000×g) for 30 minutes. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet washed with 70% ethanol for one minute, then the sample was centrifuged again for another minute. The remaining fluid was removed keeping the pellet at the bottom of the tube. The pellet was left to dry for 5 minutes and then ultra pure water was added to dissolve the DNA to the appropriate volume of about  $10\mu$ L.

## 2.2.1.9 DNA ligation reaction setup

The ligation reaction is an overnight reaction, and is set up using the following:

- 1 µl of 10x ligation buffer from pGEMT kit
- 1µl of DNA ligase from pGEMT kit
- 8 µl of vector/insert mixture.

The ratio between the insert and vector should be at least 3:1. Different ratios were made empirically for best results.

#### 2.2.2 QIAquick Gel Extraction Micro centrifuge Protocol

All experimental work was done at room temperature. 4 times volume of 100% ethanol was added to Buffer PE and the bottle marked accordingly for further use, and a 50°C water bath made ready. The centrifuge was ready at (18,000×g). The protocol to extract the DNA continued by weighing the gel fragments inside the Eppendorf tube, and adding 3 times the volume of Buffer QG Each 100 mg weight was considered a 100µl volume. The tube containing the gel and Buffer QG was

incubated for 10 minutes in a 50°C water bath. The next step was making sure that the gel had dissolved and that the mixture colour was yellow. Then an equal volume of isopropanol was added to the mixture. The mixture was transferred to the QIAquik spin column in the 2 ml collection tube provided. The sample was centrifuged for 1 minute and the flow-through discarded, then the column was returned to the collection tube, as the DNA was supposed to stick to the column. The maximum volume of the column is 800  $\mu$ l; so if the sample volume was more than that, then centrifugation was repeated more than once. 0.75 ml of Buffer PE was added as a washing step, and the sample was centrifuged for 1 minute and the flow-through discarded. The column was returned to the collecting tube again. The DNA was left in Buffer PE for 2-3 minutes before centrifugation for the ligation reaction process. After that, the column was transferred carrying the washed DNA to a new clean 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube. 50 µl of Buffer EB (10mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.5) or water was added as an elution step to the centre of the column for 1 minute then the sample was spun for another minute. The purified DNA was measured by the Nano drop machine or subjected to gel electrophoresis for further evaluation. The purified DNA was mixed with 5 times DNA loading dye and added to agarose gel and run for 45 minutes to check for the existence of the purified DNA.

#### 2.2.3 Preparation of electro competent cells

A single colony of *E. coli* (JM109) was picked up from fresh plate, and grown overnight in 5 ml LB broth. The following day, the growing bacteria were diluted

in 50 ml LB and incubated at 37°C with vigorous shaking at about 220 rpm for two hours. The OD, which is supposed to be 0.6 at 600 nm wavelength, was checked and if it was higher it was essential to dilute the sample and incubate it with shaking again until the optimum OD was obtained. It is known that the doubling time for *E. Coli* is 20 minutes.

Following that, the cells were spun in the centrifuge, and re-suspended in the same volume of autoclaved ultra purified water at 4°C. The cells were kept in ice for 10 minutes and spun again before washing with water. Washing was repeated 5 times in the same manner. In the final wash, the volume of water was reduced to 3 times the volume of the pellet that was estimated roughly with naked eye. Fresh electro competent cells could be used for transformation, or 10% glycerol added, and the cells frozen in aliquots for later transformations.

#### 2.2.4 Electroporation of DNA into competent JM 109 cells

The electroporator was set up for *E. coli* using an applied voltage of 1.8 kV. 40  $\mu$ l of cells were loaded into 1cm<sup>3</sup> volume cuvettes and voltage applied to the DNA until a ring was heard. The time constant was measured by the machine and this should be at least 4 seconds; for clean competent cells, the time constant should be around 5 seconds. As the DNA solution contains salts from buffers that reduce the time constant, it was best to dilute 1  $\mu$ l of the DNA into 10  $\mu$ l ultra pure water and another 1  $\mu$ l of the diluted DNA was taken and mixed with cells in ice-cold cuvettes, before applying voltage to them. Immediately after applying the electric

current, the cells were rescued with 800 µl SOC medium. The cells were incubated in a 37°C water bath for 45 minutes. The next step was to plate the cells on ampicillin agar plates and spread them; each plate carrying 200 µl cells. They were left to dry and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C then checked for growing colonies the next day. The colonies were picked up, grown overnight and mini-prepped as in section 2.2.1.4. The extracted DNA was doubled digested with suitable restriction digestion enzymes to check if the insert was integrated in the new plasmid or not. There were multiple controls that were set up to detect transformation success. First, the electroporated cells without DNA represented the negative control. An ampicillin resistant plasmid with known concentration was subjected to voltage as transformation efficiency control. Transformation efficiency was calculated by counting how many colonies appeared per transformation of 1µg DNA. The electroporation efficiency was supposed to be  $1 \times 10^8$  per 1 µg DNA transformed. For example, in transforming 1 picogram of known ampicillin resistant plasmid DNA, it would be expected to find 100 colonies in the plate the following day. This was a positive control that evaluates the success of transformation of DNA inside healthy competent cells. To evaluate the success of the ligation reaction, there were other controls. First, re-ligated, single one end digested CeAhR DNA vector could be transformed to evaluate the efficacy of the ligase enzyme and health of the cloned DNA ends. The double digested vector could be treated by ligase enzyme and transformed as a background control. On the other hand, an agarose gel was run to see the band of re-ligated DNA, of the size equal to both vector and insert, to make sure that the DNA had been successfully cloned into the selected vector.

#### 2.2.5 Plasmid Maxiprep using QIAGEN Kit

A single colony was picked up and grown in 5 ml LB broth with suitable antibiotic as a selection method for the target plasmid. The sample was incubated at 37°C overnight with vigorous shaking (240 rpm). The 5 ml culture was diluted in another 500 ml LB containing the selective antibiotic for another night. The sample was centrifuged at 6000×g for 15 minutes at 4°C on a JA-10 Beckman rotor. The pellet was re-suspended in 10 ml Buffer P1. The cells were completely re-suspended without remaining debris either by vortex or pipetting up and down. Another 10 ml of Buffer P2 was added and mixed well with cells by inverting the collecting tube or flask 4-6 times; the sample was then left at room temperature for 5 minutes. 10 ml of Buffer P3 was added and gently but rapidly mixed by inverting 4-6 times; this time, the sample was incubated in ice for 20 minutes. The mixture was then centrifuged at the maximum speed  $(20,000 \times g)$  for 30 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant containing the target DNA was separated, and centrifuged again at the same speed for another 15 minutes. Then, the supernatant containing the plasmid DNA was taken off. The gravity column was prepared, and 10 ml Buffer QBT added. The supernatant was filtered through the column by gravity. The column was then washed with buffer QC. The column was loaded twice with 30 ml buffer to wash the entire DNA. The plasmid DNA was eluted by adding 15 ml of Buffer QF. The DNA was precipitated by adding 0.7 volumes of isopropanol and mixing gently at room temperature. Following that, the DNA was spun rapidly at 15,000×g for 15 minutes at 4°C, and the supernatant carefully removed. The pellet was washed with 70% ethanol at room temperature, and the sample spun at 15,000×g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was discarded keeping the pellet at the bottom of the tube. The final step was to leave the DNA pellet to dry for 5 minutes, and then it was dissolved in water or suitable buffer (e.g. 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8). The DNA was analysed using agarose gel electrophoresis.

# 2.3 Protein Techniques in E. coli

# 2.3.1 SDS-PAGE Gel Electrophoresis

100 ml acrylamide gel mix was made up as follows:

Chemical	Running Gel	Stacking Gel
Acrylamide (33%)	% of gel x 3.33 ml	1.3 ml
1.5 Tris-HCl pH 8.8	25 ml	-
0.5 Tris-HCl pH 6.8	-	2.5 ml
10% SDS	1 ml	0.1 ml
10% ammonium persulphate (fresh)	0.5 ml	0.05 ml
TEMED	0.05 ml	0.01 ml
D.W.	to 100 ml	to 100 ml

#### Table 3

#### (TEMED is NNN'N'-tetramethylethylenediamine)

The solutions were filtered and stored at 4°C in the fridge. Fresh 10% ammonium persulphate was added to the remaining solution combination just prior to use. Generally, for each gel, 5 ml running gel and 2 ml stacking gel were needed.

To prepare the gels, clean glass plates with a spacer in between were prepared so as to assemble the gel in the created space. The glass plates should be clean, dry and sealed, so as to retain the gel material in the space between the two plates of each cassette. 100  $\mu$ l of 0.1 % SDS was poured rapidly to cover the surface of the running gel. Following that, the gel was left to set for 20 minutes at room temperature. After that, the gel was confirmed for polymerisation, and the overlying SDS solution removed. 2ml of stacking gel was prepared by adding 50  $\mu$ l 10% ammonium per sulphate which was then loaded onto the gel cassette. The stacking gel was supposed to reach near the top of the smaller glass plate. Rapidly, the comb was added to the space between the two glass plates and allowed to set.

#### **2.3.1.1 Electrophoresis**

The BIO-RAD container was assembled with either one or two gel cassettes, and immersed in 1x running buffer (composed of 28.8g glycine, 6.04g Tris base, 2g SDS, 1.8 litre dd water). The inner tank should be covered with buffer to the top of the small plate. The combs were removed before sample loading. The protein samples were loaded with 1x or 5x protein loading dye then heated in a 95°C water bath for at least 5 minutes to denature the protein bands. The gel was run for

75 minutes at 100 volts. The following step was to stain the gel with Coomassie or SYPRO Ruby stains. In some experiments, the gels were used for western blotting.

#### 2.3.2 Protein expression in E. coli

Chemically competent transformed PL21DE3 and Arctic Express cells were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours on ampicillin-loaded plates as a method to select E. coli colonies that contain Prset Plasmid carrying the gene of interest. The colonies of interest were picked up and left to grow in LB broth loaded with 50 µg/l ampicillin. The samples were incubated overnight at 37°C with strong shaking at 220 per rpm. The following day, the growing bacteria were diluted by 10 to 100 times in LB broth containing ampicillin, and left in the incubator with vigorous shaking for 2 hours. The subsequent step was to measure the OD of the growing bacteria containing the plasmid of expression at 600 nm wavelength; the optimum reading was 0.6. Control bacteria having the anti sense Prset plasmid were grown in the same way, and at the same time. After preparation, induction of the cells was started. 1mM IPTG (isopropyl-β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside) was loaded to the growing cells, with non-IPTG loaded cells as a control. The volume of the induced samples was expected to be 50 ml or more. If PL21DE3 cells were used, the induction time would be 3 hours in the incubator with vigorous shaking at 37°C or 30°C in different experiments in 2 different shakers. On the other hand, Arctic Express cells were induced overnight at 12°C with vigorous shaking.
#### 2.3.3 Protein extraction and analysis

The samples and controls were removed from the incubators at the correct time, 3 hours for PL21DE3 bacteria and 12 hours for Arctic Express Cells and the samples spun at 20,000×g for 10 minutes; the supernatant was discarded. The cells were resuspended in a smaller volume of Tris-NaCl Buffer (50mM Tris, 150mM sodium chloride). Generally, each 10 ml culture was re-suspended in 3 ml of buffer. However, if the amount of expressed protein is low, the sample could be resuspended in a smaller volume of buffer. Then, 1mg/ml lysozyme was added to the buffered cells to lyse the cell wall. The mixture was incubated at 27°C for 30 minutes. The next step was to sonicate the samples to break the cells down. Large volume samples were sonicated for 5 minutes at 60% power for 50% of the time (the sonicator has a timer that produces the ultra sonic wave per time). The samples should be kept in ice as overheating would coagulate the targeted protein. To differentiate the soluble from non-soluble protein fraction, centrifugation at 20,000×g for 30 minutes was applied, and the supernatant kept separate, while the pellet protein was kept as a control. To analyze the samples, 5x SDS protein loading dye was added to 20 µl of the prepared protein either soluble or pellet. The samples were heated at more than 95°C for 5 minutes, then loaded onto acrylamide gel. Electrophoresis was run for 75 minutes at 100 volts with a suitable protein marker. The gel was stained with Coomassie stain for 45 minutes (0.25 g Coomassie R-250 mixed with 90% volume of methanol:water (1:1 v/v) and 10% glacial acetic acid, allowed to mix for one hour and filtered through Whatman 3MM paper), and destained later after 45 minutes with destaining solution (30% methanol and 10% glacial acetic acid in distilled water). Usually the gel was destained multiple times every 20 minutes until the bands became clear. The gel was transferred to the gel dryer where it was dried for 1.5 hours.

#### 2.3.4 SYPRO Ruby dye for protein gel staining

SYPRO Ruby is a very sensitive stain that is supposed to detect as little as 1 ng protein bands separated by electrophoresis. It was used as an alternative to Coomassie to detect small quantities of protein. Once electrophoresis was finished, the gel was immersed in 50 ml of SYPRO Ruby stain (the stain should kept away from light in a clean box covered with aluminium foil). The gel was kept in stain for at least 3 hours or overnight. In the following step, the gel was de-stained with solution containing 10% methanol and 7% glacial acetic acid for one hour. The gel was placed into the gel doc machine for direct transilluminating and photographing using the Versa Doc Imaging System Model 1000 from BIO-RAD.

#### 2.3.5 SDS-PAGE Gel Drying

The gel taken from the BIO-RAD cassette after electrophoresis was covered by SARAN film and placed over wet Whatman 3MM paper. The gel was placed in a Model 583 Gel Dryer. The gel was put under vacuum at a temperature of 80°C for 1.5 hours.

#### 2.3.6 Protein purification by histidine-binding Nickel Column

A 20 ml syringe was loaded with 10 ml His-binding resin from Novagen. 30 ml D.W. was used to wash ethanol from the resin. 50 ml 1x charge buffer (50 mM NiSO<sub>4</sub>) was loaded to charge the resin. D.W. was used to wash out excess NiSO<sub>4</sub>. 30 ml 1x binding buffer (20mM sodium phosphate buffer, 500mM NaCl, 5mM imidazole) was loaded. The protein sample was loaded at a slow rate (0.25 ml/min). After that, 50 ml of 1x binding buffer (20mM sodium phosphate buffer, sodium phosphate buffer, 500mM NaCl, 30 ml 1x washing buffer (20mM sodium phosphate buffer, 500mM NaCl, 30 ml 1x washing buffer (20mM sodium phosphate buffer, 500mM NaCl, 30 ml 1x washing buffer (20mM sodium phosphate buffer, 500mM NaCl, 30mM imidazole) was added to get rid of weakly attached protein. Finally, the protein was eluted by 30 ml 1x eluting buffer (20mM sodium phosphate buffer, 500mM NaCl, 500mM imidazole).

#### 2.3.7 Protein sequencing of CeAhR LBD band

The expected soluble CeAhR LBD band was cut from the gel and put in an Eppendorf tube and sent for sequencing. The acetic acid percentage in the Coomassie stain and destain should not exceed 4%. The de-staining time should not be more than 45 minutes.

#### 2.3.8 Detection of the CeAhR LBD protein amount

The soluble AhR protein was run on a gel against serial bovine serum albumin (BSA) dilutions. The amount of CeAhR LBD protein was determined by comparison of the thickness of the target band in relation to gradient BSA bands.

Calculations were performed to obtain the CeAhR LBD protein production per litre culture.

#### 2.3.9 Bradford assay

This is a colorimetric method to quantify total protein samples. 5X Bradford dye was formed by dissolving 100 mg Serva blue-G250 in 50 ml 95% ethanol and 100 ml 85% phosphoric acid. De ionized water was added to make the volume of the solution to 1 litre. Serial dilutions of BSA from 0 to 100  $\mu$ g/ml were freshly prepared from stock solution. To prepare 1X Bradford dye, the 5X dye was diluted in distilled water and filtered through Whatman filter paper. 1 ml fresh dye was added to each of the serial BSA protein concentrations in 20 $\mu$ l volume. Then the sample was vortexed and left for less than 5 minutes at room temperature creating a spectro-photometric standard curve. The sample absorbance was measured at 595 nm. The unknown samples were compared to the standard curve to calculate the concentration of the target samples.

#### **2.3.10 Dot Blot Protocol**

This is an antigen-antibody technique to detect proteins. It works on the same principles as Western blotting but without electrophoresis. The protein was identified in situ as a circular spot. The Dot Blot could be used in a semiquantitative way to evaluate the amount of expressed protein. To perform a Dot Blot, a small strip (1x4 cm) of nitrocellulose membrane was cut. A grid (5mm) was marked out with a pencil, where blotting was applied. 2  $\mu$ l of the protein sample was dropped in the centre of the grid. The membrane was left to dry for 5 minutes. Then, the membrane was blocked for non-specific binding sites by 5% BSA in TBS then incubated with anti His tag (0.5  $\mu$ g/ml) or anti GST HRP conjugate (0.5  $\mu$ g/ml) for 45 minutes. The following step was to wash the membrane with TBS-T (Tween TBS) 5 times for 5 minutes each time. Finally, the membrane was incubated with ECL reagent (the kit containing the chemiluminescent substance transformed into a light and heat producing product) for 1 minute in the gel doc machine, and the florescence of the protein was detected by the gel doc camera.

#### 2.3.11 Western blot

The protein sample was run by SDS-PAGE gel as mentioned before. Following that, the protein was transferred or blotted to the nitro cellulose membrane. The nitro cellulose membrane was placed on top of the gel then this was sandwiched between 2 pieces of 3MM Whatman paper. The layers were kept as follows: 1- the black edge of the cassette down. 2- One layer of 3MM Whatman paper. 3- The gel. 4- The nitrocellulose membrane. 5- One layer of 3MM Whatman paper. 6- The edge of the cassette. The cassette was put under gentle pressure to remove the air bubbles. This sandwich could be set up under water to remove any air bubbles. The cassette was placed into a Bio Rad tank that was filled with 1X transfer buffer (36g tris, 150g glycine , 4g SDS in 1L distilled water) . The electric current was applied for 1 hour at 90 volts.

After finishing the blotting, the nitrocellulose membrane was moved to a container and blocked with 5% BSA-TBS blocking solution overnight. The following day, the nitrocellulose membrane was incubated with either anti- His HRP tag or anti-GST HRP for 45 minutes with a dilution of 1:10,000 in 5% TBS-T as was done in dot blotting. Then, the nitrocellulose was washed with TBS-T for 5 minutes 5 times. The following step was adding ECL to the nitro cellulose membrane in the gel doc machine. Finally, the machine was closed to detect the fluorescence reflecting the bands of the target protein.

#### 2.4 Yeast techniques

#### 2.4.1 Sub-cloning of GST tagged CeAhR LBD into pPD30.38

The GST CeAhR LBD was lifted from PET41b by double digestion with both Xba1 and Sac1. The CeAhR LBD was inserted into the pPD30.38 vector that was double digested by Nhe1 and Sac1. In order to prevent methylation of DNA that interferes with restriction digestion by Xba1, the plasmid of interest was transformed in SCS E. coli 110. Then the samples were mini-prepped. The DNA was purified and cut with Sac1 and Xba1. The sub-cloning was performed by lifting the CeAhR LBD DNA fragment from the PET41b vector and inserting it into pPD30.38i. The GST CeAhR LBD is 1529bp; 480 amino acids and the expected protein size is about 54 kDa. The expected expressed His tagged CeAhR LBD lifted from Prset is supposed to be 29 kDa, and about 600 bp. The sub-cloned constructs were sequenced using both 385 primers (Table 2).

#### 2.4.2 Cloning into pPICZ alpha B and pPICZ B

GST CeAhR LBD was lifted from PET41b and sub-cloned into both pPICZ B and pPICZ alpha B in a similar way as that sub-cloned in pPD30.38, except that GST CeAhR LBD in PET41b was double digested with Ecor1 and Xba1 and sub-cloned into both pPICZ alpha B and pPICZ B after double digesting the vectors with the same restriction digestion enzymes.

# 2.4.3 PCR of CeAhR LBD with new restriction digestion sites carrying both Ecor1 and Xba1.

PCR primers 3 and 4 (Table 2) were used to clone CeAhR LBD from the pRSET Plasmid to be sub-cloned into the PGEMT vector.

The PCR reaction mixture consisted of:

- 1- 30 µl PCR master mix.
- 2- 1ul each of primers (3, 4)
- 3- 1 µl DNA (pRSET/CeAhR LBD) at different dilutions

The setup for the PCR program was:

- 1- 94°C for 30 seconds
- 2- Annealing temperature: 60°C for 20 seconds
- 3- Extension temperature: 72°C for 1 minute.
- 4- Melting temperature: 94°C for 15 seconds.

#### 2.4.4 Sub cloning of CeAhR LBD into pGEMT plasmid

The CeAhR LBD ligation reaction was setup in pGEMT vector. The reaction was formed of 10 µl volume, which contained 1µl ligase, 2µl insert, 2 µl vector and 5µl 2x Buffer. As before, various insert:vector ratios were used. The ligated DNA samples were then transformed into JM109 cells by electroporation. Different controls were set up according to the Promega manual. The reaction was also performed with just cells as a negative control, as well as a transformation efficiency control, a background control and a new positive control represented by the control insert, i.e. blue/white colony selection. The white colonies were supposed to have the ligation constructs. The blue white selection depends on the basis that non construct containing colonies are able to metabolize the substrate on the plate giving the blue colour, however, successfully cloned bacteria contain plasmids that are interrupted by the constructs and therefore not able to metabolize the substrate to produce colour giving white colonies. The ligation reaction was deemed to be successful if the white colonies represented more than 60% of all colonies. As such 6 white colonies were picked up and mini-prepped to detect the CeAhR LBD insert.

# 2.4.5 Sub cloning of CeAhR LBD from pGEMT into pPICZ alpha B and pPICZ B

The CeAhR LBD PCR product, which has both EcoR1 and Xba1 sites, was cloned in PGEMT. Then, the CeAhR LBD pGEMT construct was double digested

with both EcoR1 and Xba1. The AhR was re-sub-cloned in both pPICZ alpha B and pPICZ B using the same method of cloning using electroporation. The suspected transformed colonies were mini-prepped and double digested again with EcoR1 and Xba1 again to detect CeAhR LBD inserts. So, after multiple subcloning CeAhR LBD and GST CeAhR LBD were sub-cloned into both pPICZ B and pPICZ alpha B. In order to check the integrity of the 4 prepared constructs they were sequenced using AOX1 forward primer.

#### 2.5 Electroporation of Pichia

Electroporation is a very good method for isolating multi-copy clones. The first step was growing 5 ml *Pichia pastoris* GS 115 in a 50 ml conical falcon tube at 28 to 30°C. The following day, this culture was added to 500 ml YPD media (10g yeast extract, 20g peptone and 20g dextrose dissolved in 1 L distilled water and autoclaved for 20 minutes) in a 2 litre flask, and incubated overnight until the OD at 600 nm was up to 2. The cells were spun at 1500×g at 4°C for 5 minutes then resuspended in 0.5 litre ice-cold water. The samples were spun again in the same way, and again re-suspended in 0.25 litre ice-cold water. The samples were cold 1M sorbitol. The samples were spun again for the last time, and re-suspended in 1.5 ml ice-cold 1M sorbitol. The subjected to electroporation on the same day, as freezing cannot keep the cells competent.

80  $\mu$ l of the cells were prepared using the above method, and incubated with the ethanol-precipitated linearised target DNA (pPICZ alpha B, pPICZ B carrying CeAhR LBD). The DNA was linearised by digestion with Sac1 restriction digestion enzyme. The mixture was kept in a cuvette in ice for 5 minutes. The Pichia was pulsed at a voltage of 2 kV. The cells were immediately rescued with 1ml ice-cold 1M sorbitol, and transferred to a sterile 15 ml tube. The tube was incubated at 30°C in the incubator without shaking. The next step was plating each 100  $\mu$ l of cells on individual YPDS Agar plates (10g yeast extract, 182.2g sorbitol, 20g peptone and 20g agar in 0.9 L D.W; 100 ml of filter sterilized 20% Dextrose was added to complete the total volume to 1 L) loaded with 100  $\mu$ g/ml Zeoicin after cooling the fluid to 60°C. The plates were left in the incubator for 2-4 days waiting for the colonies to reform.

## 2.5.1 Yeast Genomic DNA Extraction

A yeast colony was picked and grown as a 1.5 ml liquid culture overnight at  $30^{\circ}$ C in YPD media (10g yeast extract, 20g peptone and 20g dextrose dissolved in 1L D.W. and autoclaved). The following day, the cells were spun at 20,000×g for 5 minutes, and then 200 µl lysis Buffer (2 ml Triton X -100, 5ml 20% SDS, 2 ml 5M NaCl, 2 ml 1M tris-HCl pH 8, and 2ml of 0.5M EDTA made up to 100ml with distilled water) was added. The tube was dropped in liquid nitrogen for 2 minutes, then transferred into a 95°C water bath for 1 minute. This step was repeated and the sample vortexed for 30 seconds. Then 200 µl chloroform was added and the

sample was vortexed for 2 minutes. The sample was centrifuged at 20,000×g at room temperature for 3 minutes. The upper aqueous phase was transferred to an Eppendorf tube carrying 400  $\mu$ l ice-cold 100% ethanol. The sample was mixed by inversion, incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes, then centrifuged at room temperature for 5 minutes at 20,000×g and the supernatant removed with a pipette. The pellet was washed out with 0.5 ml 70% ethanol. The sample was centrifuged again, and the supernatant was removed. The pellet was air dried for 5 minutes, resuspended in 10  $\mu$ l water and the concentration determined (Figure 16).



Figure 16. Spectrophotometric curve of DNA (genomic DNA extracted from *Pichia pastoris*) using the Nano Drop machine. The figure shows a graph of the absorbance of DNA sample against wavelength. The software converts the absorbance into DNA concentration  $(ng/\mu l)$ . The calculation is based on the equation that 50 ng double stranded DNA gives 1 absorbance unit at 260 nm. The volume of DNA sample is  $1\mu L$ .

#### 2.5.2 Analysis of Pichia colonies by PCR

To set up the PCR reaction, Pichia genomic DNA was extracted and used as a template for the PCR reaction.

The PCR reaction was set up, with the following required:

- 1- PCR simple Master Mix, 27 µl.
- 2- AOX1 forward primer (10pmol/µl)
- 3- AOX1 reverse primer (10 pmol/ $\mu$ l)

Both primers were mixed and 1µl of the mixture used in each reaction

4- Extracted Pichia genomic DNA, 1 µl containing 0.5 to 1 µg DNA.

The mixture was placed in the PCR machine and the program was set up as follows:

- 1- Incubation at 94°C for 2 minutes
- 2- Denaturation at 94°C for 1 minute
- 3- Annealing at 54°C for 1 minute
- 4- Extension at 72°C for 1 minute
- 5- Final extension at 72°C for 7 minutes.

# 2.5.3 Hot Phenol Yeast total RNA Extraction

This method could be used to extract RNA from 10 ml yeast culture. The cells were collected and centrifuged, and the pellet snap-frozen and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C. This method is expected to yield up to 500 µg RNA. The pellet was then collected and re-suspended in 400 µl AE Buffer (50 mM sodium acetate and 10mM EDTA),

then 40 µl 10% SDS was added and the mixture vortexed for 20 seconds. 500 µl phenol was added and the mixture vortexed again for 20 seconds. The mixture was then taken and put in a water bath at 65°C for 4 minutes, after which it was dropped in liquid nitrogen for less than a minute to form crystals. The mixture was thawed then vortexed and the samples were refrozen in liquid nitrogen. The sample was thawed and spun at  $4^{\circ}$ C for 10 minutes at 20,000×g. The aqueous component was transferred to a fresh tube. An equal volume of phenol was added and the mixture vortexed for 20 seconds and spun at 4°C at the maximum speed  $(20,000 \times g)$  for 10 minutes. The aqueous component, whose volume was about 400  $\mu$ l, was transferred to another fresh tube. 0.1× volume of sodium acetate pH 5 and  $2.5 \times$  volume of 100% ethanol were added. The mixture was incubated at -20°C for at least one hour, or even better overnight. Following incubation, the sample was spun at the maximum speed  $(20,000 \times g)$  for 20 minutes and the pellet was washed with 0.5 ml 70% ethanol that was prepared by adding DEPC water to 100% ethanol. The following step was re-suspending the pellet in 200 µl DEPC water and then the RNA concentration was measured on the Nano drop machine and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C.

# 2.5.4 RNA Electrophoresis Gel

1% agarose was prepared as mentioned before in section 2.2.1.5. After melting the gel, 1ml 1% SDS was added to the solution, which was poured in the cassette. The RNA was loaded with 10X RNA loading dye. The samples were run by

electrophoresis for one hour at 70 volts. A DNA ladder was run beside the sample, but in consideration that RNA is single stranded and DNA is double the size of RNA.

#### 2.5.5 RNA to cDNA reverse transcription

This RNA to cDNA kit contains all Buffers and materials required for reverse transcription of total RNA into single stranded DNA in a 20 µl volume reaction. To achieve success in this experiment, the RNA was cleaned and freed from RNase activity. 10 µl 2X RT Buffer were added to 1µl 20X RT Enzyme Mix and made up to 20 µl by adding RNase free water. The sample was mixed well and put in a suitable PCR tube. The tube should not contain any air bubbles, and if so, the sample spun down to remove these air bubbles. The thermal cycler program was set for 3 steps. The first step was 37°C for 60 minutes, the next step was 85°C for 5 minutes and finally the sample was kept at 4°C until it was collected.

## 2.6 C. elegans Techniques

#### 2.6.1 Sub-cloning of CeAhR LBD into pPD30.38

The first step was double digesting pPD30.38 with SaC1 and Nhe1 restriction enzymes. The success of double digestion was confirmed by running an agarose gel with uncut pPD30.38 as a control, and the single digested pPD30.38 as the other control. At the same time, the CeAhR LBD was lifted from the pRSETb plasmid by double digestion with Xba1 and Sac1 enzymes, and the fragment inserted in the cut pPD30.38. The insert to vector ratio should be at least 3:1 for a successful ligation reaction. DNA gel electrophoresis of the CeAhR LBD insert and flanked pPD30.38 vector was run at 80 volts for 45 minutes with a suitable DNA ladder (1 Kb +). It was better to post-stain the gel with ethidium bromide keeping the background of the gel clear. The following step involved visualising the DNA bands in the dark reader, where the CeAhR LBD band was cut with a clean razor, and at the same time the flanked pPD30.38 was also cut, and both gel fragments put in clean Eppendorf tubes.

#### 2.6.2 Maintenance of the C. elegans worms

*C. elegans* were maintained on lawns of OP50 *E. coli* growing on NGM agar plates. The bacteria (200  $\mu$ l volume) were plated on the NGM agar poured in petri dishes (9 cm) and left in the incubator at 37°C for 24 to 48 hours. Once the *C. elegans* had multiplied and exhausted the bacterial food supply it was necessary to passage them to a new plate. They were transferred from the old plate by "chunking" whereby a piece of agar carrying at least 5 animals was cut out and transferred to the new plate. The cutting of the agar was performed with a sterile scalpel. To make the scalpel sterile, it was heat flamed with alcohol. To prepare NGM plates, 3g NaCl, 17g agar, and 2.5g peptone were added to 800 ml D.W. and autoclaved for 25 minutes. The NGM agar was left in a 60°C water bath. 300  $\mu$ l of each of 1M CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 1M MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 25 ml K phosphate buffer (250 ml 1M KH<sub>2</sub>PPO<sub>4</sub>/200 ml 1M K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>) and 5 g Cholesterol were added to NGM agar

solution in the water bath. The agar complex was poured into 9 cm plates and left to set.

# 2.6.3 Preparation of C. elegans Liquid Culture

On day one, OP50 Bacteria were grown overnight in 1 litre LB broth. 5 ml of already grown bacteria were inoculated into the entire 1 litre of LB. On the following day, the growing bacteria were centrifuged at 2000×g for 20 minutes. At the same time, 1 litre of S media was prepared by adding 2 ml Cholesterol (5g/ml), 2 ml of potassium citrate buffer (20g citric acid monohydrate, 293.5g Tripotassium citrate, and D.W. up to 1L.), 300 µl 1M CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 300 µl 1M MgSO<sub>4</sub> and 0.5 ml trace elements (1.86g disodium EDTA, 0.69g FeSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.2g MnCL<sub>2</sub>.2.4 H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.29g ZnSO<sub>4</sub>.7 H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.025g CuSO<sub>4</sub>.5 H<sub>2</sub>O and H<sub>2</sub>O to 1L.) to 1 litre S-Basal (5.84g NaCl, 43.4ml 1M KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 6.6ml 1M K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, to 1 litre with water and autoclaved). The bacterial pellet was added to about 500 ml S-Media and the OD measured at 600 nm taken. The OD should be 1.7 giving indication that the bacterial food is enough for the liquid culture to grow the animals for up to 6 days. Finally, an NGM plate carrying C. elegans worms growing for 2-4 days to give a large number (thousands) that is expected to grow to millions in the liquid culture was washed with S-Basal, added to the flask containing the Smedium/OP50 mixture and incubated at 20°C with shaking at 200 rpm. The flask was left in that environment for 3-6 days.

#### 2.6.4 Egg bleach to produce synchronized animal stages for lethality test

The worms, grown from the liquid culture, were left to settle in the bottom of a 500 ml bottle, and left for 1 hour in ice. Once the worms collected in the bottom of the bottle, the excess medium was removed carefully from the worm surface. The worms were collected in a 50 ml falcon tube. The same volume of bleach as the volume of the worms was added and continuously mixed for 4 minutes. The sample was centrifuged in a horizontal centrifuge at 500×g for one minute. The eggs and debris were collected in the bottom of the tube. Rapidly and carefully, the extra fluid was removed by a syringe and replaced by S-basal and the sample mixed and re-centrifuged. This was considered one wash. The wash was repeated 4-5 times to remove the remnants of the bleach that could kill the eggs. After the final wash, the sample was mixed in 5 ml of S-Basal and the sample was separated into a 6 well plate, and left overnight so that the eggs hatch into larvae. The animals were spread on new NGM plates and incubated in a 15°C incubator for 3 days before use in the lethality test.

#### 2.6.5 Lethality test for AhR different agonists

The NGM plates carrying uniform L4 N2 *C. elegans* were washed with S-Basal and the animals collected in a 20 ml flask. The supernatant was taken off leaving the worms in a volume of 5 ml at most. OP50 bacteria were collected and spun down, and then re-suspended with S-Basal at OD of 0.7 at 600 nm wavelength. The following was added to each well of a 6 well plate: 900 µl S-Basal, 50 worms,

1μl test compound dissolved in DMSO (Table 5) and 100 μl bacteria. Six different chemicals were examined by lethality tests (see Table 5).

Table 4. The chemical concentrations used in the lethality tests. The chemicals were dissolved in DMSO and 1µl of the solution was taken and diluted in 1ml volume of fluid containing the animals.

Compound	Stock in DMSO	Range used in dose- response experiment
TCDD	1 mM	1nM - 1 μM
AZ1c	1 μM	1 pM - 1 nM
PCB 126	10 mM	10 nM - 10 μM
ЗМС	20 mM	20 nM - 20 µM
2-(4-amino-3-methylphenyl) benzothiazole	100 μΜ	100 pM - 100 nM
β-naphthoflavone	300 mM	300 nM - 300 µM

The samples were mixed and the 6 well plate covered by paraffin film and put in a humid box that was closed. Finally, the box was moved to a  $15^{\circ}$ C incubator for 3 days. The animals were checked every day for 3 days, and after this, the lethality of target toxins was evaluated. The maximum final concentration was diluted 10 fold for 3 times to create a dose response curve. For example, TCDD concentrations used in the lethality test were 1µM, 0.1 µM, 0.01µM and 0.001µM.

## 2.6.6 Making Protein Gel Samples from Worms

Up to five 9cm plates of worms were grown for 6 days. This was expected to give  $\sim 200 \ \mu$ l of packed worms after the washes. The worms were washed off the plates by adding 1ml S- Basal medium on the plate, swirling gently, and the liquid

sucked off with a Pasteur pipette. The worms were spun by centrifugation to pellet the worms, and the supernatant was discarded. The worms were washed once with S-Basal, spun down and the supernatant discarded. The worms were transferred into a small amount of S-Basal in an Eppendorf tube, and centrifuged for a short period at 3,000 rpm, and as much liquid as possible removed. At that point, the worms were frozen at -80°C. Then 1 ml gel sample buffer (50mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 2% SDS, 10% glycerol, 1% beta-mercaptoethanol, 12.5mM EDTA and 0.02% bromophenol blue) was added and boiled in the tube (a screw cap Eppendorf was used) for 5 minutes, then the tube was centrifuged for 10 min to pellet the debris and the supernatant transferred to a new tube. Boiling was expected to break the body wall of the adults; sonication for 20 seconds was applied using a Branson sonifier with a probe sonicator having a microtip. The machine was set up at the microtip limit, on a 2 second 50% cycle. Once sonication was achieved correctly, no frothing was detected. By examination of the tube under the dissecting microscope, almost no worms or debris were visible. The tube was centrifuged for 10 min to pellet the debris and the supernatant transferred to a 1 ml screw cap tube. The samples were run by SDS PAGE gel and stained with Coomassie stain.

## 2.6.7 Measuring the fluorescence of GFP-CYP fused C. elegans

The transgenic C. *elegans* containing GFP-CYP fused enzymes were tested with TCDD, AZ1c, 3MC, PCB 126 and 2-(4-amino-3-methylphenyl) benzothiazole to detect induction of CYP35A2, CYP29A2 or CYP34A9 enzymes that are

conjugated with GFP protein. These CYP enzymes are known to be induced by the xenobiotic response in *C. elegans* (Menzel et al., 2001). The samples were loaded onto a plate reader and a WALLAC 1420 VICTOR<sup>2</sup> was used to measure the amount of the fluorescence in each sample or control. The cocktail samples of animals with added toxins were collected after 3 days of lethality testing.  $300\mu$ l is the maximum capacity of the each well of a 96 well dark reader plate. The animals were collected from the bottom of the well of the six well plate as used in lethality tests. The samples were transferred to the dark plate with the negative control samples. The plate was placed in the dark reader and the software would read the fluorescence emitted from each plate 4 times. The samples were compared to the controls and the Data were collected in an excel spreadsheet.

# **3 RESULTS**

#### 3.1 Expression of CeAhR LBD protein in E. coli

The CeAhR LBD has been successfully cloned by Dr David Bell in Prset plasmid with BamHI sites. The first approach was to try and express this DNA in *E coli*. Successful expression would yield CeAhR LBD protein of about 29 kDa with a poly histidine tag that would help purification later on.

Experiments to express His-tagged CeAhR LBD protein in *E. coli* BL21(DE3) cells were performed. BL21(DE3) cells were transformed with pRSET plasmid containing His-tagged CeAhR LBD, and with an identical plasmid containing CeAhR LBD in the anti-sense orientiation as a negative control. The cells were induced by IPTG and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C in the shaker and total protein samples isolated. The SDS-PAGE results (Figure 1) showed that cells transformed with both sense and anti-sense express similar protein bands, except for thick protein bands in the sense samples of about 29 kDa. This band corresponds to the expected size (CeAhR LBD) is 200 amino acids which is 29 kDa, of the predicted protein for the His-tagged CeAhR LBD.



Figure 17. SDS-PAGE gel of total bacterial extracts. BL21(DE3) bacteria were transformed with pRSET plasmid containing the AhR LBD in anti-sense (A) or sense (S) orientation. Cells were induced for three hours with IPTG at 37°C, and total protein isolated. The samples consist of 10 µl of PL21(DE3) cells transformed with anti-sense histidine-tagged CeAhR LBD (A) or sense histidine-tagged CeAhR LBD (S1,2). Each 10 µl sample was mixed 1 in 10 with load buffer prior to heating and running in each lane respectively. L is the ladder that consists of 5µl of suitable protein marker.

#### 3.2 Expression of CeAhR LBD soluble protein component

After successful expression of CeAhR LBD in *E. coli*, experiments were carried out to determine if it is possible to obtain CeAhR LBD protein in a soluble form. Induction of CeAhR LBD by transforming BL21(DE3) was performed as described before. First, sonication of the protein samples was carried out, then centrifugation at 20,000xg, after which the supernatant was analysed. Both pelleted and soluble samples were loaded on an SDS-PAGE gel. Figure 18 shows thick protein bands at about 29 kDa in the pellet samples (P1&2) and faint similar bands in the soluble samples (S1-4) showing that most of the expressed protein is insoluble.



Figure 18. Solubility of AhR LBD in bacterial extracts; BL21(DE3) were transformed with pRSET plasmid containing sense CeAhR LBD, then induced with IPTG at 25°C or 30°C for 3 hours. Bacteria were lysed and the samples centrifuged at 20,000xg for ten minutes. The supernatant comprised soluble protein samples induced at 25°C (S1,3) or induced at 30°C (S2,4). The pelleted fractions (P1,2) were the non-soluble proteins induced at 25°C or 30°C for 30°C respectively. Each 10 µl sample was mixed 1 in 10 with load buffer prior to heating and run in each lane as indicated. L is the ladder that consists of 5µl of suitable protein marker. SDS-PAGE was performed as described in the Materials and Methods.

Figure 18 shows that most of the expressed protein was insoluble. The soluble fraction was little. Lowering the temperature of expression produced more soluble protein as in sample S3. The soluble protein was separated from the pellet by ultra

filteration. Given that the 29kDa band in the soluble fraction was relatively faint, it was essential to confirm the identity of this protein. Its identity was confirmed by tryptic digest and sequencing of the protein band in the soluble sense lane. The results of this study showed that there is structural identity with CeAhR LBD in the sequence of 12 peptides, thereby proving that CeAhR LBD is present in the soluble fraction (Table 5).

Table 5. The amino acid sequence of the CeAhR LBD and highlighted in red (below) are 12 peptides sequenced from the protein bands following their tryptic digestion. Each peptide is identical to a portion of the CeAhR LBD.



# 3.3 Expression of CeAhR LBD protein in Arctic Express cells at lower temperature

Arctic Express cells enable induction of target proteins at the lower temperature of 12°C, and additionally over-express a chaperone system; it was decided to determine whether these factors would enhance the expression of soluble CeAhR LBD. Arctic express cells were transformed and induced by IPTG using the same procedure as described before for BL21(DE3) cells. Figure 19 shows a thick band

at 29 kDa as the only difference between sense and anti-sense samples, demonstrating successful CeAhR LBD induction. The antisense band was found to be an endogenous protein of the same size as CeAhR LBD. Protein sequencing confirmed the presence of both CeAhR LBD and the endogenous protein. The protein bands can be seen in Figure 19.



Figure 19. SDS-PAGE gel for Arctic Express cells transformed with sense (S1-3) or antisense (A1-3) His-tagged CeAhR LBD and induced by IPTG at 12°C. Each 10 ml sample was mixed 1 in 10 with load buffer prior to sampling in each lane respectively. L is the ladder consisting of 1 in 6 protein marker. SDS-PAGE was performed as described in the Materials and Methods.

# 3.4 Comparison between expressed BL21(DE3) and Arctic Express transformed cells with histidine-tagged CeAhR LBD

Experiments were performed to compare and measure the amount of soluble 29kDa expressed protein after purification on a nickel column. The soluble components expressed by the cells, either BL21(DE3) or Arctic Express, were centrifuged at 250,000xg for thirty minutes to ensure that the samples contain soluble protein. Next, the soluble samples were purified by affinity chromatography on a nickel column. The eluted and wash samples of both BL21(DE3) and Arctic Express cells were compared to various amounts of BSA  $(1, 2, 4, 5 \text{ and } 10 \mu g)$ . The results revealed that both cells expressed less than  $1\mu g$ of soluble CeAhR LBD protein in wash samples (Figure 20). Furthermore, the Arctic Express results (W1, W2) were better than those of BL21(DE3) cells (W). It was possible to calculate the amount of soluble protein from a known volume of culture. W1 and W2 are 2% of the soluble CeAhR LBD from 450 ml of bacterial culture; thus estimating a yield of ~0.1 mg per litre of culture. Therefore, the amount of CeAhR LBD is approximately 1 mg per 10 litres of culture, which is inadequate for crystallization experiments.



Figure 20. SDS-PAGE gel of affinity-purified samples. CeAhR LBD was induced in BL21(DE3) (W) or Arctic Express (W1, W2) cells and the soluble fraction isolated by sequential centrifugation at 2000xg for 10 minutes and 250,000xg for 30 minutes. Samples were then purified on a nickel affinity column and eluted samples are shown. 1, 2, 4, 5 and 10 are BSA samples of 1, 2, 4, 5 and 10 µg. L is ladder consisting of 3 µg of 1 in 6 protein marker. Each sample was loaded with 1 mg protein loading dye before sampling in each lane. SDS-PAGE was performed as described in the Materials and Methods.

# 3.5 Expression of CeAhR LBD in C. elegans

The expression of CeAhR LBD in bacteria was successful but most of the expressed protein was insoluble and unsuitable for crystal structure work. We need a large volume (20 litres) of culture to purify just 1 mg of soluble protein. The next step was to try and express CeAhR LBD in higher eukaryotic system. The *C. elegans* itself was chosen to express its own protein hoping that it has all the chaperones needed to fold CeAhR LBD.

Three constructs were prepared for expression of CeAhR LBD in C. elegans, namely pPD30.38 CeAhR LBD His tag, pPD30.38 CeAhR LBD GST and pPD30.38 GST (negative control). Microinjection of these constructs was performed by Declan Brady. The constructs were injected with M cherry as a fluorescent marker indicating successful microinjection and creation of transgenic animals. Good expression of the control GST pPD30.38 was obtained; however, the expression of both CeAhR LBD constructs was negative with good expression of the control M Cherry. The protein production was checked by western blot, but no protein band of appropriate size was found, indicating failure of the expression system. The transgenic animals' genomic DNA was extracted, and the existence of the constructs confirmed. The transgenic CeAhR LBD carrying animals were lysed and the genomic DNA was extracted. Suitable primers (primers 385 forward and reverse) were used to amplify the CeAhR LBD from the genomic DNA extracted from the transgenic C. elegans. The amplified DNA was run on 1% agarose gel and both His and GST tagged CeAhR LBD were confirmed before starting protein expression to avoid false negative results.

#### **3.6** Expression of histidine tagged CeAhR LBD in transgenic *C. elegans*

After successful cloning of CeAhR LBD in transgenic *C. elegans*, experiments were performed to determine if it was possible to obtain CeAhR LBD protein, especially in soluble form. The protein samples were sonicated and centrifuged at 500xg. Samples were loaded on an SDS-PAGE gel. The results showed no

significant CeAhR LBD band at the expected 29 kDa, suggesting no or weak expression (Figure 21).



Figure 21. Commassie-stained protein gel of CeAhR LBD protein extracted from transgenic *C. elegans*. The animals were microinjected with His-tagged CeAhR LBD (left lane) or with M cherry (middle lane labelled "cherry"). M is protein marker.

The samples showed expressed proteins from both M cherry and CeAhR LBD microinjected animals. There were no expression bands different from the control for CeAhR LBD samples. These results indicated weak or no expression of CeAhR LBD in transgenic animals. The expression of M cherry was fine. To compare both samples to each other, the M cherry band does not exsist in the CeAhR LBD sample and the CeAhR LBD band does not appear in the M cherry sample. By estimating the expected bands from the size marker, it could be possible to confirm the expression of the M cherry but there was no evidence for His-tagged CeAhR LBD. Co microinjection of M cherry and CeAhR LBD aimed

to create transgenic animals expressing CeAhR LBD; M cherry gave red florescence that helped selection of the transgenic strains for expression.

## 3.7 Expression of GST tagged CeAhR LBD in transgenic C. elegans

GST CeAhR LBD was successfully microinjected in *C. elegans* and the transgenic animals were crushed to detect CeAhR LBD protein. The experiment was carried out with pPD30.38 GST as a positive control indicating the integrity of the system. Normal *C. elegans* animals were crushed and their protein used as negative control. The experiment showed a clear GST band (Figure 22), but unfortunately, no GST CeAhR LBD protein band was detected raising questions regarding the practicality of using this system for expression of CeAhR LBD.



Figure 22. Protein gel stained with Commassie stain. M is protein molecular weight marker. GST AhR is the GST tagged CeAhR LBD sample. Hist AhR is the His tagged CeAhR LBD sample. GST is the sample with the expressed GST tag only. The negative control is uninjected *C. elegans*. The black line shows the GST band (of 35 kDa in the GST-pPD30.38 lane that is not in the negative control lane indicating succesful expression of GST) as a

control indicating transgenic C. elegans working as expression system.

Figure 22 shows proteins expressed from both GST CeAhR LBD and His tagged CeAhR LBD constructs. The experimental design included a negative control, which comprises the protein extracts from uninjected *C. elegans*. On the other hand, *C. elegans* carrying GST pPD30.38 is another control that proves the integrity of the transgenic *C. elegans* worms in expressing recombinant foreign protein. From Figure 22, the GST band was seen in contrast with the negative control sample. Yet, no recombinant CeAhR LBD bands at 29kDa (His-tagged CeAhR LBD) or 54 kDa (GST-tagged CeAhR LBD) were detected. The system was not expressing CeAhR LBD or expresses it at a very low level. The following step was to perform western blot, which could detect protein bands down to 1 ng.

#### 3.8 Western blot of expression of CeAhR LBD

Commassie stained protein gel can detect down to 100 ng protein bands. To evaluate the expression of CeAhR LBD at a lower scale, a western blot was performed on the gel samples run by electrophoresis. Figure 23 shows His tagged CeAhR LBD expression for comparison with negative control. From the gel, it is difficult to detect the clear band of CeAhR LBD protein. The western blot was repeated many times, yet the possible CeAhR LBD band was inconsistent; the expression trials were repeated 4 times with similar results. In Figure 23, a band can be seen in the CeAhR LBD lane that is different from the control. However, the antibodies were not specific enough to detect the His tag only. It gave results similar to the protein gel stained with Commassie, and again it was difficult to confirm expression of CeAhR LBD. The system was not practical for expressing a large enough amount of protein for crystal structure work.



Hist M Cherry M AhR

Figure 23. Western blot of proteins extracted from transgenic *C. elegans* carrying His tagged CeAhR LBD constructs on the left. The lane lying in the middle showed the expressed protein of transgenic *C. elegans* microinjected with M cherry. The lane on the right side is that of the marker. The black line indicates the possible expressed CeAhR LBD band.

The western blot of CeAhR LBD samples in Figure 23 showed multiple bands binding to the anti histidine antibodies. These results could be explained by excess antibody loading or by less specificity against transgenic *C. elegans* proteins. The marker did not appear. By comparison between both CeAhR LBD and M cherry, nearly no bands expressing CeAhR LBD were detected. Unfortunately transgenic CeAhR animals were not suitable for the production of soluble CeAhR LBD for crystal structure study.



Figure 24. Agarose gel showing amplified CeAhR LBD from pPD30.38 constructs by PCR reaction. –ve indicates the negative control sample containing the PCR master mix and the primers, but without DNA to exclude contamination. Samples 1, 2, 3, 4 are four PCR products of CeAhR LBD with new restriction sites XbaI and SacI with different TM of the reaction of 54, 56, 58 or 60°C respectively.

To show that transgenic CeAhR animals are not suitable for CeAhR LBD expression, DNA amplification was performed to confirm the presence of CeAhR LBD constructs inside the transgenic animal. This step was important to avoid bias in the results of the expression system. The samples in Figure 24 show successful integration of CeAhR LBD DNA into the genome of transgenic *C. elegans* strains.



GST GST

Figure 25. 1% agarose gel carrying PCR products of amplified GST pPD30.38 construct integrated in the genome of transgenic *C. elegans* after microinjection. –ve represents the negative control sample for the PCR reaction containing no DNA. Samples 2 and 3 are DNA extracted from GST-expressing transgenic *C. elegans*. Samples 1 and 4 are GST pPD30.38 with different TM.

The experiment illustrated in Figure 25 was performed to confirm the integration of pPD30.38 constructs into the *C. elegans*' genome so as to avoid false negative results. The DNA was amplified by Taq polymerase that was used to amplify the CeAhR LBD.


Hist GST AhR AhR

Figure 26. 1% agarose gel carrying DNA marker on the left. The negative (-ve) control was a sample carrying no DNA. Sample 1 carried histidine tagged CeAhR LBD construct microinjected in C. elegans. Sample 2 carried GST tagged CeAhR LBD construct microinjected in C. elegans. All samples were amplified PCR products of the mentioned constructs.

Another confirmatory step of successful microinjection of CeAhR LBD into *C. elegans* was performed. The difference was the new primers used to amplify the whole CeAhR LBD construct, not just part of it, to add more data about successful integration of the constructs inside the transgenic animals' genome. The gel (Figure 26) shows DNA marker on the left. Hist AhR represents the sample carrying amplified DNA from His tagged CeAhR LBD, while GST AhR is the GST tagged CeAhR LBD. The CeAhR LBD has two tags, His tag and GST tag, generating fragment sizes of 600 and 1.5 kb respectively. The sizes of these fragments were equal to the two fragments seen in the gel, suggesting successful integration of both tagged AhR constructs into the genomic DNA of *C. elegans*. The experiment was done to avoid false negative results. The transgenic animals may mutate and lose the pPD30.38 integrated plasmid carrying the target construct. The expression of CeAhR LBD protein was not abundant enough. It is important to check the genomic DNA for successful integration of the target recombinant DNA to avoid bias. From the above gel, it can be said that the cloning process was successful, however, the expression system (*C. elegans*) was not capable of expressing a large amount of recombinant CeAhR LBD in the muscle wall using the UNC 54 promoter.

#### **3.9** Expression of CeAhR in yeast system

The third system of expression was *Pichia pastoris* GS 115 Mut+. Figure 27 simplifies the 4 recombinant proteins expected to be expressed in this system. pPICZ alpha B contains alpha factor that helps secretion of CeAhR LBD protein, either with His tag or GST tag. On the other hand, pPICZ B constructs are expected to express CeAhR LBD in the intracellular compartment. C-myc is an epitope expressed by pPICZ alpha B and pPICZ B. The Pichia system has many advantages over bacterial ones. It is eukaryotic system that has post translational

modification capacity. Also, it is possible to express a large biomass in small volumes of liquid media.



Figure 27. Four different CeAhR LBD proteins generated by the 4 plasmid constructs transformed in *Pichia pastoris*.

#### 3.10 Cloning of CeAhR LBD

Experiments were carried out to clone PCR-amplified CeAhR LBD, or cut CeAhR LBD fragments, from Prset or PET41b plasmids. The PCR-amplified CeAhR LBD

with EcoR1 and Xba1 sites was cloned into the plasmid pGEMT. The new construct was transformed into JM109. To evaluate the transformation success, the transformed cells were plated on LB agar/ampicillin/IPTG/Blue-Gal plates. The resistance to ampicillin was expected to select the plasmid containing the plasmid pGEMT. There were no colonies in the negative control, as JM109 without plasmids cannot grow on ampicillin. The positive controls contain plasmids with an antibiotic-resistant gene. A known amount of antibiotic resistant gene acted as a transformation control. Each 1µg of DNA should yield 1x10<sup>8</sup> colonies. In theory, all positive controls or sample controls should produce colonies that are white in colour. The white colonies indicate successful integration of the recombinant gene in the plasmid (pGEMT). The results of cloning of CeAhR LBD in pGEMT plasmid are summarized in Table 6. It can be noticed the more insert /vector ratio, the more successful cloning results detected.

Table 6. Colony growth outcomes from transformation of JM109 with CeAhR LBD. The negative control had no plasmid added, the control insert is a positive control with ligated control insert transformed into JM109 cells via ampicillin-resistant plasmid, and background control was re-ligated with double digested vector (adding ligase to the double digested DNA). The standard reaction is the ligation reaction with DNA (CeAhR LBD constructs) transformed into JM109 by ligation into pGEMT plasmid.

Plate type	Number of colonies
Negative control	0
Control insert	220 (60% white)
Background control	20
Standard reaction	
Plate1 - insert:vector ratio 1:1	35
Plate2 - insert:vector ratio 3:1	100
Plate3 - insert:vector ratio 10:1	200

After successful transformation, the CeAhR LBD pGEMT construct was double digested by Ecor1 and Xba1 restriction digestion enzymes, and run on 1% agarose gel. The DNA lane showed two bands, the larger one was about 3000 bp and the smaller about 600 bp, which was supposed to be CeAhR LBD. For the AhR GST pGEMT construct, the smaller fragment was 1500 bp (Data not shown). The CeAhR LBD band was gel purified and both pPICZ B and pPICZ alpha B were double digested with both EcorI and XbaI. The vectors CeAhR LBD and CeAhR

LBD-GST were ligated using the same method applied before for sub-cloning CeAhR LBD in pGEMT. The results are given in Table 7.

Table 7 shows transformation of CeAhR LBD into pPICZ alphaB. The CeAhR LBD was double digested from pGEMT vector with EcoRI and XbaI and cloned in pPICZ alpha B insert that was opened with same restriction digestion enzymes.

Plate type	Number of colonies
Transformation control	$100 \rightarrow$ transformation efficiency was $1 \times 10^8$ per µg
	DNA
Background control	25
Negative control	0
Standard reaction	250

Table 8. CeAhR LBD with BamHI restriction digestion site

GGATCCTGGATTTTTGAGAATTGACATGCGCGGAAAGTTGATGTCTCT ACATGGATTACCATCATCGTATGTAATGGGAAGAACTGCCTCGGGTCC AGTGCTCGGAATGATTTGCGTTTGCACACCTTTTGTGCCGCCTTCAAC ATCCGATTTAGCATCCGAAGACATGATTTTGAAAACAAAACATCAGTT GGATGGAGCTTTAGTATCTATGGATCAAAAGGTTTATGAAATGTTAGA AATTGATGAAACTGATCTACCAATGCCACTCTATAATCTAGTCCACGT GGAAGATGCAGTCTGCATGGCTGAAGCTCATAAAGAAGCTATCAAAA ACGGGTCATCTGGTCTTCTGGTATATCGTCTAGTCAGCACAAAAACTC GTCGTACGTATTTTGTTCAAAGCTCCTGTAGGATGTTTTACAAGAATA GCAAACCGGAATCAATTGGCTTAACTCACAGATTACTCAACGAAGTG GAAGGTACAATGCTTTTAGAAAAAAGAAGCACATTGAAAGCTAAACT ATTATCATTTGACGATTCATTTCTTCAATCTCCACGAAATCCCACTC ACAGCTGCACTTCCATTATAAGGATCC

The CeAhR LBD with both BamHI sites was used for its expression in pRSET vector. The plasmid adds a polyhistidine tag to the CeAhR LBD protein to aid the purification process.

Table 9 CeAhR LBD with EcoRI and XbaI sites

GAATTCACATGGGATTTTTGAGAATTGACATGCGCGGAAAGTTGATG TCTCTACATGGATTACCATCATCGTATGTAATGGGAAGAACTGCCTCG GGTCCAGTGCTCGGAATGATTTGCGTTTGCACACCTTTTGTGCCGCC TTCAACATCCGATTTAGCATCCGAAGACATGATTTTGAAAACAAAAC ATCAGTTGGATGGAGCTTTAGTATCTATGGATCAAAAGGTTTATGAAA TGTTAGAAATTGATGAAACTGATCTACCAATGCCACTCTATAATCTAG TCCACGTGGAAGATGCAGTCTGCATGGCTGAAGCTCATAAAGAAGC TATCAAAAACGGGTCATCTGGTCTTCTGGTATATCGTCTAGTCAGCAC AAAAACTCGTCGTACGTATTTTGTTCAAAGCTCCTGTAGGATGTTTTA CAAGAATAGCAAACCGGAATCAATTGGCTTAACTCACAGATTGCTCAA CGAAGTGGAAGGTACAATGCTTTTAGAAAAAAGAAGCACATTGAAAG CTAAACTATTATCATTTGACGATTCATTTCTAGA

For expression of CeAhR LBD in *Pichia pastoris*, the CeAhR were amplified by PCR with the new restriction digestion sites, EcorI and XbaI, as shown in Table 9, to suit cloning in pPICZ B and pPICZ alpha B vectors.



AhR1 AhR2 uncut M

Figure 28. 1% agarose gel carrying CeAhR LBD GST construct in pPICZ alpha B. M is DNA marker. Uncut indicates the control using uncut CeAhR LBD GST in pPICZ alpha B. AhR2 is the double digested CeAhR LBD with EcorI and XbaI. The 1.5 kb band in AhR2 lane is suspected to be the GST-tagged CeAhR LBD fragment. AhR1 is AhR GST supposed band cut with BamHI that gave 3 bands; the middle one is supposed to be AhR band in AhR1 lane (1100kb).

After successful cloning and transformation, the colonies were picked up and mini-prepped to extract clean plasmid DNA that is digested with suitable restriction digestion enzymes. Agarose gel was run and the size of the expected CeAhR LBD was detected indicating the right cloning (for example Figures 28, 29 and 30). The final step was to sequence the plasmid and make sure no errors happened in the construct especially in the place where the construct starts to bind the new vector. This strategy was applied to all 4 constructs before attempting expression.



Figure 29. 1% agarose gel of His tagged CeAhR LBD construct in pPICZ B. It is double digested with Ecor1 and Xba1. The cut fragment showed the expected 600 bp in (S3,S4) of His-tagged CeAhR LBD cloned in pPICZ B in samples 3 and 4. The uncut samples were used as control in samples 1 and 2.

The CeAhR LBD fragments were cut with Ecor1 and Xb1 restriction digestion enzymes (Figure 29). 600 bp fragments can be seen in samples 3 and 4. These two fragments are supposed to be CeAhR LBD. The plasmid construct was confirmed by sequencing.



Figure 30. 1% agarose gel carrying M which is DNA marker. B is pGEMT without AhR constructs. C is uncut pGEMT construct. A is pGEMT carrying His tagged CeAhR LBD.

The CeAhR LBD fragments were cut with Ecor1 and Xba1 restriction digestion enzymes (Figure 30) as previously (Figure 29). 600 bp fragments can be seen in lanes labelled A. These two fragments are supposed to be CeAhR LBD. The plasmid construct was confirmed by sequencing.



Figure 31. Nitrocellulose membrane showing dot blotting of positive control His tag containing protein in the upper membrane strip with serial dilution of protein concentration, and negative sample in the lower nitro cellulose membrane strip. The negative control sample included bacterial and yeast extract proteins.

To screen for the best colony expressing CeAhR LBD, 100 colonies were examined by dot blotting against the histidine and GST tags of expected expressed CeAhR LBD. The antibodies were subjected to test the specificity and the sensitivity against bacterial and yeast protein before starting the blotting experiment. A dot blotting experiment was done to evaluate the specificity and the sensitivity of the Anti His tag antibodies (Figure 31). The results showed that the antibodies were sensitive to bacterial or yeast extract proteins. It is sensitive to ng protein concentrations.

### **15 MINUTE EXPOSURE**



Figure 32. Dot blotting of secreted protein from a His-tagged CeAhR LBD transformed colony on the right nitrocellulose strip. Control nitrocellulose membrane carrying both positive and a negative controls are on either ends of the left strip. The strip was incubated with anti His antibodies. The ECL kit (western blot labiling kit) was added. The membrane was photographed by the BIO-RAD gel doc machine.

A dot blot experiment showed that one transformed colony was positive with Histag antibodies (Figure 32). This promising result is not enough because dot blot is just a screening method. It is supposed to screen 100 transformed CeAhR LBD secreting colonies to detect the best one that could be reliable for large scale expression. The following step was to confirm the results with western blotting that indicate the most reliable results.



Figure 33. Screening of different dot blotted CeAhR LBD with His tag. 1ml secretions of 100 colonies were blotted on nitrocellulose membrane and incubated with anti His tag antibodies. ECL kit (western blot labeling kit) was added and the membranes were photographed by the gel doc machine. All results were negative except one colony, No. 71. The left plate is the control plate. The right plate contains 24 dotted samples.

The dot blot screening of CeAhR LBD secreting colonies with His-tag showed that no colony managed to secrete the protein except one potential one which was colony No. 71.



Figure 34. Screening of different dot blotted CeAhR LBD with GST tag. 1ml secretions of 100 colonies were blotted on nitrocellulose membrane and were incubated with anti GST tag antibodies. ECL kit was added and the membranes were photographed by the gel doc machine. All results were negative. The samples on the left are positive control samples.

The screening of GST-AhR secreting colonies showed that no colony could secret any CeAhR LBD protein. From both Figures 33 and 34 it was supposed that CeAhR LBD was poorly or not secreted from *Pichia pastoris* transformed colonies. After screening 200 colonies, only one colony gave a potentially positive result. The samples could be tested by staining a gel with SYPRO RUBI that could detect down to 1ng protein, as in Figures 35, 36 and 37.



Figure 35. Protein gel stained with SYPRO Rubi stain. S1-6 is secreted His-tagged CeAhR LBD expression from yeast extract.

A gel of proteins extracted from His-tagged CeAhR LBD tansformed colonies (Figure 35; S1, S2, S3, S4, S5 and S6), showed that the yeast extract contained no detected CeAhR LBD protein. From this experiment, there is weak evidence that CeAhR LBD is secreted by the *Pichia pastoris* system.



Figure 36. Protein gel stained with Commassie. C is control Pichia (without any constructs) protein extract after cell lysis, Hist1 is His-tagged CeAhR LBD secreting Pichia, Hist2 is intracellular expressing His-tagged CeAhR LBD Pichia, GST is intracellular GST CeAhR LBD expressing Pichia.



Figure 37. Western blot of proteins extracted from Pichia. M is marker protein. C is Pichia extracted proteins without any constructs as negative control. S1,2 are secreted His-tagged CeAhR LBD samples. S3,4 are intracellular His-tagged CeAhR LBD expression samples.

This experiment in Figure 37 indicated that the *Pichia pastoris* expression system failed to manufacture CeAhR LBD, neither secreting it nor producing it

intracellularly. The western blot outcome for GST CeAhR LBD was the same. Therefore, *Pichia pastoris* is not a suitable system to produce CeAhR LBD. The positive transformed colony from the screening was streaked onto a fresh plate and a new colony was picked up and grown and proteins secreted in the media were western blotted to detect any CeAhR LBD protein in S1 sample. Another fresh colony was transformed and the suspected CeAhR LBD was blotted to confirm if any protein can be detected. At the same time CeAhR LBD transformed colonies were grown and a trial to express CeAhR LBD in the intra cellular compartment was attempted. The cells were lysed and the desired protein was detected by a western blot of two samples from different colonies. The western blot was totally negative to dectect either secreted or internal CeAhR LBD. So it could be said that *Pichia pastoris* was not suitable for CeAhR LBD expression.



Figure 38. 1% agarose gel of amplified genomic DNA from *Pichia pastoris* carrying Histagged CeAhR LBD in pPICZ alpha B control (S1), His-tagged CeAhR LBD from pPICZ B construct extracted from genomic DNA (S2 and S3), GST-tagged CeAhR LBD in pPICZ alpha B control (S5) or GST-tagged CeAhR LBD in pPICZ alpha B extracted from genomic DNA (S6). The PCR product bands were amplified by AOX1 primers.

The expression of CeAhR LBD resulted into poor out come. As applied in transgenic *C. elegans* the genomic DNA was amplified to make sure that the CeAhR LBD constructs were integrated in the genome of the yeast. This experiment shown in Figure 38 indicates successful integration of CeAhR LBD constructs in the *Pichia pastoris* genome. The genomic DNA was extracted from the transformed yeast samples. The control samples were pure plasmids carrying the constructs. Successful integration of the construct in the genome was confirmed by amplified DNA by PCR reaction from both the control and the

genomic DNA giving two equal bands amplified from both genomic and pure plasmid template DNA.



Figure 39. 1% agarose gel with 1% SDS-PAGE. The samples marked M have DNA marker. The Yeast RNA sample was total RNA purified from CeAhR LBD expressing yeast. Control indicates already intact purified rat total RNA extracted from the liver.

An experiment was then conducted to check that the extracted RNA was intact and ready for reverse transcriptase PCR (see below). The RNA sample was not smeared indicating little or no degradation of the yeast RNA. The samples in Figure 39 showed intact total RNA extracted from *Pichia pastoris* expressing Histagged CeAhR LBD. There was no smearing, and the amount of RNA was abundant.



## R1 R2 -ve +ve +ve C

Figure 40. Reverse transcriptase (RT) PCR of CeAhR LBD cDNA. The figure shows 1% agarose gel for RT PCR of cDNA made from total RNA extracted from *Pichia pastoris*. The samples consist of DNA marker in the extreme left (KB+). R1,R2 are amplified DNA by PCR from cDNA made from yeast extracted total RNA. –ve control sample is RNA amplified by PCR to evaluate genomic contamination. +ve control samples are template CeAhR LBD construct in pPICZ B. These DNA samples were amplified with specific CeAhR LBD primers. C is PCR (using AOX 1 primers) of *Pichia pastoris* CS 115 transformed with pPICZ B, which confirms the presence of endogenous alcohol oxidase, that is to say that this is *Pichia pastoris* Mut+ strain.

The experiment illustrated in Figure 40 indicates the presence of the RNA transcript from the CeAhR LBD gene integrated in the genome of *Pichia pastoris*.

#### 3.11 Effects of AhR agonists on the viability of C. elegans

Six compounds were tested for their effects on C. elegans, namely TCDD, AZ1c, PCB126, AMB, 3MC and  $\beta$ -naphthoflavone. 1 M sodium azide was used as positive control and 1 mM DMSO as vehicle control. C. elegans N2 animals without any toxin were used as a negative control. The results showed that sodium azide killed all animals, indicating a successful positive control. No animal pathology was detected in both negative and vehicle controls. Regarding AhR agonist compounds, no gross pathology was detected with PCB126, 3MC, AMB or  $\beta$ -naphthoflavone. While both AZ1c and TCDD could not kill any *C. elegans*, both chemicals managed to limit the movement of L4 animals at the highest concentration tested (1 nM for AZ1c and 1 µM for TCDD). It was clear that the movement of L4 C. elegans was sluggish in contrast to the negative control animals. On repeating the lethality test of both TCDD and AZ1c on AhR null C. elegans (CZ 24 85), the effects of both TCDD and AZ were abolished; the animals were moving freely and there was no difference from the negative control animals. This indicates that the C. elegans response to TCDD and AZ1c was mediated by CeAhR.



Figure 41 The effect of increased concentration of AZ1c in nM on the movement of wild type C. *elegans*. The movement of the animals was affected by only the highest soluble concentration of compound. The data points are means from three repeats. The curve fit is a four-parameter logistic equation giving an estimated  $IC_{50}$  of 0.59 nM.

#### 3.12 Induction of CYP-GFP fused transgenic C. elegans

Strains of transgenic (CYP-GFP fused) animals (CYP35A2, CYP29A2 and CYP34A9) were subjected to induction by different known AhR agonists. This experiment aims to see if CeAhR can induce any CYP family genes as a model for humans. These 3 CYP enzymes are known to deal with xenobiotic responses in *C. elegans*. It is thought that one of them could correspond to human CYP1A1 and it could be induced by AhR agonists in *C. elegans*. The fluorescence (total) of these animals was measured by the dark reader machine aiming to detect the corresponding CYP enzyme induced by AhR (see Table 10). None of the fluorescence readings in the presence of the test compounds increased above that

of the control samples in their absence. This indicates that none of the CYP enzymes were induced by any of the compounds.

Table 10. Fluorescence of CYP-GFP fused transgenic *C. elegans* induced by serial dilutions of TCDD, AZ1c, 3MC, PCB126 and AMB). The *C. elegans* were exposed to the compounds for 3 days before measuring the amount of fluorescence.

Compound	Concentration	Fluorescence due to CYP induction		
		CYP35A2	CYP29A2	CYP34A9
TCDD	control	259	270	259
	0.001 μM	230	214	228
	0.01 μM	240	276	266
	0.1 μΜ	224	243	235
	1 μM	219	243	271
AZ1c	control	288	277	294
	0.001 nM	262	254	270
	0.01 nM	269	271	255
	0.1 nM	266	249	261
	1 nM	270	281	288
	control	277	277	291
ЗМС	0.02 μM	266	259	278
	0.2 μΜ	271	269	277
	2 μΜ	265	281	279
	20 μM	279	277	284
PCB126	control	288	299	291
	0.01 μM	265	277	270
	0.1 μΜ	268	270	268
	1 μM	271	271	269
	10 μM	259	288	288
АМВ	control	269	259	278
	0.1 nM	270	270	266
	1 nM	268	281	276
	10 nM	259	271	269
	100 nM	294	277	280

# **4 DISCUSSION**

AhR is a cytosolic receptor that binds multiple ligands (Zhou et al., 2010) and has a xenobiotic function in the metabolism of various toxic substances (Wang et al., 2009). AhR is also a target of many drugs like omeprazole and tamoxifen (Yoshinari et al., 2008; DuSell et al., 2010). AhR mediates the toxic effects of many pollutants including one of its most notable agonists, 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD). TCDD is considered the full agonist of human AhR (Howard et al., 2010). Its stimulation induces non-genotoxic carcinogenesis (Cole et al., 2003; Schwarz and Appel 2005; Ellinger-Ziegelbauer et al., 2009). AhR stimulation creates a model for cancer in humans, and so understanding how AhR works becomes very important. Crystal structure studies on mouse and human AhR, and especially its ligand binding domain, resulted in poor outcomes (Lo Piparo et al., 2006). The 3-dimensional structure of AhR is important to understand how this receptor binds different structures and chemicals with different affinities, either agonists or antagonists. Despite the diversity between these ligands, it is not known how AhR binds to all these chemicals. Furthermore, AhR is considered as an orphan receptor, without a known endogenous ligand (Kung et al., 2009). The 3-dimensional structure of CeAhR is proposed to be a good template for creating a computer-based human AhR model. This theory is attributed to the structural similarity between the ligand-binding domains of both proteins. The CeAhR LBD has the closest structure to the mammalian AhR compared to other non-mammalian species; the yielding protein domain shares nearly 50% similarity with human AhR LBD. It is suggested that expression, purification and crystallization of CeAhR would be easier than mammalian AhR, as it is thought to require less complex chaperones to fold, and it is expected to be an alternative to mammalian AhR crystal structure study. CeAhR is not known to bind ligands, but then its LBD is supposed to be less complex in structure, requiring less difficulty to be expressed in a soluble folded form. As a result, it is possible to obtain a human AhR model that is more compatible with the real 3-dimensional structure of AhR.

Furthermore, there is another debate about the function of CeAhR, whether it is a receptor or a transcription factor without a ligand pocket at all. Powell-Coffman and her group characterised AhR-1 in 1998, and tested its functionality by coimmunoprecipitation with rabbit HSP90, and confirmed that AhR-1 does not bind TCDD in vitro. The theory that AhR-1 LBD does not have a ligand-binding pocket makes its expression easier than human AhR. It is supposed that the AhR pocket collapsed during recombinant expression of mammalian receptors making crystallization difficult. Comparison between CeAhR and human AhR LBD revealed nearly 50% similarity; therefore, it is logical to use AhR-1 LBD domain as a template for human AhR with more accuracy than previous models proposed (Pandini et al., 2007; Pandini et al., 2009; Jogalekar et al., 2010). They used bHLH templates with less than 30% similarity. The idea that CeAhR had no ligandbinding pocket and better similarity coupled to the probability of better expression generated hope of achieving a better human AhR model by attempting expression of CeAhR LBD.

The study showed that attempts to express CeAhR LBD in 3 different expression systems did not produce any significant quantities of purified soluble protein and far less than would be required for crystallization studies. The worst result was in the Pichia pastoris expression system, which expressed no protein at all. The results of expression of CeAhR LBD in the body muscle wall of transgenic C. elegans were very poor. The best expression system determined by this study was also the simplest, namely E. coli. The study expressed CeAhR LBD in both PL21(DE3) cells and Arctic express DE3 cells. The outcome of soluble CeAhR LBD was better with lower temperature expression in Arctic express cells. The problem was that the amount of soluble CeAhR LBD was too little. To get 1 mg of soluble CeAhR LBD, provided there was no loss during purification, would require 10 to 20 litres of bacterial culture. The study moved to answer the question, why CeAhR LBD expression was more difficult than expected. Experimental work was performed in *Pichia pastoris* but although it was possible to detect the RNA of the recombinant CeAhR LBD gene indicating successful transcription of CeAhR LBD inside the Pichia cells, no protein was produced. Studies of the effect of known AhR ligands on both wild type C. elegans and AhR null live animals showed that CeAhR can no longer be considered a nonxenobiotic binding domain. CeAhR responded to TCDD and AZ1c in the in vivo study. The study further tried to detect if CeAhR induced any of GFP.CYP35A2, GFP.CYP29A2 or GFP.CYP34A9 genes. These CYP genes are known to be induced in response to xenobiotic effects (Menzel et al., 2001). However, none of these genes were induced by TCDD or the other chemicals applied in this study.

AhR and ARNT genes in *C. elegans* were discovered by Powell-Coffman and her group in 1998. They discovered a DNA sequence coding for a protein that has structural similarity to the PAS domain of mammalian AhR. The group amplified this DNA segment that is obtained from a mixed-stage cDNA library, and named the gene AhR-1 (aryl hydrocarbon receptor-related). Fortunately, AhR-1 protein (CeAhR herein) shares 38% identity with human AhR over a region of 395 amino acids; furthermore, alignment showed that CeAhR is closely related to mammalian AhR in the PAS domains. What makes CeAhR more interesting is that it has similar biochemical properties to mammalian AhR (Bell and Poland 2000). CeAhR contains both bHLH and PAS domains like vertebrate AhR. Studies showed that this protein contains a PAS-B domain, which is the ligand-binding domain in mammalian AhR. On the other hand, the PAS-A domain of CeAhR shows  $\sim$ 56% amino acid identity with the corresponding sequence of mammalian AhRs. The bHLH sequence is less similar to the bHLH sequence in vertebrate AhRs. These observations suggest that CeAhR protein is a good model for mammalian AhR, as it has similar structural and biochemical properties (Hahn et al., 1997).

SDS-PAGE analysis of protein from His-tagged CeAhR LBD transformed BL21DE21(DE3) cells showed the expressed protein band at about 29 kDa, which would be expected for his-tagged CeAhR LBD and was the only difference from the antisense control. This experiment strongly implies expression of CeAhR LBD. Studies have been performed to express mammalian AhR in a baculovirus system and their outcome was also successful induction of AhR, yet the major obstacle was the fact that most of the expressed protein was insoluble (Chan et al., 1994).

The *E. coli* cells were sonicated to separate the soluble protein content, and also centrifuged at  $10,000 \times g$  to remove the insoluble protein. The soluble component was further centrifuged at  $250,000 \times g$ . The protein bands were compared to the pelleted Prset transformed BL21(DE3) cells. Protein sequencing of soluble fractions confirmed that the CeAhR LBD protein was induced and present. CeAhR LBD was also transformed into Arctic Express Cells. Both BL21(DE3) and Arctic Express DE3 cells use the strong T7 promoter. However, Arctic Express cells expressed more soluble CeAhR LBD at lower temperature ( $12^{\circ}$ C). The problem of recombinant expression in *E. coli* is too fast production of a large amount of recombinant protein that accumulates in the inactive form of inclusion bodies. These require a lot of effort to refold, and even if successful, it is difficult to guarantee that the refolded CeAhR LBD protein is biologically active to study its structure. Arctic Express cells grow at low temperature giving good opportunity to express soluble AhR. Furthermore, Arctic Express cells have been modified to

express chaperones cpn10 and cpn60. These chaperones could stabilize the recombinant protein tertiary structure and express more functional protein. Indeed, Arctic Express results were better than PL21(DE3), but the overall soluble protein expression was still poor.

#### 4.1 Solubility of the protein

SDS-PAGE analysis of soluble His-tagged CeAhR LBD, after purification within a nickel column, was performed. The results of the column protein bands were compared with serial dilution of BSA to evaluate the amount of purified protein. Unfortunately, the amount of the protein was too little, and seen only in the wash samples of the column. No protein was detected in the eluted samples. Even though soluble protein could be obtained from the bacterial expression system without complex chaperone protein, the amount of soluble protein is small. It would take more than a 10 litre culture of *E. coli* to purify less than 1mg of soluble His-tagged CeAhR LBD. For large-scale culture, purified CeAhR LBD expression, we would need tens of litres or more of E. coli culture. Studies showed that high throughput (HTP) expression of C. elegans proteins in E. coli processed 10,167 different C. elegans genes. 4854 (47.7%) proteins were successfully expressed, and of these, 1536 (15.1%) were soluble proteins. Only 590 proteins were expressed at a large enough scale for crystal structure studies (Finley, 2004). Cytoplasmic proteins are less easily secreted than membrane proteins, and homomeric proteins are less soluble too. The presence of a large number of cysteine amino acids is a bad indicator of protein solubility (Luan et al., 2004). CeAhR LBD has few cystiene residues which is a good sign, however most of the expressed CeAhR LBD in bacteria was insoluble; it is noteworthy that AhR is a cytosolic protein.

#### 4.2 GST and poly histidine tag fusion proteins

The study indicated that CeAhR LBD should be fused with GST and poly histidine tags. The major aim of both tags was to make the purification of CeAhR LBD simpler. It is worthy to compare both tags regarding expression. Also, the comparison between the 2 different proteins' crystal structure will support the credibility of AhR structure analysis; in other words, consistent AhR crystal structure, despite different fusion tags, indicates robust AhR folding. On the other hand, the fusion protein tags interfere with the biochemical study of the expressed protein. The presence of the fusion tag protein at the start of translation of the protein may express less recombinant protein as the first amino acid sequence is important in protein signalling. The presence of the tag protein at the end of the target protein may be a better option to improve the expression of the protein.

#### **4.3** AhR Expression in Pichia pastoris

The yeast expression system has many advantages that make it a good choice for CeAhR LBD expression on a large scale. *Pichia pastoris* is a eukaryotic system that can carry out post-translational modifications by virtue of its endoplasmic

reticulum. So the soluble, expressed protein secreted by that system is supposed to be functional. This is a very important advantage, because CeAhR is not known to have a specific ligand with which to assess its functional capabilities. A major question arises here: how would CeAhR LBD be assessed in a functional way? First, it would be soluble, second, it would not be aggregated, and third, if it could be crystallized and its structure solved, it will be fairly obvious if it is a PAS protein fold or not. Finally, successful CeAhR LBD secretion by the yeast expression system will indicate functional post-translational modification. The Pichia pastoris system is supposed to have more complex chaperones that could help in expressing more soluble CeAhR LBD. Other advantages offered by the yeast expression system include: 1. Yeast yields a high level recombinant protein due to the presence of a large copy number of vectors per cell. 2. The promoter is strong and stable. 3. The system is characterised by high cell density. 4. The yeast system can produce dry-cell weight densities that exceed 100 gram/litre. 5. Yeast requires growing media which is simple and inexpensive. 6. As yeast is eukaryotic, it is capable of expressing soluble, complex mammalian proteins. 7. Recombinant plasmids are integrated in the chromosomal DNA of the yeast genome making the recombinant DNA stable for different generations. 8. Yeast expression is durable, and requires no complex care. It is, therefore, usually very suitable for generating a large amount of functional protein for 3-dimensional structure studies.

In this study expression was mediated by the AOX1 promoter (Cereghino and Cregg 2000; Cregg et al., 2000; Lin Cereghino et al., 2001). Dot blot screening of

100 colonies of His-tagged CeAhR LBD transformed Pichia were studied, but only one colony gave positive results. The whole 100 colonies of GST CeAhR LBD gave no signal at all. It seems that achieving CeAhR LBD expression in *Pichia pastoris* is a difficult task. It is important to say that dot blot screening may yield false positive results and it is essential to further analyse the Pichia colonies by western blot. The dot blotting screened the possible secreted CeAhR LBD in the surrounding media. The cornerstone of success in that expression system is the ability to secrete CeAhR LBD protein even in minute amounts. Secreted protein should be subjected to post-translational modification, and supposed to be a functional and good candidate for crystal structure work. The western blot results concluded that the expression of CeAhR LBD was very poor, both secreted and accumulated intracellularly. The unfortunate results of the secreted pPICZ alpha B may be explained by the theory that CeAhR LBD is a cytosolic protein and tends to stay intracellular. It was hoped that Pichia could secrete even nanogrammes of CeAhR LBD protein, and later on the biomass is concentrated making a number of litres yield a few mg of protein, yet no CeAhR LBD was secreted at all. The positive results of the dot blot in one colony were clearly a false positive. Furthermore, testing for intracellular CeAhR LBD protein revealed similar poor results. The western blot failed to detect any CeAhR LBD expressed by Pichia *pastoris*. Despite the expectation that the yeast system might be more productive than the bacterial system, clearly the opposite was true. It is quite difficult to predict the results of expression systems in advance.

The first step to track protein manufacturing is checking for successful DNA integration into the genome of the yeast. The genomic DNA of the recombinant yeast was extracted and amplified by PCR reaction targeting the recombinant DNA. It showed that the DNA of CeAhR LBD was successfully integrated.

The total RNA was extracted from *Pichia pastoris* transformed by CeAhR LBD constructs. The RNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA which was amplified by PCR reaction and the PCR product showed the CeAhR LBD gene in agarose gel. This showed that there was no problem with transcription of CeAhR LBD inside *Pichia pastoris*. Therefore, the problem may be in the translation process or after translation. After translation the recombinant protein is subjected to post-translation modification in the eukryotic system which is supposed to result in folded protein.

The process of recombinant protein expression could be intrupted at any of these stages. On the other hand all the above process may be successful and the protein may be subjected to degradation. It is important to remember that the pH and redox state may affect the production of recombinant proteins in different expression systems favouring one protein over another. In this case the problem occurred downstream of mRNA transcription but to precisely determine which further step failed would be a major undertaking.

#### 4.4 AhR Expression in transgenic C. elegans

The third trial was to try and express CeAhR LBD in transgenic C. elegans itself. The CeAhR LBD is supposed to be expressed with both GST and His tags in the muscle wall of C. elegans. The protein expression was mediated by the UNC 54 promoter. The CeAhR LBD DNA was microinjected with M cherry marker. The problem was that M cherry uses the same promoter as the pPD30.38 constructs of CeAhR LBD. Other markers not using UNC 54 have been tried, but were toxic to C. elegans. The CeAhR LBD expression results were poor also. C. elegans failed to express CeAhR LBD in the muscle wall, although transgenic C. elegans should contain all the chaperones needed to manufacture its own protein or at least the full length CeAhR. It is important to say that the target protein is only a domain of a larger protein and may lack the regions necessary for interactions with chaperones. It may also be that this protein is considered foreign as it is expressed with foreign tags in the muscle wall, which is not the normal intracellular environment. However, PAS domain proteins have been successfully expressed independent to the N-terminus region. It is not known whether the expression of the full length CeAhR would be more successful than just the LBD.

#### 4.5 Comparison of expression systems

So, three trials of CeAhR LBD expression were performed with disappointing results. The best expression system was Arctic Express cells. It is difficult to know why some protein expression succeeds in one system and fails in another. For

example, promoter strength, pH, local ionic environments, redox state, copy numbers, transcript levels, codon bias, chaperone levels or chaperone affinities may be important factors that decide the success of one system or another for a particular protein (Herrero and Sentandreu 1988; Gregory A Petsko 2009). The expression of CeAhR LBD was best at lower temperature ( $12 \, {}^{\circ}C$ ).

#### 4.6 C. elegans AhR endogenous function

The endogenous function of CeAhR was studied by Qin and Powell-Coffman in 2004. It is known that CeAhR is strongly related to the neurological maturation of C. elegans. Binding assays showed that TCDD was not binding to CeAhR expressed in vitro. It is not known if CeAhR functions as a receptor in vivo, or works as a transcription factor without any ligand at all. In this study an experiment was carried out to determine whether any known AhR ligands affect live C. elegans. Lethality tests were performed with 6 different known mouse AhR ligands from different groups on N2 C. elegans. The results showed that all 6 compounds have no lethality effects on N2 wild type C. elegans. However, both TCDD and AZ1c had a behavioural effect on wild type animals. At the maximum soluble level, both compounds induced limitations in the movement of the animal in contrast with negative control C. elegans. The experiment was repeated 3 times with the same finding. These limited effects of ligands are attributed to the weak solubility of TCDD and AZ1c. However, it implies that C. elegans contains active AhR that binds TCDD in mice and humans. A very important question arises here.
Is the CeAhR LBD responsible for these new findings or is another gene with different receptor protein binding TCDD? It is known that Zebra fish contains 2 AhR proteins, namely AhR1 and AhR2, and only one of them actively binds TCDD. In order to solve this problem, the in vivo tests were repeated with TCDD and AZ1c with CeAhR null animals, i.e. (CZ 85 24) strains. These strains have no functioning AhR-1. The results revealed completely functioning animals that are identical to the control, that is to say that AhR null *C. elegans* abolished the effect of TCDD and AZ1c. This indicates that the CeAhR LBD could bind ligands that are active at mammalian AhRs.

The study in 1998 by Powel-Coffman indicated that CeAhR does not bind ligands. However, this in vivo study indicates the opposite. In Powell-Coffman's (1998) study, they checked protein functionality by active binding with HSP90. It seems that HSP90 binds to a pocket away from the AhR LBD, and this contrasts with the previous data in the literature (Fukunaga et al., 1995). It assumed that CeAhR was fully active because, like mouse or human AhR, it bound HSP90. Recombinant CeAhR binds HSP90, but not TCDD (Powell-Coffman et al., 1998). However, this in vivo study says that CeAhR binds TCDD. This may be explained by saying that ligands and accessory proteins bind to two different sites on AhR. So presumably the protein was not functional in terms of ligand binding when it was used in the in vitro study but it is in vivo. From this work it can be said that protein folding in vivo is different from that in vitro. This result can be applied for different proteins. Previous studies claimed that the PAS B domain is the place where HSP90 and the proposed ligand combine with the LBD (Pandini et al., 2007). It is suggested that this model is not accurate for C. elegans. It seems that AhR has multiple binding sites where chaperones and ligands bind. These results support some theories claiming that multiple ligands bind to multiple sites (Henry and Gasiewicz 2008).

These models show only one cavity for ligand binding and depend on templates with similarity of less than 50%. Therefore, there are some doubts about the accuracy of these models (Lo Piparo et al., 2006; Pandini et al., 2007; Bisson et al., 2009; Jogalekar et al., 2010). A lack of success in crystal structure studies of any AhR protein makes such models ambiguous. Also, there is no data on the quaternary structure of AhR, whether AhR is a monomer, dimer, or multi-subunit protein. From the evolutionary point of view, it was thought that invertebrate AhR was a transitional stage before full maturation of the function in humans. However, this statement may not be true. CeAhR is advanced in function and binds xenobiotic ligands like vertebrates, and thus its structure is supposed to be as complex as human or mouse AhR. This may be why the expression of CeAhR was difficult, as it is in humans and mice.

## 4.7 Induction of cytochrome P450 analogues in C. elegans

Three strains of C. elegans were used to test for induction of several CYP genes. The strains were GFP-CYP29A2, GFP-CYP35A2 and GFP-CYP34A9. The results concluded that ligand bound CeAhR does not induce these 3 cytochrome P450

enzymes. However, there are more than 60 such enzymes in C. elegans. Microarray analysis on AhR-mutated L1 stage C. elegans showed that 324 genes were down-regulated and 238 genes were over-expressed; these genes were related to fatty acid metabolism, growth and development (Aarnio et al., 2010). Previous studies showed that  $\beta$ -naphthoflavone has been found to induce CYP35A2 (Menzel et al., 2001; Schafer et al., 2009). However, in the present study, 5 different AhR agonists (TCDD, AZ1c, 3MC, PCB126, AMB) did not induce any of CYP35A2, CYP29A2, or CYP34A9. This may be explained by multiple pathways of metabolism for different chemicals in C. elegans. The AhR agonist chemicals used in this study are poorly soluble in water, and it may be that the concentration of these chemicals was not strong enough to induce CYP35A2 grossly. On the other hand, the lethality test experiment of  $\beta$ -naphthoflavone on wild type C. elegans showed resistance to the toxicity of this compound at the highest soluble concentration. It is not known if  $\beta$ -naphthoflavone is an AhR ligand in C. elegans, and so this drug may be metabolised in a different manner or it induces CYP35A2 at a low level that could not be detected by the assay used here. The study performed by Menzel et al. (2001) induced CYP in transgenic C. elegans that contain transgenic CYP35A2 in the intestine. They detected the induction by visualising the muscle wall florescence, but not measuring the total absorbance from the animal. It is not known if CeAhR induces any of the CYP family in *C. elegans* that are homologous to those in mammals.

## 4.8 Future work

If it is possible to grow 50 litres of E. coli (Arctic Express DE3) this could yield about 5 mg of soluble CeAhR LBD that could be subjected to crystal structure study, or at least protein characterization with different protocols, for example analytical ultra centrfugation. 1 mg of the soluble CeAhR LBD can provide a lot of data about the configuration of CeAhR that could help further studies. It is important to say that CeAhR LBD is a part of a protein. Expression of the whole CeAhR protein is another project. It is not known if the expression of the whole protein may result in better folded AhR with better solubility. It is possible to conjugate CeAhR with both GST and GFP tags at the same time in a new study to enhance the protein's solubility and at the same time help purification easily; the GFP would help protein solubility (Gonzalez-Montalban et al., 2007) and GST tag would help in the purification of CeAhR. It is also possible to study more CYP family members fused with GFP to see if any of these are induced by CeAhR activation. This is not easy work, because C. elegans has 60 different CYP family enzymes. In this case, it would be sensible to apply computer-based homology determinations to find the most homologous CYP enzyme in C. elegans to CYP1A1 in mammals. It is possible later on to fuse this CYP enzyme with GFP and perform an induction study on it. It is important to remember that it is not clear if C. elegans has a xenobiotic metabolic function as in humans, although the data herein implies that it does. It is possible in the future to try more compounds and more types of behavioural assay, for example, brood size assay, growth assay and feeding assay.

## 4.9 Conclusion

It can be concluded from this study that CeAhR has similar criteria to the mammalian AhR. It binds xenobiotic ligands as it does in mammals but perhaps with lower affinity. Therefore, crystal structure work of that protein is more relevant than previously thought. On the other hand, difficulty in expressing CeAhR would be expected as in other species. The success in expressing a very small amount of soluble CeAhR LBD in bacteria is encouraging to continue this work in future with larger scale facilities. Moreover, there is hope to achieve the target of this project in performing a crystal structure study of CeAhR either LBD or the full length protein. It should be emphasised that CeAhR is a receptor that binds ligands, and it is important to study the battery of genes affected by CeAhR. *C. elegans* could be a good model for dioxin toxicity and cancer evolvement that could help in understanding AhR biology. It is worthy to say that *C. elegans* is still a good model for human AhR 3-dimensional structure, despite the difficulties in application.

## References

- Aarnio, V., M. Storvik, M. Lehtonen, S. Asikainen, K. Reisner, J. Callaway, M. Rudgalvyte, M. Lakso and G. Wong (2010). "Fatty acid composition and gene expression profiles are altered in aryl hydrocarbon receptor-1 mutant Caenorhabditis elegans." <u>Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol</u> 151(3): 318-24.
- Abalos, M., J. Parera, A. Estevez, M. Sole, M. C. Fabregat, B. Pina, A. Navarro and E. Abad (2011). "Decontamination trends in the aquacultured fish gilthead seabream (Sparusaurata) after feeding long-term a PCDD/F spiked feed." Chemosphere 1(82): 64-71.
- Abel, J. and T. Haarmann-Stemmann (2010). "An introduction to the molecular basics of aryl hydrocarbon receptor biology." <u>Biol Chem</u>.
- Andreasen, E. A., L. K. Mathew, C. V. Lohr, R. Hasson and R. L. Tanguay (2007).
  "Aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation impairs extracellular matrix remodeling during zebra fish fin regeneration." Toxicol Sci 95(1): 215-26.
- Andreasen, E. A., R. L. Tanguay, R. E. Peterson and W. Heideman (2002). "Identification of a critical amino acid in the aryl hydrocarbon receptor." J <u>Biol Chem</u> 277(15): 13210-8.
- Anttila, S., X. D. Lei, E. Elovaara, A. Karjalainen, W. Sun, H. Vainio and O. Hankinson (2000). "An uncommon phenotype of poor inducibility of CYP1A1 in human lung is not ascribable to polymorphisms in the AHR, ARNT, or CYP1A1 genes." <u>Pharmacogenetics</u> 10(8): 741-51.
- Aylward, L. L., J. C. Lamb and S. C. Lewis (2005). "Issues in risk assessment for developmental effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin and related compounds." <u>Toxicol Sci</u> 87(1): 3-10.

- Backlund, M. and M. Ingelman-Sundberg (2005). "Regulation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor signal transduction by protein tyrosine kinases." <u>Cell Signal</u> 17(1): 39-48.
- Barhoover, M. A., J. M. Hall, W. F. Greenlee and R. S. Thomas (2010). "Aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates cell cycle progression in human breast cancer cells via a functional interaction with cyclin-dependent kinase 4." <u>Mol Pharmacol</u> 77(2): 195-201.
- Beischlag, T. V., J. Luis Morales, B. D. Hollingshead and G. H. Perdew (2008).
  "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor complex and the control of gene expression." <u>Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr</u> 18(3): 207-50.
- Bell, D. R. and A. Poland (2000). "Binding of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) to AhR-interacting protein - The role of hsp90." <u>Journal Of Biological</u> <u>Chemistry</u> 275(46): 36407-36414.
- Bhavnani, B. R. and C. A. Woolever (1981). "In vivo metabolism of [3H]equilin in the pregnant mare." <u>Endocrinology</u> 108(1): 232-8.
- Bickers, D. R. and A. Kappas (1978). "Human skin aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase. Induction by coal tar." <u>J Clin Invest</u> 62(5): 1061-8.
- Birnbaum, L. S. (1994). "The mechanism of dioxin toxicity: relationship to risk assessment." <u>Environ Health Perspect</u> **102 Suppl 9**: 157-67.
- Bisson, W. H., D. C. Koch, E. F. O'Donnell, S. M. Khalil, N. I. Kerkvliet, R. L. Tanguay, R. Abagyan and S. K. Kolluri (2009). "Modeling of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) ligand binding domain and its utility in virtual ligand screening to predict new AhR ligands." J Med Chem 52(18): 5635-41.
- Blankenship, A. and F. Matsumura (1997). "2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxininduced activation of a protein tyrosine kinase, pp60src, in murine hepatic cytosol using a cell-free system." <u>Mol Pharmacol</u> 52(4): 667-75.

- Borlak, J. and H. S. Jenke (2008). "Cross-talk between aryl hydrocarbon receptor and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway in liver cancer through c-raf transcriptional regulation." <u>Mol Cancer Res</u> **6**(8): 1326-36.
- Bradfield, C. A. and A. Poland (1988). "A competitive binding assay for 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin and related ligands of the Ah receptor." <u>Mol</u> <u>Pharmacol</u> **34**(5): 682-8.
- Brauze, D., M. Widerak, J. Cwykiel, K. Szyfter and W. Baer-Dubowska (2006).
  "The effect of aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands on the expression of AhR, AhRR, ARNT, Hif1alpha, CYP1A1 and NQO1 genes in rat liver." <u>Toxicol Lett</u> 167(3): 212-20.
- Bunger, M. K., S. M. Moran, E. Glover, T. L. Thomae, G. P. Lahvis, B. C. Lin and C. A. Bradfield (2003). "Resistance to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin toxicity and abnormal liver development in mice carrying a mutation in the nuclear localization sequence of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor." J Biol <u>Chem</u> 278(20): 17767-74.
- Butler, R. A., M. L. Kelley, W. H. Powell, M. E. Hahn and R. J. Van Beneden (2001). "An aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) homologue from the softshell clam, Mya arenaria: evidence that invertebrate AHR homologues lack 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin and beta-naphthoflavone binding." <u>Gene</u> 278(1-2): 223-34.
- Card, P. B., P. J. Erbel and K. H. Gardner (2005). "Structural basis of ARNT PAS-B dimerization: use of a common beta-sheet interface for hetero- and homodimerization." J Mol Biol 353(3): 664-77.
- Cardozo, T., M. Totrov and R. Abagyan (1995). "Homology modeling by the ICM method." Proteins 23(3): 403-14.
- Cereghino, J. L. and J. M. Cregg (2000). "Heterologous protein expression in the methylotrophic yeast Pichia pastoris." <u>FEMS Microbiol Rev</u> **24**(1): 45-66.

- Chan, W. K., R. Y. Chu, S. Jain, J. K. Reddy and C. A. Bradfield (1994).
  "Baculovirus Expression Of The Ah Receptor And Ah Receptor Nuclear Translocator - Evidence For Additional Dioxin-Responsive Element-Binding Species And Factors Required For Signaling." <u>Journal Of</u> <u>Biological Chemistry</u> 269(42): 26464-26471.
- Chang, C., C. Tesar, M. Gu, G. Babnigg, A. Joachimiak, P. R. Pokkuluri, H. Szurmant and M. Schiffer (2010). "Extracytoplasmic PAS-like domains are common in signal transduction proteins." J Bacteriol **192**(4): 1156-9.
- Chang, J. W., H. L. Chen, H. J. Su, P. C. Liao, H. R. Guo and C. C. Lee (2010).
  "Dioxin exposure and insulin resistance in Taiwanese living near a highly contaminated area." Epidemiology 21(1): 56-61.
- Chang, X. Q., Y. X. Fan, S. Karyala, S. Schwemberger, C. R. Tomlinson, M. A. Sartor and A. Puga (2007). "Ligand-independent regulation of transforming growth factor beta 1 expression and cell cycle progression by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor." <u>Molecular And Cellular Biology</u> 27(17): 6127-6139.
- Chapman-Smith, A., J. K. Lutwyche and M. L. Whitelaw (2004). "Contribution of the Per/Arnt/Sim (PAS) domains to DNA binding by the basic helix-loophelix PAS transcriptional regulators." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 279(7): 5353-62.
- Clarkson, T. W. (1995). "Environmental contaminants in the food chain." <u>Am J</u> <u>Clin Nutr</u> **61**(3 Suppl): 682S-686S.
- Cole, P., D. Trichopoulos, H. Pastides, T. Starr and J. S. Mandel (2003). "Dioxin and cancer: a critical review." <u>Regul Toxicol Pharmacol</u> **38**(3): 378-88.
- Collier, A., L. Orr, J. Morris and J. Blank (2008). "The effects of 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) on the mortality and growth of two amphibian species (Xenopus laevis and Pseudacris triseriata)." <u>Int J</u> <u>Environ Res Public Health 5(5)</u>: 368-77.

- Cregg, J. M., J. L. Cereghino, J. Shi and D. R. Higgins (2000). "Recombinant protein expression in Pichia pastoris." <u>Mol Biotechnol</u> **16**(1): 23-52.
- Crews, S. T. (1998). "Control of cell lineage-specific development and transcription by bHLH-PAS proteins." <u>Genes Dev</u> **12**(5): 607-20.
- Dao-Phan, H. P., P. Formstecher and P. Lefebvre (1997). "Disruption of the glucocorticoid receptor assembly with heat shock protein 90 by a peptidic antiglucocorticoid." <u>Mol Endocrinol</u> 11(7): 962-72.
- de Waard, P. W., A. A. Peijnenburg, H. Baykus, J. M. Aarts, R. L. Hoogenboom, F. J. van Schooten and T. M. de Kok (2008). "A human intervention study with foods containing natural Ah-receptor agonists does not significantly show AhR-mediated effects as measured in blood cells and urine." <u>Chem Biol Interact</u> 176(1): 19-29.
- Dencker, L. (1985). "The role of receptors in 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) toxicity." <u>Arch Toxicol Suppl 8</u>: 43-60.
- Denison, M. S., A. Pandini, S. R. Nagy, E. P. Baldwin and L. Bonati (2002).
  "Ligand binding and activation of the Ah receptor." <u>Chem Biol Interact</u> 141(1-2): 3-24.
- Dolwick, K. M., J. V. Schmidt, L. A. Carver, H. I. Swanson and C. A. Bradfield (1993). "Cloning and expression of a human Ah receptor cDNA." <u>Mol</u> <u>Pharmacol</u> 44(5): 911-7.
- Duncan, D. M., E. A. Burgess and I. Duncan (1998). "Control of distal antennal identity and tarsal development in Drosophila by spineless-aristapedia, a homolog of the mammalian dioxin receptor." <u>Genes Dev</u> 12(9): 1290-303.
- DuSell, C. D., E. R. Nelson, B. M. Wittmann, J. A. Fretz, D. Kazmin, R. S. Thomas, J. W. Pike and D. P. McDonnell (2010). "Regulation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor function by selective estrogen receptor modulators." <u>Mol Endocrinol</u> 24(1): 33-46.

- Dzeletovic, N., J. McGuire, M. Daujat, J. Tholander, M. Ema, Y. FujiiKuriyama, J. Bergman, P. Maurel and L. Poellinger (1997). "Regulation of dioxin receptor function by omeprazole." <u>Journal Of Biological Chemistry</u> 272(19): 12705-12713.
- Ellinger-Ziegelbauer, H., J. Aubrecht, J. C. Kleinjans and H. J. Ahr (2009). "Application of toxicogenomics to study mechanisms of genotoxicity and carcinogenicity." <u>Toxicol Lett</u> 186(1): 36-44.
- Ema, M., N. Ohe, M. Suzuki, J. Mimura, K. Sogawa, S. Ikawa and Y. Fujii-Kuriyama (1994). "Dioxin binding activities of polymorphic forms of mouse and human arylhydrocarbon receptors." <u>J Biol Chem</u> 269(44): 27337-43.
- Emmons, R. B., D. Duncan, P. A. Estes, P. Kiefel, J. T. Mosher, M. Sonnenfeld, M.
  P. Ward, I. Duncan and S. T. Crews (1999). "The spineless-aristapedia and tango bHLH-PAS proteins interact to control antennal and tarsal development in Drosophila." <u>Development</u> 126(17): 3937-45.
- Evans, B. R., S. I. Karchner, D. G. Franks and M. E. Hahn (2005). "Duplicate aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor genes (ahrr1 and ahrr2) in the zebrafish Danio rerio: structure, function, evolution, and AHR-dependent regulation in vivo." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> 441(2): 151-67.
- Fan, M. Q., A. R. Bell, D. R. Bell, S. Clode, A. Fernandes, P. M. D. Foster, J. R. Fry, T. Jiang, G. Loizou, A. MacNicoll, B. G. Miller, M. Rose, O. Shaikh-Omar, L. Tran and S. White (2009). "Recombinant expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor for quantitative ligand-binding analysis." <u>Analytical Biochemistry</u> 384(2): 279.
- Filatova, A. S., A. I. Kuz'minykh and V. B. Kapitul'skii (1973). "[Determination of certain polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the air of working premises for the conversion of coal tar]." <u>Gig Tr Prof Zabol</u> 17(5): 49-52.

- Finn, R. N. (2007). "The physiology and toxicology of salmonid eggs and larvae in relation to water quality criteria." <u>Aquat Toxicol</u> 81(4): 337-54.
- Flaveny, C., G. H. Perdew and C. A. Miller, 3rd (2009). "The Aryl-hydrocarbon receptor does not require the p23 co-chaperone for ligand binding and target gene expression in vivo." <u>Toxicol Lett</u> 189(1): 57-62.
- Fukunaga, B. N., M. R. Probst, S. Reisz-Porszasz and O. Hankinson (1995). "Identification of functional domains of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor." J <u>Biol Chem</u> 270(49): 29270-8.
- Gasiewicz, T. A., E. C. Henry and L. L. Collins (2008). "Expression and activity of aryl hydrocarbon receptors in development and cancer." <u>Crit Rev Eukaryot</u> <u>Gene Expr</u> 18(4): 279-321.
- Gassmann, K., J. Abel, H. Bothe, T. Haarmann-Stemmann, H. F. Merk, K. N. Quasthoff, T. D. Rockel, T. Schreiber and E. Fritsche (2010). "Species-Specific Differential AhR-Expression Protects Human Neural Progenitor Cells Against Developmental Neurotoxicity Of PAHs." <u>Environ Health</u> <u>Perspect</u>.
- Gilbertson, M., T. Kubiak, J. Ludwig and G. Fox (1991). "Great Lakes embryo mortality, edema, and deformities syndrome (GLEMEDS) in colonial fisheating birds: similarity to chick-edema disease." <u>J Toxicol Environ Health</u> 33(4): 455-520.
- Goldstone, J. V., M. E. Jonsson, L. Behrendt, B. R. Woodin, M. J. Jenny, D. R. Nelson and J. J. Stegeman (2009). "Cytochrome P450 1D1: a novel CYP1A-related gene that is not transcriptionally activated by PCB126 or TCDD." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> 482(1-2): 7-16.
- Gomez-Duran, A., J. M. Carvajal-Gonzalez, S. Mulero-Navarro, B. Santiago-Josefat, A. Puga and P. M. Fernandez-Salguero (2009). "Fitting a

xenobiotic receptor into cell homeostasis: how the dioxin receptor interacts with TGFbeta signaling." <u>Biochem Pharmacol</u> **77**(4): 700-12.

- Gonzalez-Montalban, G.-F. N. and V. E., A. (2007). "Recombinant protein solubility does more mean better?" <u>Nat Biotechnol</u> **25**(7): 718-20.
- Gramatzki, D., G. Pantazis, J. Schittenhelm, G. Tabatabai, C. Kohle, W. Wick, M. Schwarz, M. Weller and I. Tritschler (2009). "Aryl hydrocarbon receptor inhibition downregulates the TGF-beta/Smad pathway in human glioblastoma cells." <u>Oncogene</u> 28(28): 2593-605.
- Gregory A Petsko, D. R. (2009). <u>Protein Structure and Function</u>. New York, Oxford University Press.
- Hahn, M. E. (1998). "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor: a comparative perspective." Comp Biochem Physiol C Pharmacol Toxicol Endocrinol **121**(1-3): 23-53.
- Hahn, M. E. (2002). "Aryl hydrocarbon receptors: diversity and evolution." <u>Chem</u> <u>Biol Interact</u> 141(1-2): 131-60.
- Hahn, M. E., S. I. Karchner, M. A. Shapiro and S. A. Perera (1997). "Molecular evolution of two vertebrate aryl hydrocarbon (dioxin) receptors (AHR1 and AHR2) and the PAS family." <u>Proceedings Of The National Academy Of</u> <u>Sciences Of The United States Of America 94</u>(25): 13743-13748.
- Hahn, M. E., S. I. Karchner, M. A. Shapiro and S. A. Perera (1997). "Molecular evolution of two vertebrate aryl hydrocarbon (dioxin) receptors (AHR1 and AHR2) and the PAS family." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> 94(25): 13743-8.
- Hahn, M. E., A. Poland, E. Glover and J. J. Stegeman (1994). "Photoaffinity labeling of the Ah receptor: phylogenetic survey of diverse vertebrate and invertebrate species." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> **310**(1): 218-28.
- Hankinson, O. (1995). "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor complex." <u>Annu Rev</u> <u>Pharmacol Toxicol</u> **35**: 307-40.

- Harper, P. A., J. Y. Wong, M. S. Lam and A. B. Okey (2002). "Polymorphisms in the human AH receptor." <u>Chem Biol Interact</u> 141(1-2): 161-87.
- Head, J. A. and S. W. Kennedy (2010). "Correlation between an in vitro and an in vivo measure of dioxin sensitivity in birds." Ecotoxicology **19**(2): 377-82.
- Hennig, S., H. M. Strauss, K. Vanselow, O. Yildiz, S. Schulze, J. Arens, A. Kramer and E. Wolf (2009). "Structural and functional analyses of PAS domain interactions of the clock proteins Drosophila PERIOD and mouse PERIOD2." <u>PLoS Biol</u> 7(4): e94.
- Henry, E. C. and T. A. Gasiewicz (2008). "Molecular determinants of speciesspecific agonist and antagonist activity of a substituted flavone towards the aryl hydrocarbon receptor." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> **472**(2): 77-88.
- Henry, E. C. and T. A. Gasiewicz (2008). "Molecular determinants of speciesspecific agonist and antagonist activity of a substituted flavone towards the aryl hydrocarbon receptor." <u>Archives Of Biochemistry And Biophysics</u> 472(2): 77-88.
- Henry, E. C., S. L. Welle and T. A. Gasiewicz (2010). "TCDD and a putative endogenous AhR ligand, ITE, elicit the same immediate changes in gene expression in mouse lung fibroblasts." <u>Toxicol Sci</u> **114**(1): 90-100.
- Herrero, E. and R. Sentandreu (1988). "Protein secretion and compartmentalization in yeast." <u>Microbiologia</u> **4**(2): 73-85.
- Hornung, M. W., J. M. Spitsbergen and R. E. Peterson (1999). "2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin alters cardiovascular and craniofacial development and function in sac fry of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)." <u>Toxicol Sci</u> 47(1): 40-51.
- Howard, G. J., J. J. Schlezinger, M. E. Hahn and T. F. Webster (2010). "Generalized concentration addition predicts joint effects of aryl

hydrocarbon receptor agonists with partial agonists and competitive antagonists." <u>Environ Health Perspect 118(5)</u>: 666-72.

- Huang, X., J. A. Powell-Coffman and Y. Jin (2004). "The AHR-1 aryl hydrocarbon receptor and its co-factor the AHA-1 aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator specify GABAergic neuron cell fate in C. elegans." <u>Development</u> 131(4): 819-28.
- Imamoto, Y. and M. Kataoka (2007). "Structure and photoreaction of photoactive yellow protein, a structural prototype of the PAS domain superfamily." <u>Photochem Photobiol</u> 83(1): 40-9.
- Jensen, B. A. and M. E. Hahn (2001). "cDNA cloning and characterization of a high affinity aryl hydrocarbon receptor in a cetacean, the beluga, Delphinapterus leucas." <u>Toxicol Sci</u> 64(1): 41-56.
- Jensen, K. A., T. C. Luu and W. K. Chan (2006). "A truncated Ah receptor blocks the hypoxia and estrogen receptor signaling pathways: a viable approach for breast cancer treatment." <u>Mol Pharm</u> **3**(6): 695-703.
- Jiang, T., D. R. Bell, S. Clode, M. Q. Fan, A. Fernandes, P. M. Foster, G. Loizou, A. MacNicoll, B. G. Miller, M. Rose, L. Tran and S. White (2009). "A truncation in the aryl hydrocarbon receptor of the CRL:WI(Han) rat does not affect the developmental toxicity of TCDD." <u>Toxicol Sci</u> 107(2): 512-21.
- Jinno, A., Y. Maruyama, M. Ishizuka, A. Kazusaka, A. Nakamura and S. Fujita (2006). "Induction of cytochrome P450-1A by the equine estrogen equilenin, a new endogenous aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligand." <u>J Steroid</u> <u>Biochem Mol Biol</u> 98(1): 48-55.
- Jogalekar, A. S., S. Reiling and R. J. Vaz (2010). "Identification of optimum computational protocols for modeling the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) and its interaction with ligands." <u>Bioorg Med Chem Lett</u> **20**(22): 6616-9.

- Jonsson, M. E., C. Berg, J. V. Goldstone and J. J. Stegeman (2011). "New CYP1 genes in the frog Xenopus (Silurana) tropicalis: induction patterns and effects of AHR agonists during development." <u>Toxicol Appl Pharmacol</u> 250(2): 170-83.
- Jonsson, M. E., M. J. Jenny, B. R. Woodin, M. E. Hahn and J. J. Stegeman (2007). "Role of AHR2 in the expression of novel cytochrome P450 1 family genes, cell cycle genes, and morphological defects in developing zebra fish exposed to 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl or 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin." Toxicol Sci 100(1): 180-93.
- Jonsson, M. E., R. Orrego, B. R. Woodin, J. V. Goldstone and J. J. Stegeman (2007). "Basal and 3,3',4,4',5-pentachlorobiphenyl-induced expression of cytochrome P450 1A, 1B and 1C genes in zebrafish." <u>Toxicol Appl</u> <u>Pharmacol</u> 221(1): 29-41.
- Kamae, Y., F. Tanaka and K. Tomioka (2010). "Molecular cloning and functional analysis of the clock genes, Clock and cycle, in the firebrat Thermobia domestica." <u>J Insect Physiol</u> 56(9): 1291-9.
- Kamphues, J. and A. J. Schulz (2006). "[Dioxins: risk management by agriculture and feed industry--options and limits]." <u>Dtsch Tierarztl Wochenschr</u> 113(8): 298-303.
- Karchner, S. I., D. G. Franks, S. W. Kennedy and M. E. Hahn (2006). "The molecular basis for differential dioxin sensitivity in birds: role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(16): 6252-7.
- Karchner, S. I., D. G. Franks, W. H. Powell and M. E. Hahn (2002). "Regulatory interactions among three members of the vertebrate aryl hydrocarbon receptor family: AHR repressor, AHR1, and AHR2." J Biol Chem 277(9): 6949-59.

- Karchner, S. I., S. W. Kennedy, S. Trudeau and M. E. Hahn (2000). "Towards molecular understanding of species differences in dioxin sensitivity: initial characterization of Ah receptor cDNAs in birds and an amphibian." <u>Mar</u> <u>Environ Res</u> 50(1-5): 51-6.
- Karchner, S. I., W. H. Powell and M. E. Hahn (1999). "Identification and functional characterization of two highly divergent aryl hydrocarbon receptors (AHR1 and AHR2) in the teleost Fundulus heteroclitus. Evidence for a novel subfamily of ligand-binding basic helix loop helix-Per-ARNT-Sim (bHLH-PAS) factors." J Biol Chem 274(47): 33814-24.
- Kattainen, H., J. Tuukkanen, U. Simanainen, J. T. Tuomisto, O. Kovero, P. L. Lukinmaa, S. Alaluusua, J. Tuomisto and M. Viluksela (2001). "In utero/lactational 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin exposure impairs molar tooth development in rats." <u>Toxicol Appl Pharmacol</u> 174(3): 216-24.
- Kawajiri, K., J. Watanabe, H. Eguchi, K. Nakachi, C. Kiyohara and S. Hayashi (1995). "Polymorphisms of human Ah receptor gene are not involved in lung cancer." <u>Pharmacogenetics</u> 5(3): 151-8.
- Kawakami, H., Y. Amakura, T. Tsutsumi, K. Sasaki, A. Iketsu, M. Inasaki, E. Kubota and M. Toyoda (2010). "Correlation of fat content and dioxins, total mercury and methyl mercury levels in tuna." <u>Shokuhin Eiseigaku</u> <u>Zasshi</u> 51(5): 258-63.
- Kazlauskas, A., L. Poellinger and I. Pongratz (1999). "Evidence that the cochaperone p23 regulates ligand responsiveness of the dioxin (Aryl hydrocarbon) receptor." J Biol Chem 274(19): 13519-24.
- Kazlauskas, A., S. Sundstrom, L. Poellinger and I. Pongratz (2001). "The hsp90 chaperone complex regulates intracellular localization of the dioxin receptor." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 21(7): 2594-607.

- Kikani, C. K., S. A. Antonysamy, J. B. Bonanno, R. Romero, F. F. Zhang, M. Russell, T. Gheyi, M. Iizuka, S. Emtage, J. M. Sauder, B. E. Turk, S. K. Burley and J. Rutter (2010). "Structural bases of PAS domain-regulated kinase (PASK) activation in the absence of activation loop phosphorylation." J Biol Chem.
- Kleman, M. I., L. Poellinger and J. A. Gustafsson (1994). "Regulation of human dioxin receptor function by indolocarbazoles, receptor ligands of dietary origin." J Biol Chem 269(7): 5137-44.
- Kociba, R. J. and B. A. Schwetz (1982). "Toxicity of 2, 3, 7, 8-tetrachlorodibenzop-dioxin (TCDD)." <u>Drug Metab Rev</u> **13**(3): 387-406.
- Kopp, A., I. Duncan, D. Godt and S. B. Carroll (2000). "Genetic control and evolution of sexually dimorphic characters in Drosophila." <u>Nature</u> 408(6812): 553-9.
- Kramarova, E., M. Kogevinas, C. T. Anh, H. D. Cau, L. C. Dai, S. D. Stellman and D. M. Parkin (1998). "Exposure to Agent Orange and occurrence of softtissue sarcomas or non-Hodgkin lymphomas: an ongoing study in Vietnam." <u>Environ Health Perspect</u> **106 Suppl 2**: 671-8.
- Kumauchi, M., S. Kaledhonkar, A. F. Philip, J. Wycoff, M. Hara, Y. Li, A. Xie and W. D. Hoff (2010). "A Conserved Helical Capping Hydrogen Bond in PAS Domains Controls Signaling Kinetics in the Superfamily Prototype Photoactive Yellow Protein." J Am Chem Soc 132(44): 15820-30.
- Kung, T., K. A. Murphy and L. A. White (2009). "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) pathway as a regulatory pathway for cell adhesion and matrix metabolism." <u>Biochem Pharmacol</u> 77(4): 536-46.
- LaKind, J. S. and J. G. Filser (1999). "Dietary exposure to PCBs and dioxins." <u>Environ Health Perspect</u> **107**(10): A495-7.

- Law, J. M. (2001). "Mechanistic considerations in small fish carcinogenicity testing." <u>Ilar J</u> 42(4): 274-84.
- Leontiou, C. A., M. Gueorguiev, J. van der Spuy, R. Quinton, F. Lolli, S. Hassan, H. S. Chahal, S. C. Igreja, S. Jordan, J. Rowe, M. Stolbrink, H. C. Christian, J. Wray, D. Bishop-Bailey, D. M. Berney, J. A. Wass, V. Popovic, A. Ribeiro-Oliveira, Jr., M. R. Gadelha, J. P. Monson, S. A. Akker, J. R. Davis, R. N. Clayton, K. Yoshimoto, T. Iwata, A. Matsuno, K. Eguchi, M. Musat, D. Flanagan, G. Peters, G. B. Bolger, J. P. Chapple, L. A. Frohman, A. B. Grossman and M. Korbonits (2008). "The role of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor-interacting protein gene in familial and sporadic pituitary adenomas." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93(6): 2390-401.
- Leung, H. W., B. D. Kerger and D. J. Paustenbach (2006). "Elimination half-lives of selected polychlorinated dibenzodioxins and dibenzofurans in breast-fed human infants." J Toxicol Environ Health A 69(6): 437-43.
- Lin Cereghino, G. P., A. J. Sunga, J. Lin Cereghino and J. M. Cregg (2001).
  "Expression of foreign genes in the yeast Pichia pastoris." <u>Genet Eng (N Y)</u>
  23: 157-69.
- Lin, P., H. Chang, W. L. Ho, M. H. Wu and J. M. Su (2003). "Association of aryl hydrocarbon receptor and cytochrome P4501B1 expressions in human nonsmall cell lung cancers." <u>Lung Cancer</u> 42(3): 255-261.
- Liu, L., S. Endo, C. Eberhardt, P. Grathwohl and T. C. Schmidt (2009). "Partition behavior of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons between aged coal tar and water." <u>Environ Toxicol Chem</u> 28(8): 1578-84.
- Lo Piparo, E., K. Koehler, A. Chana and E. Benfenati (2006). "Virtual screening for aryl hydrocarbon receptor binding prediction." <u>J Med Chem</u> **49**(19): 5702-9.

- Lohmann, R., R. G. Lee, J. Abbott, P. Coleman and K. C. Jones (2006). "Verifying emission factors and national POPs emission inventories for the UK using measurements and modelling at two rural locations." <u>J Environ Monit</u> 8(1): 79-88.
- Loonen, H., C. van de Guchte, J. R. Parsons, P. de Voogt and H. A. Govers (1996).
  "Ecological hazard assessment of dioxins: hazards to organisms at different levels of aquatic food webs (fish-eating birds and mammals, fish and invertebrates)." Sci Total Environ 182(1-3): 93-103.
- Luan, C. H., S. Qiu, J. B. Finley, M. Carson, R. J. Gray, W. Huang, D. Johnson, J. Tsao, J. Reboul, P. Vaglio, D. E. Hill, M. Vidal, L. J. Delucas and M. Luo (2004). "High-throughput expression of C. elegans proteins." <u>Genome Res</u> 14(10B): 2102-10.
- Lustig, K. C. and E. B. Kirsten (1974). "The site of action of AHR-2666 in frog sartorius muscle." <u>J Pharmacol Exp Ther</u> **191**(1): 156-63.
- Lycheva, T. A., I. A. Khitrovo, G. Kosoi, A. Khesina and G. A. Belitskii (1990). "[The mutagenic activity of coal tar]." <u>Eksp Onkol</u> **12**(2): 17-20.
- Ma, C., J. L. Marlowe and A. Puga (2009). "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor at the crossroads of multiple signaling pathways." <u>Exs</u> **99**: 231-57.
- Machado, F. S., J. E. Johndrow, L. Esper, A. Dias, A. Bafica, C. N. Serhan and J. Aliberti (2006). "Anti-inflammatory actions of lipoxin A4 and aspirin-triggered lipoxin are SOCS-2 dependent." <u>Nat Med</u> 12(3): 330-4.
- Mahadevan, B., C. P. Marston, A. Luch, W. M. Dashwood, E. Brooks, C. Pereira, J. Doehmer and W. M. Baird (2007). "Competitive inhibition of carcinogen-activating CYP1A1 and CYP1B1 enzymes by a standardized complex mixture of PAH extracted from coal tar." <u>Int J Cancer</u> 120(6): 1161-8.

- Marlowe, J. L. and A. Puga (2005). "Aryl hydrocarbon receptor, cell cycle regulation, toxicity, and tumorigenesis." J Cell Biochem **96**(6): 1174-84.
- Marty, J., P. Lesca, A. Jaylet, C. Ardourel and J. L. Riviere (1989). "In vivo and in vitro metabolism of benzo(a)pyrene by the larva of the newt, Pleurodeles waltl." <u>Comp Biochem Physiol C</u> 93(2): 213-9.
- McIntosh, B. E., J. B. Hogenesch and C. A. Bradfield (2010). "Mammalian Per-Arnt-Sim proteins in environmental adaptation." <u>Annu Rev Physiol</u> 72: 625-45.
- Menzel, R., T. Bogaert and R. Achazi (2001). "A systematic gene expression screen of Caenorhabditis elegans cytochrome P450 genes reveals CYP35 as strongly xenobiotic inducible." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> **395**(2): 158-68.
- Merson, R. R., S. I. Karchner and M. E. Hahn (2009). "Interaction of fish aryl hydrocarbon receptor paralogs (AHR1 and AHR2) with the retinoblastoma protein." <u>Aquat Toxicol</u> 94(1): 47-55.
- Meulenbelt, J. and I. de Vries (2005). "[Toxicity of dioxins in humans]." <u>Ned</u> <u>Tijdschr Geneeskd</u> **149**(4): 168-71.
- Moennikes, O., S. Loeppen, A. Buchmann, P. Andersson, C. Ittrich, L. Poellinger and M. Schwarz (2004). "A constitutively active dioxin/aryl hydrocarbon receptor promotes hepatocarcinogenesis in mice." <u>Cancer Res</u> 64(14): 4707-10.
- Monteiro, P., D. Gilot, E. Le Ferrec, C. Rauch, D. Lagadic-Gossmann and O. Fardel (2008). "Dioxin-mediated up-regulation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor target genes is dependent on the calcium/calmodulin/CaMKI alpha pathway." <u>Molecular Pharmacology</u> 73(3): 769-777.
- Nebert, D. W., T. P. Dalton, A. B. Okey and F. J. Gonzalez (2004). "Role of aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated induction of the CYP1 enzymes in environmental toxicity and cancer." J Biol Chem **279**(23): 23847-50.

- Nebert, D. W., A. Puga and V. Vasiliou (1993). "Role of the Ah receptor and the dioxin-inducible [Ah] gene battery in toxicity, cancer, and signal transduction." <u>Ann N Y Acad Sci</u> 685: 624-40.
- Nebert, D. W., A. L. Roe, M. Z. Dieter, W. A. Solis, Y. Yang and T. P. Dalton (2000). "Role of the aromatic hydrocarbon receptor and [Ah] gene battery in the oxidative stress response, cell cycle control, and apoptosis." <u>Biochem Pharmacol</u> 59(1): 65-85.
- Necela, B. and R. S. Pollenz (2001). "Identification of a novel C-terminal domain involved in the negative function of the rainbow trout Ah receptor nuclear translocator protein isoform a (rtARNTa) in Ah receptor-mediated signaling." Biochem Pharmacol **62**(3): 307-18.
- Nguyen, L. P. and C. A. Bradfield (2008). "The search for endogenous activators of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor." <u>Chem Res Toxicol</u> **21**(1): 102-16.
- Nishiumi, S., N. Yamamoto, R. Kodoi, I. Fukuda, K. Yoshida and H. Ashida (2008). "Antagonistic and agonistic effects of indigoids on the transformation of an aryl hydrocarbon receptor." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> 470(2): 187-99.
- Nukaya, M., B. C. Lin, E. Glover, S. M. Moran, G. D. Kennedy and C. A. Bradfield (2010). "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor-interacting protein (AIP) is required for dioxin-induced hepatotoxicity, but not for the induction of the CYP1A1 and CYP1A2 genes." J Biol Chem.
- Olson, J. R. (1986). "Metabolism and disposition of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin in guinea pigs." <u>Toxicol Appl Pharmacol</u> **85**(2): 263-73.
- Orstan, A., M. F. Lulka, B. Eide, P. H. Petra and J. B. Ross (1986). "Steroidbinding site of human and rabbit sex steroid binding protein of plasma: fluorescence characterization with equilenin." <u>Biochemistry</u> 25(9): 2686-92.

- Pandelova, M., I. Stanev, B. Henkelmann, D. Lenoir and K. W. Schramm (2009). "Correlation of PCDD/F and PCB at combustion experiments using wood and hospital waste. Influence of (NH(4))(2)SO(4) as additive on PCDD/F and PCB emissions." <u>Chemosphere</u> **75**(5): 685-91.
- Pandini, A. and L. Bonati (2005). "Conservation and specialization in PAS domain dynamics." <u>Protein Eng Des Sel</u> 18(3): 127-37.
- Pandini, A., M. S. Denison, Y. Song, A. A. Soshilov and L. Bonati (2007).
   "Structural and functional characterization of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligand binding domain by homology modeling and mutational analysis."
   <u>Biochemistry</u> 46(3): 696-708.
- Pandini, A., A. A. Soshilov, Y. Song, J. Zhao, L. Bonati and M. S. Denison (2009).
  "Detection of the TCDD binding-fingerprint within the Ah receptor ligand binding domain by structurally driven mutagenesis and functional analysis." Biochemistry 48(25): 5972-83.
- Panganiban, G. (2000). "Distal-less function during Drosophila appendage and sense organ development." <u>Dev Dyn</u> **218**(4): 554-62.
- Partch, C. L. and K. H. Gardner (2010). "Coactivator recruitment: a new role for PAS domains in transcriptional regulation by the bHLH-PAS family." J <u>Cell Physiol</u> 223(3): 553-7.
- Pasanen, A., M. Heikkila, K. Rautavuoma, M. Hirsila, K. I. Kivirikko and J. Myllyharju (2010). "Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-3alpha is subject to extensive alternative splicing in human tissues and cancer cells and is regulated by HIF-1 but not HIF-2." Int J Biochem Cell Biol 42(7): 1189-200.
- Patel, M. R., B. E. Scheffler, L. Wang and K. L. Willett (2006). "Effects of benzo(a)pyrene exposure on killifish (Fundulus heteroclitus) aromatase activities and mRNA." <u>Aquat Toxicol</u> 77(3): 267-78.

- Pearce, E. N. and L. E. Braverman (2009). "Environmental pollutants and the thyroid." <u>Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> 23(6): 801-13.
- Pellequer, J. L., K. A. Wager-Smith, S. A. Kay and E. D. Getzoff (1998).
  "Photoactive yellow protein: a structural prototype for the three-dimensional fold of the PAS domain superfamily." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S</u> <u>A</u> 95(11): 5884-90.
- Pesatori, A. C., A. Baccarelli, D. Consonni, A. Lania, P. Beck-Peccoz, P. A. Bertazzi and A. Spada (2008). "Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-interacting protein and pituitary adenomas: a population-based study on subjects exposed to dioxin after the Seveso, Italy, accident." <u>Eur J Endocrinol</u> 159(6): 699-703.
- Petersen, S. L., S. Krishnan and E. D. Hudgens (2006). "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor pathway and sexual differentiation of neuroendocrine functions." <u>Endocrinology</u> 147(6): S33-S42.
- Petrulis, J. R. and G. H. Perdew (2002). "The role of chaperone proteins in the aryl hydrocarbon receptor core complex." <u>Chem Biol Interact</u> **141**(1-2): 25-40.
- Phelan, D., G. M. Winter, W. J. Rogers, J. C. Lam and M. S. Denison (1998)."Activation of the Ah receptor signal transduction pathway by bilirubin and biliverdin." Arch Biochem Biophys 357(1): 155-63.
- Pirard, C. and E. De Pauw (2006). "Toxicokinetic study of dioxins and furans in laying chickens." <u>Environ Int</u> **32**(4): 466-9.
- Pocar, P., B. Fischer, T. Klonisch and S. Hombach-Klonisch (2005). "Molecular interactions of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and its biological and toxicological relevance for reproduction." <u>Reproduction</u> 129(4): 379-89.
- Pohl, H., C. DeRosa and J. Holler (1995). "Public health assessment for dioxins exposure from soil." <u>Chemosphere</u> **31**(1): 2437-54.

- Poland, A., E. Clover, A. S. Kende, M. DeCamp and C. M. Giandomenico (1976).
  "3,4,3',4'-Tetrachloro azoxybenzene and azobenzene: potent inducers of aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase." <u>Science</u> 194(4265): 627-30.
- Poland, A., E. Glover, F. H. Ebetino and A. S. Kende (1986). "Photoaffinity labeling of the Ah receptor." J Biol Chem **261**(14): 6352-65.
- Poland, A., D. Palen and E. Glover (1994). "Analysis of the four alleles of the murine aryl hydrocarbon receptor." <u>Mol Pharmacol</u> 46(5): 915-21.
- Powell-Coffman, J. A., C. A. Bradfield and W. B. Wood (1998). "Caenorhabditis elegans orthologs of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and its heterodimerization partner the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(6): 2844-9.
- Powell-Coffman, J. A., C. A. Bradfield and W. B. Wood (1998). "Caenorhabditis elegans orthologs of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and its heterodimerization partner the aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator." <u>Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The</u> <u>United States Of America</u> **95**(6): 2844-2849.
- Powell, W. H., R. Bright, S. M. Bello and M. E. Hahn (2000). "Developmental and tissue-specific expression of AHR1, AHR2, and ARNT2 in dioxin-sensitive and -resistant populations of the marine fish Fundulus heteroclitus." <u>Toxicol Sci 57(2)</u>: 229-39.
- Powell, W. H. and M. E. Hahn (2000). "The evolution of aryl hydrocarbon signaling proteins: diversity of ARNT isoforms among fish species." <u>Mar</u> <u>Environ Res</u> 50(1-5): 39-44.
- Prochazkova, J., A. Kozubik, M. Machala and J. Vondracek (2010). "Differential effects of indirubin and 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin on the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) signalling in liver progenitor cells." <u>Toxicology</u>.

- Qian, Z., W. Yue and B. Li (2010). "[Progress of CypA and lung cancer-related research]." <u>Zhongguo Fei Ai Za Zhi</u> **13**(8): 827-31.
- Qin, H. and J. A. Powell-Coffman (2004). "The Caenorhabditis elegans aryl hydrocarbon receptor, AHR-1, regulates neuronal development." <u>Dev Biol</u> 270(1): 64-75.
- Qin, H., Z. Zhai and J. A. Powell-Coffman (2006). "The Caenorhabditis elegans AHR-1 transcription complex controls expression of soluble guanylate cyclase genes in the URX neurons and regulates aggregation behavior." <u>Dev Biol</u> 298(2): 606-15.
- Qin, H. T. and J. A. Powell-Coffman (2004). "The Caenorhabditis elegans aryl hydrocarbon receptor, AHR-1, regulates neuronal development." <u>Developmental Biology</u> 270(1): 64-75.
- Qiu, M., A. Bulfone, I. Ghattas, J. J. Meneses, L. Christensen, P. T. Sharpe, R. Presley, R. A. Pedersen and J. L. Rubenstein (1997). "Role of the Dlx homeobox genes in proximodistal patterning of the branchial arches: mutations of Dlx-1, Dlx-2, and Dlx-1 and -2 alter morphogenesis of proximal skeletal and soft tissue structures derived from the first and second arches." Dev Biol 185(2): 165-84.
- Qu, X., R. P. Metz, W. W. Porter, N. Neuendorff, B. J. Earnest and D. J. Earnest (2010). "The clock genes period 1 and period 2 mediate diurnal rhythms in dioxin-induced Cyp1A1 expression in the mouse mammary gland and liver." <u>Toxicol Lett</u> **196**(1): 28-32.
- Ramadoss, P. and G. H. Perdew (2005). "The transactivation domain of the Ah receptor is a key determinant of cellular localization and ligandindependent nucleocytoplasmic shuttling properties." <u>Biochemistry</u> 44(33): 11148-59.

- Rowlands, C. J., D. F. Staskal, B. Gollapudi and R. Budinsky (2010). "The human AHR: identification of single nucleotide polymorphisms from six ethnic populations." <u>Pharmacogenet Genomics</u> 20(5): 283-90.
- Safe, S. (2001). "Molecular biology of the Ah receptor and its role in carcinogenesis." <u>Toxicol Lett</u> **120**(1-3): 1-7.
- Sanchez, Y., D. Rosado Jde, L. Vega, G. Elizondo, E. Estrada-Muniz, R. Saavedra, I. Juarez and M. Rodriguez-Sosa (2010). "The unexpected role for the aryl hydrocarbon receptor on susceptibility to experimental toxoplasmosis." J <u>Biomed Biotechnol</u> 2010: 505694.
- Sato, S., H. Shirakawa, S. Tomita, Y. Ohsaki, K. Haketa, O. Tooi, N. Santo, M. Tohkin, Y. Furukawa, F. J. Gonzalez and M. Komai (2008). "Low-dose dioxins alter gene expression related to cholesterol biosynthesis, lipogenesis, and glucose metabolism through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated pathway in mouse liver ." <u>Toxicology and Applied</u> Pharmacology **229**(1): 10-19.
- Saurabh, K., A. Sharma, S. Yadav and D. Parmar (2010). "Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon metabolizing cytochrome P450s in freshly prepared uncultured rat blood lymphocytes." <u>Biochem Pharmacol</u> 79(8): 1182-8.
- Sawyer, T., D. Jones, K. Rosanoff, G. Mason, J. Piskorska-Pliszczynska and S. Safe (1986). "The biologic and toxic effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzop-dioxin in chickens." <u>Toxicology</u> **39**(2): 197-206.
- Schafer, P., M. Muller, A. Kruger, C. E. Steinberg and R. Menzel (2009).
  "Cytochrome P450-dependent metabolism of PCB52 in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> 488(1): 60-8.
- Schaldach, C. M., J. Riby and L. F. Bjeldanes (1999). "Lipoxin A4: a new class of ligand for the Ah receptor." <u>Biochemistry</u> 38(23): 7594-600.

- Schecter, A., J. J. Ryan and O. Papke (1998). "Decrease in levels and body burden of dioxins, dibenzofurans, PCBS, DDE, and HCB in blood and milk in a mother nursing twins over a thirty-eight month period." <u>Chemosphere</u> 37(9-12): 1807-16.
- Schmidt, J. V. and C. A. Bradfield (1996). "Ah receptor signaling pathways." <u>Annu</u> <u>Rev Cell Dev Biol</u> **12**: 55-89.
- Schmidt, J. V., G. H. T. Su, J. K. Reddy, M. C. Simon and C. A. Bradfield (1996).
  "Characterization of a murine Ahr null allele: Involvement of the Ah receptor in hepatic growth and development." <u>Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America</u> 93(13): 6731-6736.
- Schrenk, D., D. Riebniger, M. Till, S. Vetter and H. P. Fiedler (1999). "Tryptanthrins and other tryptophan-derived agonists of the dioxin receptor." <u>Adv Exp Med Biol</u> 467: 403-8.
- Schwarz, M. and K. E. Appel (2005). "Carcinogenic risks of dioxin: mechanistic considerations." <u>Regul Toxicol Pharmacol</u> 43(1): 19-34.
- Seidel, S. D., V. Li, G. M. Winter, W. J. Rogers, E. I. Martinez and M. S. Denison (2000). "Ah receptor-based chemical screening bioassays: application and limitations for the detection of Ah receptor agonists." <u>Toxicol Sci</u> 55(1): 107-15.
- Sharara, F. I., D. B. Seifer and J. A. Flaws (1998). "Environmental toxicants and female reproduction." <u>Fertil Steril</u> **70**(4): 613-22.
- Sinal, C. J. and J. R. Bend (1997). "Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-dependent induction of cyp1a1 by bilirubin in mouse hepatoma hepa 1c1c7 cells." <u>Mol Pharmacol</u> 52(4): 590-9.

- Smart, J. and A. K. Daly (2000). "Variation in induced CYP1A1 levels: relationship to CYP1A1, Ah receptor and GSTM1 polymorphisms." <u>Pharmacogenetics</u> 10(1): 11-24.
- Somers, D. E., T. F. Schultz, M. Milnamow and S. A. Kay (2000). "ZEITLUPE encodes a novel clock-associated PAS protein from Arabidopsis." <u>Cell</u> **101**(3): 319-29.
- Srivastava, S., M. Singh, J. George, K. Bhui, A. Murari Saxena and Y. Shukla (2010). "Genotoxic and carcinogenic risks associated with the dietary consumption of repeatedly heated coconut oil." <u>Br J Nutr</u> 104(9): 1343-52.
- Srivastava, S., M. Singh, J. George, K. Bhui and Y. Shukla (2010). "Genotoxic and Carcinogenic Risks Associated with the Consumption of Repeatedly Boiled Sunflower Oil." <u>J Agric Food Chem</u>.
- Stevens, E. A., J. D. Mezrich and C. A. Bradfield (2009). "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor: a perspective on potential roles in the immune system." <u>Immunology</u> 127(3): 299-311.
- Sun, Y. V., D. R. Boverhof, L. D. Burgoon, M. R. Fielden and T. R. Zacharewski (2004). "Comparative analysis of dioxin response elements in human, mouse and rat genomic sequences." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 32(15): 4512-23.
- Tang, N. J., J. Liu, P. J. Coenraads, L. Dong, L. J. Zhao, S. W. Ma, X. Chen, C. M. Zhang, X. M. Ma, W. G. Wei, P. Zhang and Z. P. Bai (2008). "Expression of AhR, CYP1A1, GSTA1, c-fos and TGF-alpha in skin lesions from dioxin-exposed humans with chloracne." <u>Toxicology Letters</u> 177(3): 182-187.
- Tanguay, R. L., E. Andreasen, W. Heideman and R. E. Peterson (2000). "Identification and expression of alternatively spliced aryl hydrocarbon nuclear translocator 2 (ARNT2) cDNAs from zebrafish with distinct functions." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> 1494(1-2): 117-28.

- Tauchi, M., A. Hida, T. Negishi, F. Katsuoka, S. Noda, J. Mimura, T. Hosoya, A. Yanaka, H. Aburatani, Y. Fujii-Kuriyama, H. Motohashi and M. Yamamoto (2005). "Constitutive expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor in keratinocytes causes inflammatory skin lesions." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 25(21): 9360-8.
- Thomas, B. L., A. S. Tucker, M. Qui, C. A. Ferguson, Z. Hardcastle, J. L. Rubenstein and P. T. Sharpe (1997). "Role of Dlx-1 and Dlx-2 genes in patterning of the murine dentition." Development 124(23): 4811-8.
- Trepel, J., M. Mollapour, G. Giaccone and L. Neckers (2010). "Targeting the dynamic HSP90 complex in cancer." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **10**(8): 537-49.
- Trombino, A. F., R. I. Near, R. A. Matulka, S. Yang, L. J. Hafer, P. A. Toselli, D. W. Kim, A. E. Rogers, G. E. Sonenshein and D. H. Sherr (2000).
  "Expression of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor/transcription factor (AhR) and AhR-regulated CYP1 gene transcripts in a rat model of mammary tumorigenesis." <u>Breast Cancer Research And Treatment</u> 63(2): 117-131.
- Vreede, J., M. A. van der Horst, K. J. Hellingwerf, W. Crielaard and D. M. van Aalten (2003). "PAS domains. Common structure and common flexibility." J Biol Chem 278(20): 18434-9.
- Vuori, K. A., E. Nordlund, J. Kallio, T. Salakoski and M. Nikinmaa (2008).
  "Tissue-specific expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor and putative developmental regulatory modules in Baltic salmon yolk-sac fry." <u>Aquatic Toxicology</u> 87(1): 19-27.
- Walisser, J. A., E. Glover, K. Pande, A. L. Liss and C. A. Bradfield (2005). "Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-dependent liver development and hepatotoxicity are mediated by different cell types." <u>Proceedings Of The National Academy</u> <u>Of Sciences Of The United States Of America</u> 102(49): 17858-17863.

- Waller, C. L. and J. D. McKinney (1995). "Three-dimensional quantitative structure-activity relationships of dioxins and dioxin-like compounds: model validation and Ah receptor characterization." <u>Chem Res Toxicol</u> 8(6): 847-58.
- Wang, L., X. F. Liang, W. B. Zhang, K. S. Mai, Y. Huang and D. Shen (2009). "Amnesic shellfish poisoning toxin stimulates the transcription of CYP1A possibly through AHR and ARNT in the liver of red sea bream Pagrus major." Mar Pollut Bull 58(11): 1643-8.
- Watanabe, T., I. Imoto, Y. Kosugi, Y. Fukuda, J. Mimura, Y. Fujii, K. Isaka, M. Takayama, A. Sato and J. Inazawa (2001). "Human arylhydrocarbon receptor repressor (AHRR) gene: genomic structure and analysis of polymorphism in endometriosis." J Hum Genet 46(6): 342-6.
- Wenger, R. H. and D. Hoogewijs (2010). "Regulated oxygen sensing by protein hydroxylation in renal erythropoietin-producing cells." <u>Am J Physiol Renal</u> <u>Physiol</u> 298(6): F1287-96.
- Wong, J. M., P. A. Harper, U. A. Meyer, K. W. Bock, K. Morike, J. Lagueux, P. Ayotte, R. F. Tyndale, E. M. Sellers, D. K. Manchester and A. B. Okey (2001). "Ethnic variability in the allelic distribution of human aryl hydrocarbon receptor codon 554 and assessment of variant receptor function in vitro." Pharmacogenetics 11(1): 85-94.
- Wong, J. M., A. B. Okey and P. A. Harper (2001). "Human aryl hydrocarbon receptor polymorphisms that result in loss of CYP1A1 induction." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 288(4): 990-6.
- Yamauchi, M., E. Y. Kim, H. Iwata and S. Tanabe (2005). "Molecular characterization of the aryl hydrocarbon receptors (AHR1 and AHR2) from red seabream (Pagrus major)." <u>Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol</u> <u>Pharmacol</u> 141(2): 177-87.

- Yang, X., D. Liu, T. J. Murray, G. C. Mitchell, E. V. Hesterman, S. I. Karchner, R. R. Merson, M. E. Hahn and D. H. Sherr (2005). "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor constitutively represses c-myc transcription in human mammary tumor cells." <u>Oncogene</u> 24(53): 7869-81.
- Yasui, T., E. Y. Kim, H. Iwata, D. G. Franks, S. I. Karchner, M. E. Hahn and S. Tanabe (2007). "Functional characterization and evolutionary history of two aryl hydrocarbon receptor isoforms (AhR1 and AhR2) from avian species." Toxicol Sci 99(1): 101-17.
- Yim, S., M. Oh, S. M. Choi and H. Park (2004). "Inhibition of the MEK-1/p42 MAP kinase reduces aryl hydrocarbon receptor-DNA interactions." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322(1): 9-16.
- Yoshinari, K., R. Ueda, K. Kusano, T. Yoshimura, K. Nagata and Y. Yamazoe (2008). "Omeprazole transactivates human CYP1A1 and CYP1A2 expression through the common regulatory region containing multiple xenobiotic-responsive elements." <u>Biochem Pharmacol</u> 76(1): 139-45.
- Zhou, H., Y. Qu, H. Wu, C. Liao, J. Zheng, X. Diao and Q. Xue (2010). "Molecular phylogenies and evolutionary behavior of AhR (aryl hydrocarbon receptor) pathway genes in aquatic animals: implications for the toxicology mechanism of some persistent organic pollutants (POPs)." <u>Chemosphere</u> 78(2): 193-205.
- Zhou, H., H. Wu, C. Liao, X. Diao, J. Zhen, L. Chen and Q. Xue (2010).
  "Toxicology mechanism of the persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in fish through AhR pathway." <u>Toxicol Mech Methods</u> 20(6): 279-86.
- Zudaire, E., N. Cuesta, V. Murty, K. Woodson, L. Adarns, N. Gonzalez, A. Martinez, G. Narayan, I. Kirsch, W. Franklin, F. Hirsch, M. Birrer and F. Cuttittal (2008). "The aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor is a putative tumor suppressor gene in multiple human cancers." Journal Of Clinical Investigation 118(2): 640-650.